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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
  

Item 1. Financial Statements
 

Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

(Unaudited)
 
  Third Quarter First Nine Months
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  ($ in millions, except per share amounts)

Railway operating revenues $ 3,343  $ 2,852  $ 9,508  $ 8,290 

Railway operating expenses        
Compensation and benefits 735  609  1,968  1,844 
Purchased services and rents 484  432  1,402  1,254 
Fuel 383  208  1,092  573 
Depreciation 306  297  912  883 
Materials and other 163  170  506  418 

Total railway operating expenses 2,071  1,716  5,880  4,972 

Income from railway operations 1,272  1,136  3,628  3,318 

Other income (expense) – net (2) 14  (21) 56 
Interest expense on debt 177  164  515  481 

Income before income taxes 1,093  986  3,092  2,893 

Income taxes 135  233  612  648 

Net income $ 958  $ 753  $ 2,480  $ 2,245 

Earnings per share        
Basic $ 4.11  $ 3.07  $ 10.49  $ 9.03 
Diluted 4.10  3.06  10.45  8.99 

 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
 
  Third Quarter First Nine Months

2022 2021 2022 2021
  ($ in millions)

Net income $ 958  $ 753  $ 2,480  $ 2,245 
Other comprehensive income, before tax:    

Pension and other postretirement benefits 6  10  17  31 
Other comprehensive income of equity investees 5  —  13  — 

Other comprehensive income, before tax 11  10  30  31 
Income tax expense related to items of other

comprehensive income —  (3) (5) (8)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 11  7  25  23 

Total comprehensive income $ 969  $ 760  $ 2,505  $ 2,268 

 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)
September 30,


2022
December 31,


2021
($ in millions)

Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,214  $ 839 
Accounts receivable – net 1,151  976 
Materials and supplies 276  218 
Other current assets 74  134 

Total current assets 2,715  2,167 

Investments 3,686  3,707 
Properties less accumulated depreciation of $12,445  

and $12,031, respectively 31,838  31,653 
Other assets 1,067  966 

Total assets $ 39,306  $ 38,493 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable $ 1,486  $ 1,351 
Income and other taxes 299  305 
Other current liabilities 408  312 
Current maturities of long-term debt 605  553 

Total current liabilities 2,798  2,521 

Long-term debt 14,463  13,287 
Other liabilities 1,828  1,879 
Deferred income taxes 7,193  7,165 

Total liabilities 26,282  24,852 

Stockholders’ equity:    
Common stock $1.00 per share par value, 1,350,000,000 shares    
  authorized; outstanding 231,514,213 and 240,162,790 shares,    
  respectively, net of treasury shares 233  242 
Additional paid-in capital 2,181  2,215 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (377) (402)
Retained income 10,987  11,586 

Total stockholders’ equity 13,024  13,641 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 39,306  $ 38,493 

 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
 

  First Nine Months
  2022 2021
  ($ in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities    
Net income $ 2,480  $ 2,245 
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation 912  883 
Deferred income taxes 23  158 
Gains and losses on properties (54) (80)
Changes in assets and liabilities affecting operations:    

Accounts receivable (174) (102)
Materials and supplies (58) (14)
Other current assets 57  57 
Current liabilities other than debt 273  294 

Other – net (35) (128)

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,424  3,313 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Property additions (1,282) (1,025)
Property sales and other transactions 193  135 
Investment purchases (8) (5)
Investment sales and other transactions 37  48 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,060) (847)

Cash flows from financing activities    
Dividends (881) (764)
Common stock transactions (5) 8 
Purchase and retirement of common stock (2,284) (2,460)
Proceeds from borrowings 1,732  1,676 
Debt repayments (551) (576)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,989) (2,116)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 375  350 

Cash and cash equivalents    
At beginning of year 839  1,115 

At end of period $ 1,214  $ 1,465 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information    
Cash paid during the period for:    

Interest (net of amounts capitalized) $ 425  $ 391 
Income taxes (net of refunds) 578  468 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)

Common

Stock

Additional

Paid-in


Capital

Accum. Other

Comprehensive

Loss

Retained

Income Total

  ($ in millions, except per share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 242  $ 2,215  $ (402) $ 11,586  $ 13,641 

Comprehensive income:
Net income 703  703 
Other comprehensive income 8  8 

Total comprehensive income 711 
Dividends on common stock,

$1.24 per share (297) (297)
Share repurchases (2) (19) (579) (600)
Stock-based compensation 7  (1) 6 

Balance at March 31, 2022 240  2,203  (394) 11,412  13,461 

Comprehensive income:
Net income 819  819 
Other comprehensive income 6  6 

Total comprehensive income 825 
Dividends on common stock,

$1.24 per share (294) (294)
Share repurchases (4) (29) (821) (854)
Stock-based compensation 16  16 

Balance at June 30, 2022 236  2,190  (388) 11,116  13,154 

Comprehensive income:
Net income 958  958 
Other comprehensive income 11  11 

Total comprehensive income 969 
Dividends on common stock,

$1.24 per share (290) (290)
Share repurchases (3) (31) (796) (830)
Stock-based compensation 22  (1) 21 

Balance at September 30, 2022 $ 233  $ 2,181  $ (377) $ 10,987  $ 13,024 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)

Common

Stock

Additional

Paid-in


Capital

Accum. Other

Comprehensive

Loss

Retained

Income Total

($ in millions, except per share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 254  $ 2,248  $ (594) $ 12,883  $ 14,791 

Comprehensive income:
Net income 673  673 
Other comprehensive income 8  8 

Total comprehensive income 681 
Dividends on common stock,

$0.99 per share (249) (249)
Share repurchases (3) (19) (569) (591)
Stock-based compensation 12  (1) 11 

Balance at March 31, 2021 251  2,241  (586) 12,737  14,643 

Comprehensive income:
Net income 819  819 
Other comprehensive income 8  8 

Total comprehensive income 827 
Dividends on common stock,

$0.99 per share (247) (247)
Share repurchases (3) (28) (903) (934)
Stock-based compensation 27  1  28 

Balance at June 30, 2021 248  2,240  (578) 12,407  14,317 

Comprehensive income:
Net income 753  753 
Other comprehensive income 7  7 

Total comprehensive income 760 
Dividends on common stock,

$1.09 per share (268) (268)
Share repurchases (4) (31) (900) (935)
Stock-based compensation 15  (2) 13 

Balance at September 30, 2021 $ 244  $ 2,224  $ (571) $ 11,990  $ 13,887 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)
 
In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments (consisting of
normal recurring accruals) necessary to present fairly Norfolk Southern Corporation (Norfolk Southern) and subsidiaries’ (collectively, NS,
we, us, and our) financial position at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, our results of operations, comprehensive income and
changes in stockholders’ equity for the third quarters and first nine months of 2022 and 2021, and our cash flows for the first nine months of
2022 and 2021 in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).
 
These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included in our
latest Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1. Railway Operating Revenues

The following table disaggregates our revenues by major commodity group:
Third Quarter First Nine Months

2022 2021 2022 2021
($ in millions)

Merchandise:
Agriculture, forest and consumer products $ 642  $ 564  $ 1,839  $ 1,681 
Chemicals 570  504  1,620  1,457 
Metals and construction 442  424  1,237  1,196 
Automotive 276  218  759  664 
Merchandise 1,930  1,710  5,455  4,998 

Intermodal 942  812  2,768  2,332 
Coal 471  330  1,285  960 

Total $ 3,343  $ 2,852  $ 9,508  $ 8,290 

We recognize the amount of revenues to which we expect to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. A
performance obligation is created when a customer under a transportation contract or public tariff submits a bill of lading to us for the
transport of goods. These performance obligations are satisfied as the shipments move from origin to destination. As such, transportation
revenues are recognized proportionally as a shipment moves, and related expenses are recognized as incurred. These performance obligations
are generally short-term in nature with transit days averaging approximately one week or less for each commodity group. The customer has
an unconditional obligation to pay for the service once the service has been completed. Estimated revenues associated with in-process
shipments at period-end are recorded based on the estimated percentage of service completed. We had no material remaining performance
obligations at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

We may provide customers ancillary services, such as switching, demurrage and other incidental activities, under their transportation
contracts. These are distinct performance obligations that are recognized at a point in time when the services are performed or as contractual
obligations are met. These revenues are included within each of the commodity groups and represent a percentage of total “Railway
operating revenues” on the Consolidated Statements of Income as follows: 7% for the third quarters of 2022 and 2021, and the first nine
months of 2022, and 6% for the first nine months of 2021.
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Revenues related to interline transportation services that involve another railroad are reported on a net basis. Therefore, the portion of the
amount that relates to another party is not reflected in revenues.

Under the typical terms of our freight contracts, payment for services is due within fifteen days of billing the customer, thus there are no
significant financing components. “Accounts receivable – net” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets includes both customer and non-customer
receivables as follows:

September 30,

2022 December 31, 2021

($ in millions)

Customer $ 901  $ 741 
Non-customer 250  235 

  Accounts receivable – net $ 1,151  $ 976 

Non-customer receivables include non-revenue related amounts due from other railroads, governmental entities, and others. There were no
non-current customer receivables at September 30, 2022, while “Other assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets included $23 million at
December 31, 2021. We do not have any material contract assets or liabilities at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

2.  Stock-Based Compensation

Third Quarter First Nine Months
2022 2021 2022 2021

($ in millions)

Stock-based compensation expense $ 13  $ 14  $ 49  $ 46 
Total tax benefit 7  3  24  28 

During 2022, we granted stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs) and performance share units (PSUs) pursuant to the Long-Term
Incentive Plan (LTIP), as follows:

Third Quarter First Nine Months

Granted

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair

Value Granted

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Stock options 6,000  $ 74.95  139,810  $ 61.30 
RSUs 9,993  240.63  173,984  266.72 
PSUs 6,960  256.12  58,415  272.48 
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Stock Options
Third Quarter First Nine Months

2022 2021 2022 2021
($ in millions)

Options exercised 116,881 22,502  275,770  363,982 
Cash received upon exercise $ 9  $ 2  $ 23  $ 33 
Related tax benefits realized 5  1  11  13 

Restricted Stock Units

RSUs granted primarily have a four-year ratable restriction period and will be settled through the issuance of shares of Norfolk Southern
common stock (Common Stock). Certain RSU grants include cash dividend equivalent payments during the restriction period in an amount
equal to the regular quarterly dividends paid on Common Stock.  

Third Quarter First Nine Months
2022 2021 2022 2021

($ in millions)

RSUs vested 557  1,100  247,510  260,227 
Common Stock issued net of tax withholding 397  761  175,373  184,272 
Related tax benefits realized $ —  $ —  $ 5  $ 7 

Performance Share Units

PSUs provide for awards based on the achievement of certain predetermined corporate performance goals at the end of a three-year cycle and
are settled through the issuance of shares of Common Stock. All PSUs will earn out based on the achievement of performance conditions and
some will also earn out based on a market condition. The market condition fair value was measured on the date of grant using a Monte Carlo
simulation model. No PSUs were
earned or paid out during the third quarters of 2022 or 2021.

First Nine Months
2022 2021

($ in millions)

PSUs earned 86,420  78,727 
Common Stock issued net of tax withholding 54,651  49,967 
Related tax benefits realized $ 1  $ 1 

3. Income Taxes

On July 8, 2022, House Bill 1342 was signed into law in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, which reduced its corporate income tax rate
from 9.99% to 4.99%, through a series of phased reductions beginning each tax year from January 1, 2023 through January 1, 2031. GAAP
requires companies to recognize the effect of tax law changes in the period of enactment. As a result, in the third quarter we recognized a
$136 million benefit in “Income taxes” with a corresponding reduction in “Deferred income taxes.”
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4.  Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

  Basic Diluted
  Third Quarter
  2022 2021 2022 2021

($ in millions, except per share amounts,

shares in millions)

Net income $ 958  $ 753  $ 958  $ 753 
Dividend equivalent payments —  (1) —  — 

Income available to common stockholders $ 958  $ 752  $ 958  $ 753 

Weighted-average shares outstanding 233.2  245.3  233.2  245.3 
Dilutive effect of outstanding options and share-settled awards     0.8  1.1 
Adjusted weighted-average shares outstanding     234.0  246.4 

Earnings per share $ 4.11  $ 3.07  $ 4.10  $ 3.06 

  Basic Diluted
  First Nine Months
  2022 2021 2022 2021

($ in millions, except per share amounts,

shares in millions)

Net income $ 2,480  $ 2,245  $ 2,480  $ 2,245 
Dividend equivalent payments (1) (2) (1) — 

Income available to common stockholders $ 2,479  $ 2,243  $ 2,479  $ 2,245 

Weighted-average shares outstanding 236.4  248.5  236.4  248.5 
Dilutive effect of outstanding options and share-settled awards     0.8  1.2 
Adjusted weighted-average shares outstanding   237.2  249.7 

Earnings per share $ 10.49  $ 9.03  $ 10.45  $ 8.99 

During the third quarters and first nine months of 2022 and 2021, dividend equivalent payments were made to certain holders of stock
options and RSUs.  For purposes of computing basic earnings per share, dividend equivalent payments made to holders of stock options and
RSUs were deducted from net income to determine income available to common stockholders. For purposes of computing diluted earnings
per share, we evaluate on a grant-by-grant basis those stock options and RSUs receiving dividend equivalent payments under the two-class
and treasury stock methods to determine which method is more dilutive for each grant. For those grants for which the two-class method was
more dilutive, net income was reduced by dividend equivalent payments to determine income available to common stockholders. The
dilution calculations exclude options having exercise prices exceeding the average market price of Common Stock as follows: 0.1 million in
the third quarter and first nine months ended September 30, 2022 and none in the third quarter and first nine months ended September 30,
2021.
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5. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The changes in the cumulative balances of “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted
of the following:

Balance at 

Beginning

of Year

Net
Income

Reclassification

Adjustments

Balance at 

End of

Period
  ($ in millions)   
Nine months ended September 30, 2022          
Pensions and other postretirement liabilities $ (356) $ —  $ 14  $ (342)
Other comprehensive income (loss) of equity investees (46) 11  —    (35)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (402) $ 11  $ 14    $ (377)

Nine months ended September 30, 2021          
Pensions and other postretirement liabilities $ (526) $ —  $ 23  $ (503)
Other comprehensive loss of equity investees (68) —  —    (68)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (594) $ —  $ 23    $ (571)

6.  Stock Repurchase Program
 
We repurchased and retired 9.2 million and 9.4 million shares of Common Stock under our stock repurchase program at a cost of $2.3 billion
and $2.5 billion during the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively. On March 29, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a new
program for the repurchase of up to $10.0 billion of Common Stock beginning April 1, 2022. Our previous share repurchase program
terminated on March 31, 2022.

7.  Investments

Investment in Conrail
 
Through a limited liability company, we and CSX Corporation (CSX) jointly own Conrail Inc. (Conrail), whose primary subsidiary is
Consolidated Rail Corporation (CRC). We have a 58% economic and 50% voting interest in the jointly-owned entity, and CSX has the
remainder of the economic and voting interests. Our investment in Conrail was $1.6 billion and $1.5 billion at September 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectfully.

CRC owns and operates certain properties (the Shared Assets Areas) for the joint and exclusive benefit of Norfolk Southern Railway
Company (NSR) and CSX Transportation, Inc. (CSXT). The costs of operating the Shared Assets Areas are borne by NSR and CSXT based
on usage. In addition, NSR and CSXT pay CRC a fee for access to the Shared Assets Areas. “Purchased services and rents” and “Fuel”
include expenses payable to CRC for operation of the Shared Assets Areas totaling $42 million and $37 million for the third quarters of 2022
and 2021, respectively, and $116 million and $108 million for the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our equity in Conrail’s
earnings, net of amortization, was $15 million and $14 million for the third quarters of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $40 million and $42
million for the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively. These amounts partially offset the costs of operating the Shared Assets Areas
and are included in “Purchased services and rents.”

“Other liabilities” includes $534 million at both September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 for long-term advances from Conrail, maturing
in 2050 that bear interest at an average rate of 1.31%.
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Investment in TTX

We and eight other North American railroads collectively own TTX Company (TTX), a railcar pooling company that provides its owner-
railroads with standardized fleets of intermodal, automotive, and general use railcars at stated rates. We have a 19.65% ownership interest in
TTX.

Expenses incurred for use of TTX equipment are included in “Purchased services and rents.” These expenses amounted to $63 million and
$59 million for the third quarters of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $193 million and $183 million for the first nine months of 2022 and
2021, respectively. Our equity in TTX’s earnings partially offsets these costs and totaled $18 million and $12 million for the third quarters of
2022 and 2021, respectively, and $39 million and $43 million for the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively.

8.  Debt

In June 2022, we issued $750 million of 4.55% senior notes due 2053.

In May 2022, we renewed our accounts receivable securitization program with a maximum borrowing capacity of $400 million. The term
expires in May 2023. We had no amounts outstanding under this program and our available borrowing capacity was $400 million at both
September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

In February 2022, we issued $600 million of 3.00% senior notes due 2032 and $400 million of 3.70% senior notes due 2053.

9.  Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits
 
We have both funded and unfunded defined benefit pension plans covering eligible employees. We also provide specified health care benefits
to eligible retired employees; these plans can be amended or terminated at our option.  Under our self-insured retiree health care plan, for
those participants who are not Medicare-eligible, certain health care expenses are covered for retired employees and their dependents,
reduced by any deductibles, coinsurance, and, in some cases, coverage provided under other group insurance policies. Eligible retired
participants and their spouses who are Medicare-eligible are not covered under the self-insured retiree health care plan, but instead are
provided with an employer-funded health reimbursement account which can be used for reimbursement of health insurance premiums or
eligible out-of-pocket medical expenses.

Pension and postretirement benefit cost components for the third quarter and first nine months were as follows:

  Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
  Third Quarter
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  ($ in millions)
Service cost $ 10  $ 10  $ 1  $ 1 
Interest cost 17  14  3  1 
Expected return on plan assets (53) (48) (3) (3)
Amortization of net losses 12  16  —  — 
Amortization of prior service benefit —  —  (6) (6)

Net benefit $ (14) $ (8) $ (5) $ (7)
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  Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
  First Nine Months
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  ($ in millions)
Service cost $ 30  $ 32  $ 4  $ 4 
Interest cost 51  41  7  5 
Expected return on plan assets (160) (144) (9) (9)
Amortization of net losses 36  49  —  1 
Amortization of prior service benefit —  —  (19) (19)

Net benefit $ (43) $ (22) $ (17) $ (18)

The service cost component of defined benefit pension cost and postretirement benefit cost are reported within “Compensation and benefits”
and all other components of net benefit cost are presented in “Other income (expense) – net” on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

10.  Fair Values of Financial Instruments
 
The fair values of “Cash and cash equivalents,” “Accounts receivable – net,” and “Accounts payable,” approximate carrying values because
of the short maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying value of corporate-owned life insurance is recorded at cash surrender value
and, accordingly, approximates fair value. There are no other assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30,
2022 or December 31, 2021. The carrying amounts and estimated fair values, based on Level 1 inputs, of long-term debt consist of the
following:

  September 30, 2022 December 31, 2021
Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

  ($ in millions)

Long-term debt, including current maturities $ (15,068) $ (13,481) $ (13,840) $ (17,033)

11.  Commitments and Contingencies
 
Lawsuits
 
We and/or certain subsidiaries are defendants in numerous lawsuits and other claims relating principally to railroad operations.  When we
conclude that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated, it is accrued through
a charge to earnings and, if material, disclosed below. While the ultimate amount of liability incurred in any of these lawsuits and claims is
dependent on future developments, in our opinion, the recorded liability is adequate to cover the future payment of such liability and claims.
However, the final outcome of any of these lawsuits and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, and unfavorable or unexpected outcomes
could result in additional accruals that could be significant to results of operations in a particular year or quarter. Any adjustments to the
recorded liability will be reflected in earnings in the periods in which such adjustments become known. For lawsuits and other claims where
a loss may be reasonably possible, but not probable, or is probable but not reasonably estimable, no accrual is established but the matter, if
potentially material, is disclosed below. We routinely review relevant information with respect to our lawsuits and other claims and update
our accruals, disclosures and estimates of reasonably possible loss based on such reviews.
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In 2007, various antitrust class actions filed against us and other Class I railroads in various Federal district courts regarding fuel surcharges
were consolidated in the District of Columbia by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation. In 2012, the court certified the case as a class
action. The defendant railroads appealed this certification, and the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia vacated the District Court’s
decision and remanded the case for further consideration. On October 10, 2017, the District Court denied class certification. The decision was
upheld by the Court of Appeals on August 16, 2019. Since that decision, various individual cases have been filed in multiple jurisdictions and
also consolidated in the District of Columbia. We believe the allegations in the complaints are without merit and intend to vigorously defend
the cases. We do not believe the outcome of these proceedings will have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or
liquidity.

In 2018, a lawsuit was filed against one of our subsidiaries by the minority owner in a jointly-owned terminal railroad company in which our
subsidiary has the majority ownership. The lawsuit alleged violations of various state laws and federal antitrust laws. Summary judgment has
been briefed but not decided, and trial is likely to occur in the first quarter of 2023. We continue to vigorously defend the lawsuit and,
although it is reasonably possible we could incur a loss in the case, we believe that we will prevail. However, given that litigation is
inherently unpredictable and subject to uncertainties, there can be no assurances that the final outcome of the litigation or a litigation
settlement will not have a material adverse affect on our financial position or results of operations. We cannot reasonably estimate the
potential loss or range of loss associated with the litigation at this time.

Casualty Claims

Casualty claims include employee personal injury and occupational claims as well as third-party claims, all exclusive of legal costs.  To aid in
valuing our personal injury liability and determining the amount to accrue with respect to such claims during the year, we utilize studies
prepared by an independent actuarial consulting firm.  Job-related personal injury and occupational claims are subject to the Federal
Employer’s Liability Act (FELA), which is applicable only to railroads. The variability inherent in FELA’s fault-based tort system could
result in actual costs being different from the liability recorded.  While the ultimate amount of claims incurred is dependent on future
developments, in our opinion, the recorded liability is adequate to cover the future payments of claims and is supported by the most recent
actuarial study.  In all cases, we record a liability when the expected loss for the claim is both probable and reasonably estimable.

Employee personal injury claims – The largest component of claims expense is employee personal injury costs.  The independent actuarial
firm we engage provides quarterly studies to aid in valuing our employee personal injury liability and estimating personal injury
expense.  The actuarial firm studies our historical patterns of reserving for claims and subsequent settlements, taking into account relevant
outside influences.  The actuarial firm uses the results of these analyses to estimate the ultimate amount of liability. We adjust the liability
quarterly based upon our assessment and the results of the study. The accuracy of our estimate of the liability is subject to inherent limitation
given the difficulty of predicting future events such as jury decisions, court interpretations, or legislative changes. As a result, actual claim
settlements may vary from the estimated liability recorded.

Occupational claims – Occupational claims include injuries and illnesses alleged to be caused by exposures which occur over time as
opposed to injuries or illnesses caused by a specific accident or event. Types of occupational claims commonly seen allege exposure to
asbestos and other claimed toxic substances resulting in respiratory diseases or cancer. Many such claims are being asserted by former or
retired employees, some of whom have not been employed in the rail industry for decades.  The independent actuarial firm provides an
estimate of the occupational claims liability based upon our history of claim filings, severity, payments, and other pertinent facts.  The
liability is dependent upon judgments we make as to the specific case reserves as well as judgments of the actuarial firm in the quarterly
studies.  Our estimate of ultimate loss includes a provision for those claims that have been incurred but not reported.  This provision is
derived by analyzing industry data and projecting our experience. We adjust the liability quarterly based upon our assessment and the results
of the study.  However, it is possible that the recorded liability may not be adequate to cover the future payment of claims.  Adjustments to
the recorded liability are reflected in operating expenses in the periods in which such adjustments become known.
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Third-party claims – We record a liability for third-party claims including those for highway crossing accidents, trespasser and other
injuries, property damage, and lading damage.  The actuarial firm assists us with the calculation of potential liability for third-party claims,
except lading damage, based upon our experience including the number and timing of incidents, amount of payments, settlement rates,
number of open claims, and legal defenses. We adjust the liability quarterly based upon our assessment and the results of the study.  Given
the inherent uncertainty in regard to the ultimate outcome of third-party claims, it is possible that the actual loss may differ from the
estimated liability recorded.

Environmental Matters
 
We are subject to various jurisdictions’ environmental laws and regulations.  We record a liability where such liability or loss is probable and
reasonably estimable. Environmental specialists regularly participate in ongoing evaluations of all known sites and in determining any
necessary adjustments to liability estimates.  

Our Consolidated Balance Sheets include liabilities for environmental exposures of $57 million at September 30, 2022 and $49 million at
December 31, 2021, of which $15 million is classified as a current liability at the end of both periods. At September 30, 2022, the liability
represents our estimates of the probable cleanup, investigation, and remediation costs based on available information at 86 known locations
and projects compared with 88 locations and projects at December 31, 2021. At September 30, 2022, twenty sites accounted for $46 million
of the liability, and no individual site was considered to be material. We anticipate that most of this liability will be paid out over five years;
however, some costs will be paid out over a longer period.

At eight locations, one or more of our subsidiaries in conjunction with a number of other parties have been identified as potentially
responsible parties under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 or comparable state statutes
that impose joint and several liability for cleanup costs.  We calculate our estimated liability for these sites based on facts and legal defenses
applicable to each site and not solely on the basis of the potential for joint liability.

With respect to known environmental sites (whether identified by us or by the Environmental Protection Agency or comparable state
authorities), estimates of our ultimate potential financial exposure for a given site or in the aggregate for all such sites can change over time
because of the widely varying costs of currently available cleanup techniques, unpredictable contaminant recovery and reduction rates
associated with available cleanup technologies, the likely development of new cleanup technologies, the difficulty of determining in advance
the nature and full extent of contamination and each potential participant’s share of any estimated loss (and that participant’s ability to bear
it), and evolving statutory and regulatory standards governing liability.

The risk of incurring environmental liability for acts and omissions, past, present, and future, is inherent in the railroad business.  Some of the
commodities we transport, particularly those classified as hazardous materials, pose special risks that we work diligently to reduce.  In
addition, several of our subsidiaries own, or have owned, land used as operating property, or which is leased and operated by others, or held
for sale.  Because environmental problems that are latent or undisclosed may exist on these properties, there can be no assurance that we will
not incur environmental liabilities or costs with respect to one or more of them, the amount and materiality of which cannot be estimated
reliably at this time.  Moreover, lawsuits and claims involving these and potentially other unidentified environmental sites and matters are
likely to arise from time to time.  The resulting liabilities could have a significant effect on financial position, results of operations, or
liquidity in a particular year or quarter.
 
Based on our assessment of the facts and circumstances now known, we believe we have recorded the probable and reasonably estimable
costs for dealing with those environmental matters of which we are aware.  Further, we believe that it is unlikely that any known matters,
either individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.
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Labor Agreements

Approximately 80% of our railroad employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements with various labor unions. Pursuant to the
Railway Labor Act, these agreements remain in effect until new agreements are reached, or until the bargaining procedures mandated by the
Railway Labor Act are completed.

In September 2022, management reached tentative agreements with all relevant unions. These tentative agreements, which pertain to years
2020-2024, included retroactive pay increases and other benefits for our craft employees that are higher than our estimates previously
recorded for such items. For the third quarter of 2022, “Compensation and benefits” includes $85 million and “Purchased services and rents”
includes $3 million of additional expenses pertaining to estimated wage increases recorded in periods prior to July 1, 2022. For the first nine
months of 2022, “Compensation and benefits” includes $54 million and “Purchased services and rents” includes $2 million of additional
expenses pertaining to estimated wage increases recorded in periods prior to January 1, 2022.

Although some of these agreements have been finalized through ratification by union membership, others remain subject to ratification. In
addition, two labor unions did not initially ratify their tentative agreements (with one union putting out a second tentative agreement for a
vote and the other agreeing to maintain the status quo as negotiations continue). The outcome of the ratification process cannot be predicted
with certainty at this time; however, if one or more of the tentative agreements fails ratification and is not subsequently ratified during a final
“status quo” period where self-help (strike or lockout) is not permitted, self-help could occur in mid-November or early December (dates
vary by tentative agreement). A service disruption, depending on the duration, could have a material adverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations, or liquidity. In addition, the resulting changes in our finalized labor agreements (and our tentative agreements, if
ratified) are expected to increase our labor costs.

Insurance
 
We purchase insurance covering legal liabilities for bodily injury and property damage to third parties. This insurance provides coverage
above $75 million and below $800 million ($1.1 billion for specific perils) per occurrence and/or policy year. In addition, we purchase
insurance covering damage to property owned by us or in our care, custody, or control. This insurance covers approximately 82% of potential
losses above $75 million and below $275 million per occurrence and/or policy year.

12. New Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update 2021-10, “Government Assistance (Topic
832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government Assistance,” which requires annual disclosures when an entity has received
government assistance. Entities are required to disclose the types of government assistance received, the accounting treatment for that
government assistance, and the effect of the government assistance on the financial statements. The new standard is effective for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2021, and early adoption is permitted. We do not expect this standard to have a material effect on our
disclosures. We did not adopt the standard early.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries
 
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
 
OVERVIEW
 
We are one of the nation’s premier transportation companies, moving goods and materials that help drive the U.S. economy. We connect
customers to markets and communities to economic opportunity with safe, reliable, and cost-effective shipping solutions. Our Norfolk
Southern Railway Company subsidiary operates in 22 states and the District of Columbia. We are a major transporter of industrial products,
including agriculture, forest and consumer products, chemicals, and metals and construction materials. In addition, in the East we serve every
major container port and operate the most extensive intermodal network. We are also a principal carrier of coal, automobiles, and automotive
parts.

During the third quarter, strong revenue growth drove improved profitability despite higher inflation-related operating expenses. Higher fuel
surcharge revenues, resulting from higher fuel commodity prices, and pricing gains led to revenue per unit growth that more than offset the
impact of lower volume. The increase in fuel commodity prices also led to higher fuel expense. Additionally, tentative agreements, resulting
as part of ongoing labor union negotiations, included retroactive pay increases and other benefits for our craft employees that resulted in
increased compensation and benefits expenses. Finally, although we incurred incremental service-related costs, we continued to make
progress on efforts to increase network fluidity and improve service for our customers.

SUMMARIZED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Third Quarter First Nine Months
2022 2021 % change 2022 2021 % change

($ in millions, except per share amounts)

Income from railway operations $ 1,272  $ 1,136  12% $ 3,628  $ 3,318  9%
Net income $ 958  $ 753  27% $ 2,480  $ 2,245  10%
Diluted earnings per share $ 4.10  $ 3.06  34% $ 10.45  $ 8.99  16%
Railway operating ratio (percent) 62.0  60.2  3% 61.8  60.0  3%

Income from railway operations increased in both periods, driven by higher railway operating revenues. Revenue growth was the result of
higher fuel surcharge revenues and pricing gains, which more than offset the impact of volume declines in both the third quarter and first nine
months. The rise in revenues was partly offset by increased railway operating expenses, driven by higher fuel prices, increased labor-related
costs resulting from ongoing labor union negotiations, other inflationary pressures, and service-related costs. The first nine months also
include higher claims-related expenses and lower gains on the sale of operating properties. The increase in estimates for retroactive wage
increases anticipated under our tentative labor agreements and that pertain to prior periods lowered diluted earnings per share by $0.28 and
$0.18 in the third quarter and first nine months, respectively. Additionally, net income in both periods includes a $136 million deferred tax
benefit resulting from a corporate income tax rate change in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, which increased diluted earnings per share
by $0.58 and $0.57 in the third quarter and first nine months, respectively. Our share repurchase activity resulted in the percentage increase in
diluted earnings per share that exceeded that of net income.
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DETAILED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Railway Operating Revenues

The following tables present a comparison of revenues ($ in millions), units (in thousands), and average revenue per unit ($ per unit) by
commodity group.

Third Quarter First Nine Months
Revenues 2022 2021 % change 2022 2021 % change
Merchandise:

Agriculture, forest and consumer
products $ 642  $ 564  14% $ 1,839  $ 1,681  9%
Chemicals 570  504  13% 1,620  1,457  11%
Metals and construction 442  424  4% 1,237  1,196  3%
Automotive 276  218  27% 759  664  14%
Merchandise 1,930  1,710  13% 5,455  4,998  9%

Intermodal 942  812  16% 2,768  2,332  19%
Coal 471  330  43% 1,285  960  34%

Total $ 3,343  $ 2,852  17% $ 9,508  $ 8,290  15%

Units
Merchandise:

Agriculture, forest and consumer
products 178.0  181.3  (2%) 539.2  547.3  (1%)
Chemicals 137.9  138.3  —% 407.3  399.0  2%
Metals and construction 168.3  179.2  (6%) 480.2  510.5  (6%)
Automotive 85.4  81.5  5% 252.3  257.5  (2%)
Merchandise 569.6  580.3  (2%) 1,679.0  1,714.3  (2%)

Intermodal 972.7  1,021.0  (5%) 2,945.7  3,100.0  (5%)
Coal 183.0  160.5  14% 514.7  500.2  3%

Total 1,725.3  1,761.8  (2%) 5,139.4  5,314.5  (3%)

Revenue per Unit
Merchandise:

Agriculture, forest and consumer
products $ 3,606  $ 3,113  16% $ 3,411  $ 3,072  11%
Chemicals 4,135  3,647  13% 3,978  3,651  9%
Metals and construction 2,625  2,360  11% 2,575  2,342  10%
Automotive 3,231  2,679  21% 3,008  2,579  17%
Merchandise 3,388  2,946  15% 3,249  2,915  11%

Intermodal 968  796  22% 940  752  25%
Coal 2,575  2,057  25% 2,498  1,919  30%

Total 1,938  1,619  20% 1,850  1,560  19%
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Railway operating revenues increased $491 million in the third quarter and $1.2 billion for the first nine months compared with the same
periods last year. The table below reflects the components of the revenue change by major commodity group ($ in millions).

Third Quarter First Nine Months
Merchandise Intermodal Coal Merchandise Intermodal Coal

Increase (Decrease)

Volume $ (32) $ (38) $ 46  $ (103) $ (116) $ 28 
Fuel surcharge revenue 168  124  35  356  333  58 
Rate, mix and other 84  44  60  204  219  239 

Total $ 220  $ 130  $ 141  $ 457  $ 436  $ 325 

 
Approximately 95% of our revenue base is covered by contracts that include negotiated fuel surcharges. Revenues associated with these
surcharges totaled $501 million and $174 million in the third quarters of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $1.2 billion and $419 million for
the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase in fuel surcharge revenues is driven by higher fuel commodity prices.
Should the current fuel price environment persist for the remainder of 2022, we expect fuel surcharge revenue to continue to be higher than
2021.

Merchandise

Merchandise revenues increased in both periods due to higher average revenue per unit, driven by higher fuel surcharge revenue and
increased pricing, partially offset by lower volume. Volumes fell in both periods as declines in metals and construction and agriculture, forest,
and consumer products shipments more than offset higher automotive shipments in the third quarter and chemicals shipments in the first nine
months.

Agriculture, forest and consumer products volume decreased in both periods. During the third quarter, declines in ethanol, pulpboard,
fertilizer, and pulp, more than offset gains in corn, food oils, feed, and soybeans. During the first nine months, declines in fertilizer, corn,
pulpboard, and pulp more than offset increases in feed, soybeans, and food oils. Decreased ethanol shipments in the third quarter were due to
a decline in gasoline consumption. Pulpboard shipments declined in both periods due to decreased demand. Lower fertilizer shipments in
both periods were driven by high fertilizer prices causing customers to draw down on existing inventories or delay purchases. Pulp shipments
decreased in both periods due to equipment availability, service disruptions and over-the-road competition. Increased corn shipments in the
third quarter were due to improved cycle times on grain trains. In both periods, feed and food oils shipments increased due to increased
customer demand and soybean volumes were higher due to increased opportunity for exports.

Chemicals volume was flat in the third quarter but increased for the first nine months driven by growth in shipments of sand in both periods
due to increased demand. Both periods were impacted by reduced shipments of inorganic chemicals, plastics, and organic chemicals, due to
decreased demand. The first nine months also saw an increase in solid waste shipments due to growth with existing customers.

Metals and construction volume fell in both periods, largely the result of decreased shipments of coil steel, iron and steel, and scrap metal
driven by service disruptions and slower equipment cycle times.

Automotive volume increased in the third quarter but decreased for the first nine months. Higher shipments in the third quarter were
primarily due to increased production due to fewer parts supply issues when compared to the prior year, partially offset by slower equipment
cycle times. Volume declines for the first nine months were driven by slower equipment cycle times partially offset by fewer parts supply
issues when compared to the prior year.
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Merchandise revenues for the remainder of the year are expected to be higher due to increased average revenue per unit, driven by higher fuel
surcharge revenue and pricing gains.

Intermodal
 
Intermodal revenues increased in both periods, driven by higher average revenue per unit, a result of higher fuel surcharge revenues and
pricing gains, partially offset by lower volume. The first nine months also included higher storage services revenue.

Intermodal units (in thousands) by market were as follows:
Third Quarter First Nine Months

2022 2021 % change 2022 2021 % change

Domestic 630.6  656.6  (4%) 1,954.4  1,957.5  —%
International 342.1  364.4  (6%) 991.3  1,142.5  (13%)

Total 972.7  1,021.0  (5%) 2,945.7  3,100.0  (5%)

Domestic volume declined in both periods due to service disruptions and terminal congestion. International volume decreased in both periods
as supply chain constraints, equipment shortages, as well as excess retail inventory which more than offset strong consumer demand.

Intermodal revenues for the remainder of the year are expected to be higher due to increased average revenue per unit, driven by higher fuel
surcharge revenue and pricing gains.

Coal

Coal revenues increased in both periods due to higher average revenue per unit, driven by pricing gains and higher fuel surcharge revenue,
and higher volume.

Coal tonnage (in thousands) by market was as follows:

  Third Quarter First Nine Months
  2022 2021 % change 2022 2021 % change

Utility 9,908  8,234  20% 27,136  25,343  7%
Export 6,391  5,650  13% 19,319  18,923  2%
Domestic metallurgical 3,232  3,074  5% 8,444  8,886  (5%)
Industrial 963  940  2% 2,849  2,710  5%

Total 20,494  17,898  15% 57,748  55,862  3%

 
Coal tonnage increased in both periods primarily due to increased utility and export tonnage. Utility tonnage increased in both periods due to
stronger demand. Export tonnage increased due to increased coal supply. Domestic metallurgical coal tonnage increased for the third quarter
due to increased coal supply, partially offset by reduced coke shipments related to customer sourcing changes. For the first nine months
domestic metallurgical coal
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tonnage decreased due to reduced coke shipments related to customer sourcing changes. Industrial coal tonnage increased in both periods due
to increased demand.

Coal revenues for the remainder of the year are expected to rise due to increased average revenue per unit, driven primarily by higher fuel
surcharge revenue, and volume growth.

Railway Operating Expenses

Railway operating expenses summarized by major classifications follow ($ in millions):

Third Quarter First Nine Months
2022 2021 % change 2022 2021 % change

Compensation and benefits $ 735  $ 609  21% $ 1,968  $ 1,844  7%
Purchased services and rents 484  432  12% 1,402  1,254  12%
Fuel 383  208  84% 1,092  573  91%
Depreciation 306  297  3% 912  883  3%
Materials and other 163  170  (4%) 506  418  21%

Total $ 2,071  $ 1,716  21% $ 5,880  $ 4,972  18%

Compensation and benefits expense increased in both periods as follows:

• increased pay rates (up $130 million for the quarter and $151 million for the first nine months),
• employee activity levels (up $28 million for the quarter and $13 million for the first nine months),
• overtime (up $4 million for the quarter and $17 million for the first nine months),
• incentive and stock-based compensation (down $38 million for the quarter and $62 million for the first nine months), and
• other (up $2 million for the quarter and $5 million for the first nine months).

The increase in pay rates in 2022 includes higher estimates associated with previously recorded amounts for retroactive wage increases and
other benefits anticipated under our labor agreements. For the third quarter of 2022, compensation and benefits includes $85 million and
purchased services includes $3 million of additional expenses pertaining to estimated wage increases recorded in periods prior to July 1,
2022. For the first nine months of 2022, compensation and benefits includes $54 million and purchased services includes $2 million of
additional expenses pertaining to estimated wage increases recorded in periods prior to January 1, 2022.

Average rail headcount for the quarter was up by over 800 compared with the third quarter of 2021 due to the hiring of additional conductor
trainees.

Purchased services and rents increased in both periods as follows ($ in millions):

Third Quarter First Nine Months
  2022 2021 % change 2022 2021 % change

Purchased services $ 397  $ 355  12% $ 1,133  $ 1,025  11%
Equipment rents 87  77  13% 269  229  17%

Total $ 484  $ 432  12% $ 1,402  $ 1,254  12%
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Purchased services increased in both periods due to inflationary pressures which resulted in higher intermodal-related expenses, increased
operational and transportation expenses, as well as higher technology-related costs. Equipment rents increased in both periods as lower
network fluidity led to greater time-and-mileage expenses, increased automotive equipment expenses, and higher short-term locomotive
resource costs.

Fuel expense, which includes the cost of locomotive fuel as well as other fuel used in railway operations, increased in both periods due to
higher locomotive fuel prices (up 88% in the third quarter and 97% in the first nine months), partially offset by decreased consumption
(down 2% in the third quarter and 3% in the first nine months). Should the current fuel price environment persist for the remainder of 2022,
we expect fuel expenses to continue to be higher compared to 2021.

Materials and other expenses decreased in the third quarter but increased in the first nine months as follows ($ in millions):  

Third Quarter First Nine Months
  2022 2021 % change 2022 2021 % change

Materials $ 83  $ 71  17% $ 215  $ 193  11%
Claims 58  56  4% 171  137  25%
Other 22  43  (49%) 120  88  36%

Total $ 163  $ 170  (4%) $ 506  $ 418  21%

Materials expense increased in both periods due to increased freight car and track materials costs. Claims expense increased in both periods
as a result of higher costs associated with environmental remediation matters and personal injuries partially offset by lower derailment costs.
Other expense decreased in the third quarter due to a favorable legal settlement and increased gains on operating property sales, partially
offset by higher travel-related expenses. Other expense increased the first nine months due to lower gains on operating property sales and
higher travel-related expenses. Gains from operating property sales totaled $17 million and $5 million for the third quarters of 2022 and
2021, respectively, and $51 million and $76 million in the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Other income (expense) – net

Other income decreased $16 million in the third quarter and $77 million for the first nine months. Both periods experienced lower net returns
on corporate-owned life insurance (COLI) partially offset by a higher net pension benefit.

Income taxes
 
The effective tax rates for the third quarter and first nine months of 2022 were 12.4% and 19.8%, lower than the 23.6% and 22.4%,
respectively, for the same periods last year primarily due to a change in a state corporate income tax rate. On July 8, 2022, House Bill 1342
was signed into law in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, which reduced its corporate income tax rate from 9.99% to 4.99%, through a
series of phased reductions beginning each tax year from January 1, 2023 through January 1, 2031. GAAP requires companies to recognize
the effect of tax law changes in the period of enactment. As a result, we recognized a benefit of $136 million in the third quarter of 2022.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY
 
Cash provided by operating activities, our principal source of liquidity, was $3.4 billion for the first nine months of 2022, compared with $3.3
billion for the same period of 2021. We had negative working capital of $83 million and $354 million at September 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively. Cash and cash equivalents totaled $1.2 billion at September 30, 2022.

Cash used in investing activities was $1.1 billion for the first nine months of 2022, compared with $847 million for the same period last year.
The increase was primarily driven by higher property additions.

Cash used in financing activities was $2.0 billion for the first nine months of 2022, compared with $2.1 billion for the same period last year,
reflecting lower repurchases of Common Stock, and increased proceeds from borrowing, partially offset by higher dividends. We repurchased
$2.3 billion of Common Stock in the first nine months of 2022 compared to $2.5 billion in the same period last year.  On March 29, 2022, our
Board of Directors authorized a new program for the repurchase of up to an additional $10.0 billion of Common Stock beginning April 1,
2022. Our previous share repurchase program terminated on March 31, 2022. The timing and volume of future share repurchases will be
guided by our assessment of market conditions and other pertinent factors. Repurchases may be executed in the open market, through
derivatives, accelerated repurchase and other negotiated transactions and through plans designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1(c) and Rule
10b-18 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. Any near-term purchases under the program are expected to be made with internally-
generated cash, cash on hand, or proceeds from borrowings.

Our debt-to-total capitalization ratio was 53.6% at September 30, 2022, and 50.4% at December 31, 2021.

In June 2022, we issued $750 million of 4.55% senior notes due 2053.

In May 2022, we renewed our accounts receivable securitization program with a maximum borrowing capacity of $400 million. The term
expires in May 2023. We had no amounts outstanding under this program and our available borrowing capacity was $400 million at both
September 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021.

In February 2022, we issued $600 million of 3.00% senior notes due 2032 and $400 million of 3.70% senior notes due 2053.

We also have in place and available an $800 million credit agreement expiring in March 2025, which provides for borrowings at prevailing
rates and includes covenants. We had no amounts outstanding under this facility at September 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021.

In addition, we have investments in general purpose COLI policies and had the ability to borrow against these policies up to $605 million and
$715 million at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

We expect cash on hand combined with cash provided by operating activities will be sufficient to meet our ongoing obligations. In addition,
we believe our currently-available borrowing capacity, access to additional financing, and ability to reduce or defer expenditures on property
additions and decrease shareholder distributions, including share repurchases, provide additional flexibility to meet our ongoing obligations.
Nonetheless, we are monitoring the ongoing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, which could lead to a decline of cash inflows from
operations. There have been no material changes to the information on future contractual obligations, including those that may have material
cash requirements, contained in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, with the exception of additional senior notes (see
Note 8) and approximately $1.0 billion of additional unconditional purchase obligations, which extend through 2025.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates and assumptions may require judgment about matters that are
inherently uncertain, and future events are likely to occur that may require us to make changes to these estimates and assumptions.
Accordingly, we regularly review these estimates and assumptions based on historical experience, changes in the business environment, and
other factors we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.  There have been no significant changes to the critical accounting
estimates contained in our Form 10-K at December 31, 2021.

OTHER MATTERS
 
Labor Agreements

Approximately 80% of our railroad employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements with various labor unions. Pursuant to the
Railway Labor Act, these agreements remain in effect until new agreements are reached, or until the bargaining procedures mandated by the
Railway Labor Act are completed. Moratorium provisions in the labor agreements govern when the railroads and unions may propose
changes to the agreements. We largely bargain nationally in concert with other major railroads, represented by the National Carriers’
Conference Committee.

After management and the unions served their formal proposals in November 2019 for changes to the collective bargaining agreements,
negotiations began in 2020 following the expiration of the last moratorium. On June 17, 2022, the National Mediation Board notified the
parties that all practical methods of ending the dispute had been exhausted without effecting a settlement and that its mediation services had
been terminated. Shortly thereafter, President Biden created Presidential Emergency Board (PEB) No. 250, effective July 18, 2022, to
investigate the facts of the dispute and make recommendations. The PEB issued its recommendations on August 16, 2022, and the parties
engaged in further negotiations. By late September, management had reached tentative agreements with all relevant unions. Some of these
agreements have since been finalized through ratification by union membership, but others are still subject to ratification. In addition, two
labor unions did not initially ratify their tentative agreements (with one union putting out a second tentative agreement for a vote and the
other agreeing to maintain the status quo as negotiations continue).

The outcome of the ratification process for the outstanding tentative agreements cannot be predicted with certainty at this time; however, if
one or more of the tentative agreements fails ratification and is not subsequently ratified during a final “status quo” period where self-help
(strike or lockout) is not permitted, self-help could occur in mid-November or early December (dates vary by tentative agreement). In this
scenario, the parties could voluntarily agree to further delay self-help and continue to pursue voluntary ratification, or Congress could take
legislative action to preempt self-help and avert a service disruption. A service disruption, depending on the duration, could have a material
adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. In addition, the resulting changes in our finalized labor agreements
(and our tentative agreements, if ratified) are expected to increase labor costs.

New Accounting Pronouncements

For a detailed discussion of new accounting pronouncements, see Note 12.

Inflation

In preparing financial statements, GAAP requires the use of historical cost that disregards the effects of inflation on the replacement cost of
property.  As a capital-intensive company, we have most of our capital invested in long-
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lived assets.  The replacement cost of these assets, as well as the related depreciation expense, would be substantially greater than the
amounts reported on the basis of historical cost.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
Certain statements in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations are “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended.  These
statements relate to future events or our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors
that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance, or our achievements or those of our industry to be materially different from
those expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements.  In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology
such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “consider,”
“predict,” “potential,” “feel,” or other comparable terminology.  We have based these forward-looking statements on our current
expectations, assumptions, estimates, beliefs, and projections. While we believe these expectations, assumptions, estimates, beliefs, and
projections are reasonable, such forward-looking statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties,
many of which involve factors or circumstances that are beyond our control.  These and other important factors, including those discussed
under “Risk Factors” in our latest Form 10-K, as well as our subsequent filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, may cause
actual results, performance, or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.  The
forward-looking statements herein are made only as of the date they were first issued, and unless otherwise required by applicable securities
laws, we disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events, or otherwise.

Additional Information

Investors and others should note that we routinely use the Investor Relations, Performance Metrics, and Sustainability sections of our website
(www.norfolksouthern.com/content/nscorp/en/investor-relations.html, http://www.nscorp.com/content/nscorp/en/investor-
relations/performance-metrics.html & www.nscorp.com/content/nscorp/en/about-ns/sustainability.html) to post presentations to investors and
other important information, including information that may be deemed material to investors. Information about us, including information
that may be deemed material, may also be announced by posts on our social media channels, including Twitter (www.twitter.com/nscorp) and
LinkedIn (www.linkedin.com/company/norfolk-southern). We may also use our website and social media channels for the purpose of
complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. As a result, we encourage investors, the media, and others interested in
Norfolk Southern to review the information posted on our website and social media channels. The information posted on our website and
social media channels is not incorporated by reference in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 
The information required by this item is included in Part I, Item 2, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” under the heading “Financial Condition and Liquidity.”
 
Item 4.  Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, with the assistance of management, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(Exchange Act)) at September 30, 2022.  Based on such evaluation, our officers have concluded that, at September 30, 2022, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective in alerting them on a timely basis to material information required to be included in our periodic
filings under the Exchange Act.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
During the third quarter of 2022, we have not identified any changes in internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1.  Legal Proceedings
 
For information on our legal proceedings, see Note 11 “Commitments and Contingencies” in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
 
The risks set forth in “Risk Factors” included in our 2021 Form 10-K could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations, or liquidity in a particular year or quarter, and could cause those results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in our
forward-looking statements. Those risks remain unchanged and are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 

Period

(a) Total Number
of Shares (or Units)

Purchased

(b) Average Price
Paid per Share (or

Unit)

(c) Total Number
of Shares (or Units)
Purchased as Part

of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs 

(d) Maximum Number
(or Approximate Dollar

Value) of Shares (or
Units) that may yet be
purchased under the
Plans or Programs 

July 1-31, 2022 1,129,867    $ 231.31  1,129,867    $ 8,884,909,445   
August 1-31, 2022 1,166,795    254.47  1,166,795    8,587,999,396   
September 1-30, 2022 1,179,619    230.72  1,179,619    8,315,840,542   

Total 3,476,281      3,476,281       

 
Of this amount, no shares were tendered by employees in connection with the exercise of options under the stockholder-approved LTIP.
On March 29, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a new program for the repurchase of up to $10.0 billion of Common Stock
beginning April 1, 2022. As of September 30, 2022, $8.3 billion remains authorized for repurchase. Our previous share repurchase
program terminated on March 31, 2022.

Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None. 

Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5.  Other Information

None.

 (1) (2) (2)

(1)

(2)
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Item 6. Exhibits
 

10.1* Amendment No. 1 dated as of May 27, 2022, to the Amended and Restated Transfer and Administration Agreement, dated as
of May 28, 2021 (the Registrant will furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request a copy
of any omitted exhibit or schedule).

10.2* Amendment No. 2 dated as of June 30, 2022, to the Amended and Restated Transfer and Administration Agreement, dated as
of May 28, 2021 (the Registrant will furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request a copy
of any omitted exhibit or schedule).

31-A* Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CEO Certifications.
31-B* Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CFO Certifications.
32* Section 1350 Certifications.
101* The following financial information from Norfolk Southern Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the third

quarter of 2022, formatted in Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language (iXBRL) includes (i) the Consolidated
Statements of Income for the third quarter and first nine months of 2022 and 2021; (ii) the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income for the third quarter and first nine months of 2022 and 2021; (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets at
September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the first nine months of
2022 and 2021; (v) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the third quarter and first nine
months of 2022 and 2021; and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
*  Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION
Registrant

Date: October 26, 2022 /s/ Claiborne L. Moore
Claiborne L. Moore


Vice President and Controller

(Principal Accounting Officer) (Signature)

Date: October 26, 2022 /s/ Denise W. Hutson
Denise W. Hutson


Corporate Secretary (Signature)
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Exhibit 10.1
EXECUTION VERSION

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED TRANSFER AND ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED TRANSFER AND
ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), dated as of May 27, 2022, is by and among THOROUGHBRED
FUNDING, INC., a Virginia corporation (the “SPV”), NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY, a Virginia corporation,
as originator (in such capacity, the “Originator”) and as servicer (in such capacity, the “Servicer”), NORFOLK SOUTHERN
CORPORATION, a Virginia corporation (“NSC”), the “Committed Investors” party hereto, the “Managing Agents” party hereto,
and SMBC NIKKO SECURITIES AMERICA, INC. (“SMBC”), as the Administrative Agent for the Investors. Capitalized terms
used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning given to such terms in the Transfer and Administration
Agreement (defined below).

WHEREAS, the SPV, the Servicer, NSC, the Conduit Investors, the Committed Investors, the Managing Agents and the
Administrative Agent are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of May 28,
2021 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified as of the date hereof, the “Transfer and Administration Agreement”);

WHEREAS, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Wells Fargo”) shall cease to be a party to the Transfer and
Administration Agreement as a Committed Investor and a Managing Agent; and

WHEREAS, the SPV, the Originator, the Servicer, NSC, the Committed Investors (other than Wells Fargo) (the “Continuing
Committed Investors”), the Managing Agents (other than Wells Fargo) (the “Continuing Managing Agents”) and the Administrative
Agent have agreed to amend the Transfer and Administration Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and for
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as
follows:

Section 1. Termination. Effective as of the date first written above, (i) Wells Fargo shall relinquish its respective rights and be
released from its respective obligations as Managing Agent and Committed Investor under the Transfer and Administration
Agreement, and (ii) Wells Fargo shall cease to be party to the Transfer and Administration Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents (including, without limitation, the Fee Letter) and shall have no further rights or obligations thereunder; provided that the
provisions of Article IX and Sections 11.11 and 11.12 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement shall continue in effect for Wells
Fargo’s benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by Wells Fargo as “Committed Investor” or “Managing Agent”,
as applicable, under the Transfer and Administration Agreement and the other Transaction Documents prior to the date first written
above, and Wells Fargo’s obligations under Sections 11.11 and 11.12 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement shall continue in
effect for the benefit of the parties to the Transfer and Administration Agreement. Wells Fargo acknowledges and agrees that
notwithstanding the terms of that certain Fee Letter, dated as of May 28, 2021 (the “Existing Fee Letter”), by and among the SPV,
Wells Fargo and the other Managing Agents party thereto, the consent of Wells Fargo shall not be required in order to amend, restate,
supplement or otherwise modify, or waive any provision of or provide any consent under, the Existing Fee Letter.

Section 2. Amendment to the Transfer and Administration Agreement. Effective as of the date first written above and subject
to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 below, the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby
amended by incorporating the changes shown on the marked copy of the Transfer and Administration Agreement attached hereto as
Exhibit A (it



being understood that language which appears “struck out” has been deleted and language which appears “double-underlined” has
been added).

Section 3.    Conditions Precedent. This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof (the “Effective Date”) upon:

3.1. the receipt by each of Capital One, National Association and U.S. Bank National Association, each as a
Managing Agent, for the account of the Investors in the related Investor Group, of
$33,333.33 (representing the product of (i) 0.025% and (ii) the sum of the Commitments of the Committed Investors in the related
Investor Group as of the date hereof) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account specified by such Managing
Agent to the SPV;

3.2. the receipt by SMBC, as a Managing Agent, for the account of the Investors in the related Investor Group, of
$33,333.33 (representing the product of (i) 0.025% and (ii) the sum of the Commitments of the Committed Investors in the related
Investor Group as of the date hereof) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account specified by SMBC to the SPV;

3.3. the receipt by Wells Fargo, for its own account, of an amount equal to
$25,277.72, constituting all accrued Yield, fees and other Aggregate Unpaids owing to Wells Fargo, as Managing Agent and
Committed Investor, as of the date hereof, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account specified by Wells Fargo to
the SPV; and

3.4. the receipt by the Administrative Agent of this Amendment, duly executed by the
parties hereto.

Section 4.    Representations and Warranties.

4.1. (a)    Each of the SPV and the Originator hereby represents and warrants that:

(i) This Amendment and the Transfer and Administration Agreement, as amended hereby
constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such parties and are enforceable against such parties in accordance with their
respective terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles.

(ii) Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment and after giving effect hereto, the covenants,
representations and warranties of each such party, respectively, set forth in Articles IV and VI of the Transfer and
Administration Agreement, as applicable, and as amended hereby, are true, complete and correct, in the case of such
representations and warranties qualified by materiality, in all respects, and otherwise in all material respects on and as of the
date hereof as though made on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent that such representations and warranties relate to
an earlier date in which case such representations and warranties that expressly relate to an earlier date are true, correct and
complete, in the case of such representations and warranties qualified by materiality, in all respects, and otherwise in all
material respects, as of such earlier date).

(b) The SPV hereby represents and warrants that, upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, no event or
circumstance has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Termination Event or a Potential Termination Event.



Section 5.    Reference to and Effect on the Transfer and Administration Agreement.

5.1. Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, on and after the date hereof, each reference in the Transfer and
Administration Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein” or words of like import shall mean and be a reference
to the Transfer and Administration Agreement and its amendments, as amended hereby.

5.2. The Transfer and Administration Agreement, as amended hereby, and all other amendments, documents,
instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith, shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby
ratified and confirmed.

5.3. Except as expressly provided herein, the execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not
operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Conduit Investors, the Committed Investors, the Managing Agents or the
Administrative Agent, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Transfer and Administration Agreement, any other Transaction
Document or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith.

Section 6. CHOICE OF LAW. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAW
PRINCIPLES THEREOF OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).

Section 7. Execution of Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different
parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken
together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery by facsimile or electronic mail (in .pdf or .tif format) of an executed
signature page of this Amendment shall be effective as delivery of an executed counterpart hereof.

Section 8. Headings. Section headings in this Amendment are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not
constitute a part of this Amendment for any other purpose.

[Signature pages follow.]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Amendment as of the date first written
above.

THOROUGHBRED FUNDING, INC.,
as SPV

By: /s/ Christopher R. Neikirk    

Name: Christopher R. Neikirk
Title:    Chairman and President

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY,
as Originator and as Servicer

By: /s/ Christopher R. Neikirk     Name: Christopher R. Neikirk
Title:    Vice President and Treasurer

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION
By: /s/ Christopher R. Neikirk     Name: Christopher R. Neikirk
Title:    Vice President and Treasurer

Signature Page to Amendment No. I to Amended and
Restated Transfer and Administration Agreement



SMBC NIKKO SECURITIES AMERICA, INC.,
as Administrative Agent and a Managing Agent

By: /s/ Yukimi Konno     Name: Yukimi Konno
Title: Managing Director

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION,
as a Committed Investor

By: /s/ Minxiao Tian     Name: Minxiao Tian
Title: Director

Signature Page to Amendment No. I to Amended and
Restated Transfer and Administration Agreement






CAPITAL ONE, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Managing Agent and a Committed Investor

By: /s/ Joe A. Sacchetti                
Name: Joe A. Sacchetti
Title: Duly Authorized Signatory

Signature Page to Amendment No. I to Amended and
Restated Transfer and Administration Agreement



U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Managing Agent and a Committed Investor



By: /s/ Jeffrey K. Fricano            
Name: Jeffrey K. Fricano
Title: SVP

    





Solely with respect to Sections 1 and 3.3:

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Managing Agent and a Committed Investor

By: /s/ Darrell Cole     Name: Darrell Cole
Title: Vice President

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to
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EXECUTION VERSION CONFORMED COPY
Amendment No. 1, dated May 27, 2022

AMENDED AND RESTATED TRANSFER AND ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT

by and among

THOROUGHBRED FUNDING, INC., NORFOLK SOUTHERN

RAILWAY COMPANY,
as Originator and as Servicer,

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION,

THE CONDUIT INVESTORS FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO, THE COMMITTED

INVESTORS FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO, THE MANAGING AGENTS FROM TIME TO

TIME PARTY HERETO,

and

SMBC NIKKO SECURITIES AMERICA, INC.
as Administrative Agent
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Amended and Restated Transfer And Administration Agreement

This AMENDED AND RESTATED TRANSFER AND ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT (as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified and in effect from time to time, this “Agreement”), dated as of May 28, 2021, by and among
THOROUGHBRED FUNDING, INC., a Virginia corporation (the “SPV”), NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY, a Virginia corporation,
individually (the “Originator”) and as initial Servicer, NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION, a Virginia corporation (“NSC”), the
“Conduit Investors” from time to time party hereto, the “Committed Investors” from time to time party hereto, the “Managing
Agents” from time to time party hereto and SMBC NIKKO SECURITIES AMERICA, INC. (“SMBC”), as the Administrative Agent for the
Investors and as a Managing Agent.

Preliminary Statements

WHEREAS, the SPV and the Originator are parties to the First Tier Agreement pursuant to which the SPV purchases and
acquires Receivables, Related Security and certain other assets from the Originator;

WHEREAS, in order to fund the SPV’s purchases of Receivables, Related Security and other assets from the Originator
pursuant to the First Tier Agreement, the SPV has sold and transferred the Asset Interest to the Administrative Agent on behalf of the
Investors pursuant to that certain Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of November 8, 2007 (as amended prior to the date
hereof, the “Existing Transfer and Administration Agreement”) by and among the SPV, the Originator, the Servicer, NSC, the
Committed Investors party thereto, the Managing Agents party thereto and the Administrative Agent; and

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend and restate the Existing Transfer and Administration Agreement in its
entirety.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.1 Certain Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“AAR” means the Association of American Railroads.

“Administrative Agent” means SMBC, in its capacity as administrative agent for the Investors, and any successor thereto
appointed pursuant to Article X.

“Adverse Claim” means a lien, security interest, charge or encumbrance, or other right or claim in, of or on any Person’s
assets or properties in favor of any other Person (including any UCC financing statement or any similar instrument filed against such
Person’s assets or properties), but does not include, with reference to a Receivable, the right of another carrier to set off against the
amount of such



Receivable the amount of claims in respect of freight carriage or other service performed by such other carrier which such other
carrier may have against the Originator pursuant to the Procedures.

“Affected Assets” means, collectively, the following property, whether now existing or hereafter arising, now owned or
hereafter acquired or wherever located: (a) all Receivables, (b) all Related Security, (c) all Collections, (d) each lock box and Blocked
Account, (e) all other rights and payments with respect to the Receivables, (f) all of the SPV’s rights, title and interest in, to and under
the First Tier Agreement, (g) all other personal property of the SPV, including, without limitation, all accounts, chattel paper, goods,
investment property, letters of credit, letter-of-credit rights, instruments, general intangibles, payment intangibles, promissory notes
and investment property, and (h) all proceeds of any of the foregoing.

“Affiliate” means, as to any Person, any other Person which, directly or indirectly, owns, is in control of, is controlled by, or
is under common control with, such Person, in each case whether beneficially, or as a trustee, guardian or other fiduciary. A Person
shall be deemed to control another Person if the controlling Person possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management or policies of the other Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or membership
interests, by contract, or otherwise.

“Agent” means each of the Administrative Agent and the Managing Agents.

“Agent-Related Persons” means each Agent, together with its Affiliates, and the officers, directors, employees, agents and
attorneys-in-fact of such Persons and their respective Affiliates.

“Aggregate Unpaids” means, at any time, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the aggregate unpaid Yield accrued and to accrue
to maturity with respect to all Rate Periods at such time, (b) the Net Investment at such time and (c) all other amounts owed (whether
or not then due and payable) hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents by the SPV, the Originator and the Servicer, to
the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents, the Investors or the Indemnified Parties at such time.

“Agreement” is defined in the Preamble.

“Alternate Rate” means (i) with respect to the Investor Group for which Wells Fargo Bank, National Association is the
Managing Agent, for each day during any Rate Period for any Portion of Investment, an interest rate per annum equal to the
Benchmark for such day plus 0.65%[reserved], (ii) with respect to the Investor Group for which SMBC is the Managing Agent, for
each day during any Rate Period for any Portion of Investment, an interest rate per annum equal to the Benchmark for such day plus
0.65%, (iii) with respect to the Investor Group for which U.S. Bank National Association is the Managing Agent, for each day during
any Rate Period for any Portion of Investment, an interest rate per annum equal to the Benchmark for such Rate Period plus 0.65%,
(iv) with respect to the Investor Group for which Capital One, National Association is the Managing Agent, for each day during any
Rate Period for any Portion of Investment, an interest rate per annum equal to the Benchmark for such Rate Period plus 0.65% and (v)
with respect to any other Investor Group for any Rate Period for any Portion of Investment, an interest rate per annum equal to the
Benchmark for such Rate Period plus 2.00%.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all Laws, rules, and regulations of any jurisdiction applicable to the SPV, the Originator, the
Servicer or their respective Subsidiaries from time to time concerning or relating to bribery or corruption, including, without
limitation, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and any applicable Law or regulation implementing the OECD
Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions.



“Asset Interest” is defined in Section 2.1(b).

“Assignment and Assumption Agreement” means an Assignment and Assumption Agreement substantially in the form of
Exhibit A.

“Bankruptcy Code” means the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq.

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a fluctuating rate per annum equal to the higher of (a) the Federal Funds Rate for such day,
plus 1.50%, (b) the rate of interest in effect for such day as publicly announced from time to time by a Managing Agent as its “prime
rate” and (c) the LIBO RateBenchmark for such day, plus 1.00%. Any change in the prime rate shall be effective from and including
the effective date of such change in the prime rate as specified in the public announcement of such change.

“Benchmark” means, initially, Daily Simple SOFR; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred with respect
to Daily Simple SOFR or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the
extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Section 11.15.

“Beneficial Ownership Rule” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

“Blocked Account” means an account maintained by the Servicer or the SPV at a Blocked Account Bank for the purpose of
receiving Collections, set forth in Schedule 4.1(s) or any account added as a Blocked Account pursuant to and in accordance with
4.1(s) and which, if not maintained at and in the name of the Administrative Agent, is subject to a Blocked Account Agreement.

“Blocked Account Agreement” means an agreement among the BorrowerSPV, the Servicer (if applicable), the
Administrative Agent and a Blocked Account Bank in substantially the form of Exhibit E.

“Blocked Account Bank” means each of the banks set forth in Schedule 4.1(s), as such Schedule 4.1(s) may be modified
pursuant to Section 4.1(s).

“Business Day” means any day excluding Saturday, Sunday and any day on which banks in New York, New York or Norfolk,
Virginia are authorized or required by Law to close, and, when used with respect to the determination of any LIBO Rate or LMIR or
any notice with respect thereto, any such day which is also a day for trading by and between banks in United States dollar deposits in
the London interbank market.

“Capitalized Lease” of a Person means any lease of property by such Person as lessee which would be capitalized on a
balance sheet of such Person prepared in accordance with GAAP.

“Cause” means, with respect to the Independent Director, (i) acts or omissions by the Independent Director that constitute
willful disregard of the Independent Director’s duties under the bylaws or the articles of incorporation of the SPV, (ii) that the
Independent Director has engaged in or has been charged with, or has been convicted of, fraud or other acts constituting a crime
under any Law applicable to the Independent Director, (iii) the Independent Director has breached his or her fiduciary duties of
loyalty and care as and to the extent of such duties in accordance with the terms of the bylaws or the articles of incorporation of the
SPV, (iv) there is a material increase in the fees charged by the Independent Director or a material change to the Independent
Director’s terms of service, (v) the Independent Director is unable to perform his or her duties as Independent Director due to death,
disability or incapacity, or (vi) the Independent Director no longer meets the definition of Independent



Director; provided that the Independent Director’s unwillingness to approve a voluntary petition under Section 301 of the Bankruptcy
Code shall not constitute Cause for removal or expulsion of the Independent Director.

“Closing Date” means November 8, 2007.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations promulgated and rulings issued
thereunder.

“Collections” means, with respect to any Receivable, all cash collections and other cash proceeds of such Receivable,
including all finance charges, if any, and cash proceeds of Related Security, and all Deemed Collections in respect of such Receivable.

“Commercial Paper” means the promissory notes issued or to be issued by a Conduit Investor in the commercial paper
market.

“Commitment” means, with respect to each Committed Investor, as the context requires, (a) the commitment of such
Committed Investor to make Investments, and (b) the dollar amount as set forth on Schedule II attached hereto for each Committed
Investor (or in the case of a Committed Investor which becomes a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption
Agreement, as set forth in such Assignment and Assumption Agreement), minus the dollar amount of any Commitment or portion
thereof assigned by such Committed Investor pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption Agreement, plus the dollar amount of any
increase to such Committed Investor’s Commitment consented to by such Committed Investor prior to the time of determination;
provided, however, that in the event that the Facility Limit is reduced, the aggregate of the Commitments of all the Committed
Investors shall be reduced in a like amount and the Commitment of each Committed Investor shall be reduced in proportion to such
reduction.

“Commitment Termination Date” means May 2726, 20222023, as such date may be extended from time to time pursuant to
Section 11.2(e).

“Commitment Termination Date Extension Request” is defined in Section 11.2(e).

“Committed Investor” means each of the financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereto as a “Committed Investor”
and each other Person that becomes party to this Agreement as a “Committed Investor”.

“Committed Investor Percentage” means, at any time, with respect to a Committed Investor, a fraction (expressed as a
percentage), the numerator of which is the Commitment of such Committed Investor at such time, and the denominator of which is
the sum of the Commitments of all of the Committed Investors in the related Investor Group at such time.

“Concentration Limit” means, for any Obligor of any Receivable, at any time, (i) if such Obligor has a short-term debt rating
from at least one of Moody’s or S&P at such time, the applicable percentage set forth below corresponding to such rating (or, if such
Obligor has a short-term debt rating from both of Moody’s and S&P at such time, corresponding to the lower of such ratings); (ii) if
such Obligor does not have a short-term debt rating from either Moody’s or S&P at such time but has a long-term debt rating from at
least one of Moody’s or S&P at such time, the applicable percentage set forth below corresponding to such rating (or, if such Obligor
has a long-term debt rating from both of Moody’s and S&P at such time, corresponding to the lower of such ratings); and (iii)
otherwise, 4.00%;



Short-Term Rating Long-Term Rating
S&P Rating Moody’s Rating S&P Rating Moody’s Rating Limit

A-1 P-1 A+ A1 16.00%
A-2 P-2 BBB+ Baa1 16.00%
A-3 P-3 BBB- Baa3 8.00%

Below A-3 Below P-3 Below BBB- Below Baa3 4.00%

provided, that the percentages set forth above with respect to an Obligor may be increased as consented to by all of the
Managing Agents in writing from time to time.

“Conduit Assignee” means any commercial paper conduit administered by a Managing Agent or any of its Affiliates and
designated by such Managing Agent from time to time to accept an assignment from such Investor Group’s Conduit Investor of all or
a portion of its pro rata share of the Net Investment.

“Conduit Investor” means each Person identified as a “Conduit Investor” on the signature pages hereto and each other Person
that becomes party to this Agreement as a “Conduit Investor”.

“Conforming Changes” means, with respect to either the use or administration of Daily Simple SOFR or the use,
administration, adoption or implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes
(including changes to the definition of “Base Rate,” the definition of “Business Day,” the definition of “Rate Period,” the definition of
“U.S. Government Securities Business Day,” timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, timing of
investment requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the applicability of Section 11.15, the applicability and length
of lookback periods, and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be
appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such rate and to permit the use and administration thereof by the
Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that adoption
of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market
practice for the administration of such rate exists, in such other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent decides is
reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents).

“Continuing Director” is defined in Section 8.1(l)(iii).

“Contract” means, with respect to any Receivable, any and all contracts, instruments, agreements, leases, invoices, notes,
other writings or any other agreement or tariff (whether or not at the time evidenced by a written agreement or invoice) pursuant to
which such Receivable arises or which evidence such Receivable or under which an Obligor becomes or is obligated to make
payment in respect of such Receivable.

“CP Rate” means, for any Conduit Investor for any Rate Period for any Portion of Investment, the rate equivalent to the rate
(or if more than one rate, the weighted average of the rates) of interest or discount accruing on all Commercial Paper issued by such
Conduit Investor during such Rate Period plus if not included in the calculation of the foregoing rate or discount, any and all
applicable issuing and



paying agent fees and commissions of placement agents and commercial paper dealers in respect of such Commercial Paper and other
costs associated with funding small or odd-lot amounts; provided, however, that if the rate (or rates) as agreed between any such
agent or dealer and such Conduit Investor is a discount rate (or rates), the “CP Rate” for such Conduit Investor for such Rate Period
shall be the rate (or if more than one rate, the weighted average of the rates) resulting from the related Managing Agent’s converting
such discount rate (or rates) to an interest-bearing equivalent rate per annum. On the fifth Business Day of each calendar month, the
Managing Agent for each Conduit Investor shall calculate the CP Rate for the most recently ended Rate Period and shall notify the
SPV and the Servicer of such CP Rate.

“CP Tranche Period” means, with respect to any Portion of Investment funded by the issuance of Commercial Paper, (i)
initially the period commencing on (and including) the date of the funding of such Portion of Investment and ending on (and
including) the last day of the current calendar month, and (ii) thereafter, each period commencing on (and including) the first day
after the last day of the immediately preceding CP Tranche Period and ending on (and including) the last day of the current calendar
month.

“Credit and Collection Policy” means the Originator’s credit and collection policy or policies and practices relating to
Contracts and Receivables as in effect on the Restatement Date and set forth in Exhibit C, as modified, from time to time, in
compliance with Sections 6.1(a)(vii) and 6.2(c).

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day (a “SOFR Rate Day”), a rate per annum equal to the greater of (a) the sum of (i)
SOFR for the day (such day “SOFR Determination Date”) that is five (5)
U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (A) if such SOFR Rate Day is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, such
SOFR Rate Day or (B) if such SOFR Rate Day is not a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the U.S. Government Securities
Business Day immediately preceding such SOFR Rate Day, in each case, as such SOFR is published by the SOFR Administrator on
the SOFR Administrator’s Website plus (ii) the SOFR Adjustment, and (b) the Floor. If by 5:00 pm (New York City time) on the
second (2nd) U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following any SOFR Determination Date, SOFR in respect of
such SOFR Determination Date has not been published on the SOFR Administrator’s Website and a Benchmark Replacement Date
with respect to the Daily Simple SOFR has not occurred, then the SOFR for such SOFR Determination Date will be SOFR as
published in respect of the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such SOFR was published on the
SOFR Administrator’s Website; provided that any SOFR determined pursuant to this sentence shall be utilized for purposes of
calculation of Daily Simple SOFR for no more than three (3) consecutive SOFR Rate Days. Any change in Daily Simple SOFR due
to a change in SOFR shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in SOFR without notice to the SPV.

“Days Sales Outstanding” means, for any calendar month, the quotient of (a) the sum of all Unpaid Balances of the
Receivables in the following accounts as of the last day of such calendar month: Account No. 706-111, Account No. 705-Total and
Account No. 709-001, divided by, (b) the quotient of
(i) the aggregate amount of sales by the Originator giving rise to Receivables during the three (3) preceding calendar months and
such calendar month divided by (ii) 120.

“Debt Rating” means, with respect to any Obligor at any time, the senior unsecured debt rating assigned by S&P or Moody’s
for such Obligor, in each case without giving effect to any third party credit enhancement.

“Deemed Collections” means any Collections on any Receivable deemed to have been received pursuant to Section 2.6.



“Defaulted Receivable” means a Receivable (a) as to which any payment, or part thereof, remains unpaid for 90 days or more
from its original Invoice Date; (b) as to which an Event of Bankruptcy has occurred and is continuing with respect to the Obligor
thereof; (c) which has been written off or identified by the SPV, the Originator or the Servicer as uncollectible; or (d) which,
consistent with the Credit and Collection Policy, would be written off as uncollectible.

“Default Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the ratio (expressed as a percentage), computed as of the last day of such
calendar month by dividing (a) (i) the sum of (x) the aggregate initial Unpaid Balance of all Receivables as to which, as of such day,
any payment, or any part thereof, remained unpaid 121 days or more, but not more than 150 days, from the original Invoice Date
thereof, and (y) the aggregate initial Unpaid Balance of all Receivables as to which, as of such day, any payment, or any part thereof,
remained unpaid for not more than 120 days from the original Invoice Date thereof and which have been written off, minus (ii) all
Unpaid Balances of the Receivables in Account No. 706-509 and the Suspense Accounts as to which, as of such day, any payment, or
any part thereof, remained unpaid 121 days or more, but not more than 150 days, from the original Invoice Date thereof, by (b) the
aggregate amount of sales by the Originator giving rise to Receivables which arose during the calendar month ending four (4)
calendar months prior to such calendar month.

“Delinquency Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the ratio (expressed as a percentage), computed as of the last day of
such calendar month by dividing (a) the sum of (i) the aggregate initial Unpaid Balance of all Receivables (other than Drummond
Receivables) as to which, as of such day, any payment, or any part thereof, remained unpaid 60 days or more from the original
Invoice Date thereof, and (ii) all Unpaid Balances of the Receivables (other than Drummond Receivables) in Account No. 706-509 as
of such day, and (iii) the aggregate initial Unpaid Balance of all Receivables (other than Drummond Receivables) that, as of such day,
have been written off or identified by the SPV, the Originator or the Servicer as uncollectible, by (b) all Unpaid Balances of the
Receivables (other than Drummond Receivables) in Account Nos. 706-509, 706-111 and 705-Total as of such day.

“Dilution” means, on any day, an amount equal to the sum, without duplication, of the aggregate reduction effected on such
day in the Unpaid Balances of the Receivables attributable to any non-cash items including credits, rebates, billing errors, sales or
similar taxes, cash discounts, volume discounts, allowances, disputes (it being understood that a Receivable is “subject to dispute”
only if and to the extent that, in the reasonable good faith judgment of the Originator (which shall be exercised in the ordinary course
of business), the Obligor’s obligation in respect of such Receivable is reduced on account of any performance failure on the part of
the Originator), set-offs, counterclaims, chargebacks, returned or repossessed goods, sales and marketing discounts, warranties, any
unapplied credit memos and other adjustments that are made in respect of Obligors; provided, that writeoffs related to an Obligor’s
bad credit shall not constitute Dilution.

“Dilution Horizon Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the ratio (expressed as a percentage), computed as of the last day of
such calendar month by dividing (a) the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of sales by the Originator giving rise to Receivables during
such calendar month and the preceding calendar month and (ii) all Unpaid Balances of the Receivables in Account No. 709-001 as of
such day, by (b) the Net Pool Balance as of such day.

“Dilution Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the ratio (expressed as a percentage), computed as of the last day of such
calendar month by dividing (a) the aggregate Dilution incurred during such calendar month, by (b) the aggregate amount of sales by
the Originator giving rise to Receivables in the calendar month ending one (1) calendar month prior to such calendar month.



“Dilution Reserve Floor” means, for any calendar month, the product (expressed as a percentage), computed as of the last
day of such calendar month by multiplying (a) the average Dilution Ratio for the twelve (12) most recent calendar months, by (b) the
Dilution Horizon Ratio for such calendar month.

“Dilution Reserve Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the ratio (expressed as a percentage), computed as of the last day of
such calendar month by multiplying (a) the sum of (i) 2.00 multiplied by the average Dilution Ratio for the twelve (12) most recent
calendar months, plus (ii) the Dilution Volatility Ratio for such calendar month, by (b) the Dilution Horizon Ratio for such calendar
month.

“Dilution Spike” means, for any calendar month, the highest two (2) month average Dilution Ratio during the twelve (12)
most recent calendar months.

“Dilution Volatility Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the product of (a) the difference between (i) the Dilution Spike
and (ii) the arithmetic average of the Dilution Ratios for the twelve (12) most recent calendar months multiplied by (b) the quotient of
(i) the Dilution Spike and (ii) the arithmetic average of the Dilution Ratios for twelve (12) most recent calendar months.

“Dollar” or “$” means the lawful currency of the United States. “Downgrade Collateral Account” is

defined in Section 3.2(a). “Downgrade Draw” is defined in Section 3.2(a).

“Drummond Receivable” means any Receivable the Obligor of which is Drummond Company, Inc. or an Affiliate thereof.

“Eligible Investments” means highly rated short-term debt or the other highly rated liquid investments in which a Conduit
Investor is permitted to invest cash pursuant to its commercial paper program documents.

“Eligible Receivable” means, at any time, any Receivable:

(a) which was originated by the Originator in the ordinary course of its business;

(b) which, according to the Contract related thereto, is required to be paid in full within 60 days of its original
Invoice Date;

(c) which (i) satisfies all applicable requirements of the Credit and Collection Policy and (ii) at the time of the
purchase by the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Investors thereof hereunder, satisfies such other criteria and
requirements as the Administrative Agent may from time to time specify to the SPV following five (5) days’ notice;

(d) which has been sold to the SPV pursuant to (and in accordance with) the First Tier Agreement, which does not
arise from the sale of any inventory subject to any Adverse Claim and to which the SPV has good and marketable title, free
and clear of all Adverse Claims;

(e) which is not a Drummond Receivable or a Receivable or of any class of Receivables as to which the
Administrative Agent has not notified the SPV that either such Receivable or such class of Receivables is not acceptable for
purchase hereunder;



(f) the Obligor of which is not an Affiliate or employee of any of the parties hereto;

(g) the Obligor of which has been directed to make all payments in respect of such Receivable to a Blocked
Account;

(h) which under the related Contract and applicable Law is assignable without the consent of, or notice to, the
Obligor thereunder unless such consent has been obtained and is in effect or such notice has been given;

(i) which, together with the related Contract, is in full force and effect and constitutes the legal, valid and binding
obligation of the related Obligor enforceable against such Obligor in accordance with its terms and is not subject to any
litigation, dispute, offset (other than on account of Interline Payables), counterclaim or other defense; provided, however, that
if such litigation, dispute, offset (other than on account of Interline Payables), counterclaim or other defense affects only a
portion of the Unpaid Balance of such Receivable, then such Receivable may be deemed to be an Eligible Receivable
pursuant to this clause (i) to the extent of the portion of such Unpaid Balance which is not so affected;

(j) which is denominated and payable only in Dollars in the United States;

(k) which is not a Defaulted Receivable;

(l) which has not been compromised, adjusted or modified (including by the extension of time for payment or the
granting of any discounts, allowances or credits) in any way not provided for in the Transaction Documents or the Credit and
Collection Policy; provided, however, that only the portion of the Unpaid Balance of such Receivable that is not the subject of
such compromise, adjustment or modification may be eligible pursuant to this clause (l);

(m) which is an “account” or a “general intangible” and is not evidenced by an instrument within the meaning of
Article 9 of the UCC of all applicable jurisdictions;

(n) which is an “eligible asset” as defined in Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940;

(o) which, together with the Contract related thereto, does not contravene in any material respect any Laws
applicable thereto (including Laws relating to truth in lending, fair credit billing, fair credit reporting, equal credit
opportunity, fair debt collection practices and privacy) and with respect to which no part of the Contract related thereto is in
violation of any such Law in any material respect;

(p) the assignment of which under the First Tier Agreement by the Originator to the SPV and hereunder by the
SPV to the Administrative Agent does not violate, conflict or contravene any applicable Law or any contractual or other
restriction, limitation or encumbrance;

(q) which (together with the Related Security related thereto) has been the subject of either a valid transfer and
assignment from, or the grant of a first priority perfected security interest therein by, the SPV to the Administrative Agent, on
behalf of the Investors, of all of the SPV’s right, title and interest therein, effective until the Final Payout Date (unless
repurchased by the SPV at an earlier date pursuant to this Agreement);



(r) which is not owed by an Obligor whose Defaulted Receivables exceed 35% of the aggregate Unpaid Balances
of all such Obligor’s Receivables;

(s) which is not an installment receivable;

(t) which shall not constitute Unapplied Cash;

(u) the Obligor of which, (x) if a natural Person, is a resident of the United States, or, if a corporation or other
business organization, is organized under the Laws of the United States or any state or other political subdivision thereof or
(y) the Obligor of which is a government of any state (or any governmental subdivision or agency thereof) of the United
States or the government of the United States;

(v) which is not a Receivable identified in Account No. 759-031, provided that Receivables not exceeding a
balance of $90,000,000 in Account No. 759-031 may be Eligible Receivables pursuant to this clause (v);

(w) which is not an unearned or disputed Receivable, to include but not be limited to those Receivables identified
in the following Account Nos.: 759-011, 706-509, 709-008, 763-220, 763-001, 709-113, 709-004; and

(x) which is not a Receivable identified in a Suspense Account.

“ERISA” means the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and any regulations promulgated and rulings
issued thereunder.

“ERISA Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, trust, sole proprietorship or trade or
business which, together with such Person, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, with respect to
any liability for contributions under Section 302(c) of ERISA, Section 414(m) or Section 414(o) of the Code.

“Event of Bankruptcy” means, with respect to any Person, (a) that such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person (i) shall
generally not pay its debts as such debts become due or (ii) shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally or (iii) shall
make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors;
(b) any proceeding shall be instituted by or against such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person seeking to adjudicate it as bankrupt
or insolvent, or seeking liquidation, winding up, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, protection, relief or composition of it or its
debts under any Law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors, or seeking the entry of an order for
relief or the appointment of a receiver, trustee or other similar official for it or any substantial part of its property; or
(c) such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person shall take any corporate, partnership or other similar appropriate action to authorize
any of the actions set forth in the preceding clauses (a) or (b).

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any regulations promulgated and rulings
issued thereunder.

“Excluded Receivable” means any amount payable for (i) “demurrage”, which is a charge for the time a railroad owned or
leased freight car is held by shippers or receivers, (ii) “detention”, which is another form of demurrage that is applied against
intermodal equipment or (iii) “storage”, which is a charge assessed on idle equipment (“equipment” for purposes of this clause (iii)
meaning, private cars, railroad owned cars that contain hazardous materials and intermodal containers and trailers), when any free
time allowed on such equipment expires while such equipment is on the Originator’s property or



sidings; provided, however, that upon at least 30 days’ prior written notice by the Servicer to the Agents and the written consent of
the Agents, such receivables shall cease being Excluded Receivables.

“Excluded Taxes” is defined in Section 9.3.

“Existing Transfer and Administration Agreement” is defined in the Recitals.

“Facility Limit” means, at any time, the lesser of (i) $400,000,000 and (ii) the aggregate Commitments then in effect.

“FATCA” means Section 1471 through 1474 of the Code (or any amended or successor version that is substantively
comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof and
any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code.

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the greater of (a) the rate calculated by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York
based on such day’s Federal funds transactions by depositary institutions (as determined in such manner as the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York shall set forth on its public website from time to time) and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York as the Federal funds effective rate and (b) 0%.

“Fee Letter” means the confidential letter agreement dated the date hereof among the SPV and the Managing Agents.

“Final Payout Date” means the date, after the Termination Date, on which the Net Investment has been reduced to zero, all
accrued Servicing Fees have been paid in full and all other Aggregate Unpaids have been paid in full in cash.

“First Tier Agreement” means the Sale Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2007, between the Originator and the SPV.

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc., or any successor that is a nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

“Floor” means a percentage equal to 0.0% per annum.

“Foreign Obligor” means an Obligor who, (i) if a natural person, is not a resident of the United States or (ii) if a corporation
or other business organization, is neither organized under the Laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof nor has its
chief executive office in the United States.

“GAAP” means, at any time, generally accepted accounting principles in effect as of such time in the United States of
America.

“Governmental Authority” means any nation or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, and any court,
agency, department, authority or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or
pertaining to government. The AAR shall be deemed to be a Governmental Authority for the purposes hereof.

“Gross-up Factor” means, for any Business Day, the quotient of (a) the sum of all Unpaid Balances of the Receivables as of
the end of such day in Account Nos. 706-111 and 709-001, divided by
(b) all Unpaid Balances of the Receivables as of the end of such day in Account No. 706-111.



“Guaranteed Receivable” means any Receivable as to which the Originator or NSC has obtained a guarantee that cannot be
enforced by anyone other than the Originator, NSC or any Affiliate of the Originator or NSC.

“Guaranty” means, with respect to any Person, any agreement by which such Person assumes, guarantees, endorses,
contingently agrees to purchase or provide funds for the payment of, or otherwise becomes liable upon, the obligation of any other
Person, or agrees to maintain the net worth or working capital or other financial condition of any other Person or otherwise assures
any other creditor of such other Person against loss, including any comfort letter, operating agreement or take-or-pay contract and
shall include the contingent liability of such Person in connection with any application for a letter of credit.

“Indebtedness” means, without duplication, with respect to any Person, such Person’s (a) obligations for borrowed money,
(b) obligations representing the deferred purchase price of property other than accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of such
Person’s business on terms customary in the trade, (c) obligations, whether or not assumed, secured by liens or payable out of the
proceeds or products of property now or hereafter owned or acquired by such Person, (d) obligations which are evidenced by notes,
acceptances (including bankers acceptances), or other instruments, (e) Capitalized Lease obligations, (f) obligations for which such
Person is obligated pursuant to a Guaranty, (g) reimbursement obligations with respect to any letters of credit and (h) any other
liabilities which would be treated as indebtedness in accordance with GAAP.

“Indemnified Amounts” is defined in Section 9.1. “Indemnified Parties” is

defined in Section 9.1.

“Independent Director” means a member of the board of directors of the SPV who (i) shall not have been at the time of such
Person’s appointment or at any time during the preceding five (5) years, and shall not be as long as such Person is a director of the
SPV, (A) a director, officer, employee, partner, shareholder, member, manager or Affiliate of any of the following Persons
(collectively, the “Independent Parties”): NSC, the Originator, Servicer, or any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates, (B) a
supplier to any of the Independent Parties, (C) a Person controlling or under common control with any partner, shareholder, member,
manager, Affiliate or supplier of any of the Independent Parties, or (D) a member of the immediate family of any director, officer,
employee, partner, shareholder, member, manager, Affiliate or supplier of any of the Independent Parties; (ii) has prior experience as
an independent director for a corporation or limited liability company whose charter documents required the unanimous consent of all
independent directors thereof before such corporation or limited liability company could consent to the institution of bankruptcy or
insolvency proceedings against it or could file a petition seeking relief under any applicable federal or state Law relating to
bankruptcy and (iii) has at least three (3) years of employment experience with one or more entities that provide, in the ordinary
course of their respective businesses, advisory, management or placement services to issuers of securitization or structured finance
instruments, agreements or securities.

“Intercompany Debt Reserve” means at any time, an amount equal to the greater of (a) the highest Unpaid Balance of
Receivables of any Obligor having long-term ratings from S&P, Moody’s or Fitch of less than BBB- or Baa3, as applicable, and (b)
the product of (i) the Loss Reserve Ratio at such time (calculated for this purpose by using a stress factor of 1.50 rather than 2.00)
and (ii) the Unpaid Balance of all Receivables.



“Intercompany Line of Credit” means the Intercompany Line of Credit, dated as of November 8, 2007, between NSC and
SPV.

“Interline Payable” means any amount payable to another carrier by the Originator in respect of Other Carrier’s Divisions, as
such amount payable would be set forth in the accounts of the SPV or the Originator specified on Schedule I under the heading
“Interline Payable.”

“Interline Receivable” means a Receivable the Obligor of which shall be another carrier as trustee for the Originator (and the
Originator’s successors and assigns) and which arises out of service provided to a shipper or consignee or agent thereof (it being
acknowledged by the SPV that the SPV and the Originator treat all such carrier Obligors of Receivables as acting as trustee for the
Originator (and the Originator’s successors and assigns) for the Unpaid Balance of such Receivable), as such Receivable would be set
forth in the accounts of the SPV or the Originator specified on Schedule I under the heading “Interline Receivable.”

“Investment” is defined in Section 2.2(a). “Investment Date” is defined in

Section 2.3(a).

“Investment Request” means each request substantially in the form of Exhibit D.

“Investor Group” means a group consisting of a Managing Agent and its related Conduit Investors and Committed Investors.
The initial Investor Groups are set forth on Schedule II hereto.

“Investor Group Net Investment” means at any time with respect to an Investor Group, the portion of the Net Investment
funded or maintained by the Investors in such Investor Group.

“Investor Group Percentage” means, for any Investor Group, the percentage equivalent (carried out to five decimal places) of
a fraction the numerator of which is the aggregate amount of the Commitments of all Committed Investors in that Investor Group and
the denominator of which is the sum of such numerators for each of the Investor Groups.

“Investor(s)” means the Conduit Investors and/or the Committed Investors, as the context may
require.

“Invoice Date” means (i) with respect to any Interline Receivable, the original waybill date for such Receivable and (ii) with
respect to any other Receivable, the original customer billing date for such Receivable.

“Law” means any law (including common law), constitution, statute, treaty, regulation, rule, ordinance, order, injunction,
writ, decree, judgment or award of any Official Body.

“LIBO Rate” means (a) the London interbank offered rate as administered by ICE Benchmark Administration (or any other Person that takes
over the administration of such rate) for Dollars for a period equal in length to the relevant Rate Period as published by Thomson Reuters (or
by any successor to or substitute or replacement for such service, providing rate quotations comparable to those currently provided by
Thomson Reuters, as determined by the Administrative Agent from time to time, for purposes of providing quotations of interest rates
applicable to Dollar deposits in the London interbank market) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two (2) Business Days prior to the
commencement of the relevant Rate Period, as the rate for dollar deposits with a maturity comparable to such Rate Period; provided, that, in
the event that such rate is not available at such time for any reason, then the rate for the relevant Rate Period shall be the rate at which dollar
deposits of $5,000,000 and for a maturity



comparable to such Rate Period are offered by the principal London office of the Administrative Agent in immediately available funds in the
London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two (2) Business Days prior to the commencement of such Rate Period,
divided by (b) one (1) minus the maximum aggregate reserve requirement (including all basic, supplemental, marginal or other reserves)
which is imposed against the Administrative Agent in respect of Eurocurrency liabilities, as defined in Regulation D of the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System as in effect from time to time (expressed as a decimal) applicable to such Rate Period; provided,
further that in the event that the rate as published shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this
Agreement.

“Liquidity Agreement” means an agreement among a Conduit Investor and one or more Liquidity Providers evidencing the
obligation of such Liquidity Providers to provide liquidity or program support or asset purchase facilities in connection with the
issuance by such Conduit Investor of Commercial Paper.

“Liquidity Provider” means each Person who provides liquidity or program support to a Conduit Investor in connection with
the issuance by such Conduit Investor of Commercial Paper.

“LMIR” means, for any day during a Rate Period, the one-month Eurodollar rate for U.S. dollar deposits as reported on the Reuters Screen
LIBOR01 Page or any other page that may replace such page from time to time for the purpose of displaying offered rates of leading banks
for London interbank deposits in United States dollars, as of approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on such day, or if such day is not a
Business Day, then approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the immediately preceding Business Day (or if not so reported, then as
determined by the related Managing Agent from another recognized source for interbank quotation), in each case, changing when and as such
rate changes; provided, that, in the event that the rate appearing on such page or as so determined by such Managing Agent shall be less than
zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement.

“Long Term Debt Rating” means, with respect to any Obligor at any time, the senior unsecured long term debt rating assigned
by S&P or Moody’s for such Obligor, in each case without giving effect to any third party credit enhancement.

“Loss Horizon Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the ratio (expressed as a percentage), computed as of the last day of
such calendar month by dividing (a) the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of sales by the Originator giving rise to Receivables which
arose during the immediately preceding two (2) calendar months and such calendar month and (ii) all Unpaid Balances of the
Receivables in Account No. 709-001 as of such day, by (b) the Net Pool Balance as of such day.

“Loss Reserve Floor” means 16.00%.

“Loss Reserve Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the ratio (expressed as a percentage), computed as of the last day of
such calendar month by multiplying (a) 2.00, by (b) the Peak Default Ratio for such calendar month, by (c) the Loss Horizon Ratio
for such calendar month.

“Majority Investors” means, at any time, the Administrative Agent, each of the Managing Agents and those Committed
Investors which hold Commitments aggregating in excess of 50% of the Maximum Net Investment as of such date (or, if the
Commitments shall have been terminated, the Administrative Agent, each of the Managing Agents and one or more Investors whose
aggregate pro rata shares of the Net Investment exceed 66.67% of the Net Investment as of such date).



“Managing Agent” means each Person identified on the signature pages hereto as a “Managing Agent”, and each other
Person that becomes a party to this Agreement as a “Managing Agent”.

“Material Adverse Effect” means any event or condition which would have a material adverse effect on (a) the collectibility
of the Receivables, (b) the condition (financial or otherwise), businesses or properties of the SPV, the Servicer, NSC or the
Originator, (c) the ability of the SPV, the Servicer, NSC or the Originator to perform its respective obligations under the Transaction
Documents to which it is a party, or (d) the interests of the Administrative Agent or the Investors under the Transaction Documents.

“Maximum Net Investment” means, at any time, an amount equal to the sum of the Commitments at such time. The
Maximum Net Investment on the Restatement Date is $400,000,000.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., or any successor that is a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.

“Multiemployer Plan” is defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.

“Net Investment” at any time means (a) the sum of the cash amounts paid to the SPV pursuant to Sections 2.2 and 2.3 minus
(b) the aggregate amount of Collections theretofore received and applied by the Managing Agents to reduce such Net Investment
pursuant to Section 2.13; provided that the Net Investment shall be restored and reinstated in the amount of any Collections so
received and applied if at any time the distribution of such Collections is rescinded or must otherwise be returned for any reason.

“Net Pool Balance” means, at any time, (a) the aggregate Unpaid Balances of all Eligible Receivables at such time, minus (b)
the aggregate, for all Obligors, of the amount by which the Unpaid Balances of such Eligible Receivables (other than Defaulted
Receivables) of each Obligor multiplied by the Gross-up Factor exceeds the product of (i) the Concentration Limit for such Obligor,
multiplied by
(ii) the Unpaid Balances of all Eligible Receivables at such time, minus (c) the amount by which the Unpaid Balance of all
Receivables owing from Obligors which are Foreign Obligors exceeds 2.00% of all Eligible Receivables at such time, minus (d) the
amount by which the Unpaid Balance of all Receivables owing from Obligors which are the government of any state of the United
States or the government of the United States exceeds 2.00% of all Eligible Receivables at such time.

“NSC” is defined in the Preamble.

“Obligor” means, as to any Receivable, (a) if the Originator has invoiced or is or will be invoicing the shipper or consignee
or agent thereof in respect of the underlying carriage or other service performed, such shipper or consignee or agent thereof and (b) if
another carrier has invoiced or is or will be invoicing the shipper or consignee or agent thereof in respect of the underlying carriage
or other service performed, such other carrier as trustee for the Originator (and the Originator’s successors and assigns).

“OCD Collections” is defined in Section 2.11.

“Official Body” means any government or political subdivision or any agency, authority, bureau, central bank, commission,
department or instrumentality of any such government or political subdivision, or any court, tribunal, grand jury or arbitrator, in each
case whether foreign or domestic.

“Originator” is defined in the Preamble.

“Other Carrier’s Division” means as to each interline carriage of freight for a shipper or consignee or agent therefor by the
Originator and one or more other carriers or other service performed



for a shipper or consignee or agent therefor by the Originator and/or one or more other carriers in relation to such interline carriage of
freight (including refrigeration, loading, unloading, diversion, transit, switching and weighing charges) that part or division of any
gross amount payable by such shipper or consignee or agent therefor to the Originator to which such one or more other carriers is or
will be entitled, pursuant to applicable tariffs (including tariffs for joint rates and routes and the applicable carriers’ respective
divisions), contracts (including transportation service agreements between carriers and shippers and divisions agreements between
carriers), rules and regulations of the STB, rules of the AAR, the Procedures and the Originator’s accounting practices, as
consideration for that part of the interline carriage of freight or other service performed by such one or more other carriers, which part
or division the Originator is required to collect, hold in trust and turn over to such one or more other carriers in accordance with the
rules and regulations of the STB, rules of the AAR and the Procedures.

“Peak Default Ratio” means, for any calendar month, the highest three-month average Default Ratio during the twelve (12)
most recent calendar months.

“Pension Plan” means an employee pension benefit plan as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA, which is subject to Title IV of
ERISA (other than a Multiemployer Plan) and to which the Originator, the SPV or an ERISA Affiliate of either may have any
liability, including any liability by reason of having been a substantial employer within the meaning of Section 4063 of ERISA or by
reason of being deemed to be a contributing sponsor under Section 4069 of ERISA.

“Performance Guaranty” means the Performance Guaranty, dated as of November 8, 2007, among NSC, the Originator, the
Servicer, the Investors, the Managing Agents and the Administrative Agent.

“Person” means an individual, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, joint stock company, trust (including a
business trust), unincorporated association, joint venture, firm, enterprise, Official Body or any other entity.

“Portion of Investment” is defined in Section 2.4(a).

“Potential Termination Event” means an event which but for the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would
constitute a Termination Event.

“Procedures” means the accounting, administrative, billing and collections procedures with respect to Receivables applied by
the Originator to the extent prescribed by or not inconsistent with the rules and regulations of the STB and the rules of the AAR and
industry practices and procedures.

“Pro Rata Share” means, with respect to a Committed Investor, the Commitment of such Committed Investor divided by the
sum of the Commitments of all Committed Investors (or, if the Commitments shall have been terminated, such Committed Investor’s
pro rata share of the percentage of the Net Investment funded by such Committed Investor).

“Purchase Termination Date” is defined in Section 7.2 of the First Tier Agreement. “Rate” means the CP Rate,

the Alternate Rate or the Base Rate, as applicable. “Rate Period” means, with respect to any Portion of

Investment:

(a) if Yield for such Portion of Investment is calculated at the CP Rate, the relevant CP Tranche Period;



(b) if Yield for such Portion of Investment is calculated at the Alternate Rate, a period of one calendar month, or
such other period as may be mutually agreeable to the Managing Agents and the SPV, commencing on a Business Day
selected by the SPV or the Managing Agents pursuant to this Agreement. Such Rate Period shall end on the day in the
applicable succeeding calendar month which corresponds numerically to the beginning day of such Rate Period, provided,
however, that if there is no such numerically corresponding day in such succeeding calendar month, such Rate Period shall
end on the last Business Day of such succeeding calendar month; or

(c) if Yield for such Portion of Investment is calculated at the Base Rate, a period commencing on a Business Day
selected by the SPV and agreed to by the Managing Agents, provided no such period shall exceed one calendar month.

If any Rate Period would end on a day which is not a Business Day, such Rate Period shall end on the next
succeeding Business Day, provided, however, that in the case of a Rate Period for any Portion of Investment for which Yield
accrues at the Alternate Rate, if such next succeeding Business Day falls in a new calendar month, such Rate Period shall end
on the immediately preceding Business Day. In the case of any Rate Period for any Portion of Investment which commences
before the Commitment Termination Date and would otherwise end on a date occurring after the Commitment Termination
Date, such Rate Period shall end on the Commitment Termination Date. The duration of each Rate Period which commences
after the Termination Date shall be of such duration as selected by the Managing Agents.

“Rate Type” means the Base Rate, the CP Rate or the Alternate Rate.

“Ratings Event” means, with respect to an Obligor, any of the following events shall have occurred: (i) such Obligor does not
have a Long Term Debt Rating of at least “Baa3” and does not have a Short Term Debt Rating of at least “P3” by Moody’s or (ii)
such Obligor does not have a Long Term Debt Rating of at least “BBB-” and does not have a Short Term Debt Rating of at least “A3”
by S&P.

“Receivable” means (i) the gross amount payable by a shipper or consignee or agent thereof or by another carrier in respect
of any carriage of freight by the Originator or other service performed for a shipper or consignee or agent thereof by the Originator in
relation to such carriage of freight (including refrigeration, loading, unloading, diversion, transit, switching and weighing charges)
and (ii) any Other Carrier’s Divisions, in each case whether constituting an account, chattel paper, instrument or general intangible,
and includes the obligation to pay any finance charges, fees and other charges with respect thereto. A Receivable shall be deemed to
arise hereunder coincidentally with the initiation by the Originator (or, in the case of any Other Carrier’s Division, the applicable
carrier) of its carriage or other service and without regard to the issuance or absence thereof of any statement, invoice or waybill by
the Originator or any other carrier in respect thereof. For purposes of calculating the amount of Receivables under this definition and
when such calculation is called for elsewhere under the terms of this Agreement, “Receivables” shall mean the aggregate of the
amounts which would be set forth in the accounts of the SPV, NSC or the Originator specified on Schedule I under the heading
“Receivables or “Interline Receivable.” Excluded Receivables are not Receivables, as used in this Agreement (but are Receivables
for purposes of the First Tier Agreement).

“Recipient” is defined in Section 2.9.

“Records” means all Contracts and other documents, purchase orders, invoices, agreements, books, records and any other
media, materials or devices for the storage of information (including tapes,



disks, punch cards, computer programs and databases and related property) maintained by the SPV, the Originator or the Servicer with
respect to the Receivables, any other Affected Assets or the Obligors.

“Reinvestment” is defined in Section 2.2(b).

“Reinvestment Period” means the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the Termination Date.

“Related Commercial Paper” means, at any time, Commercial Paper the proceeds of which are then allocated by the
applicable Managing Agent as the source of funding the acquisition or maintenance of, the Asset Interest.

“Related Security” means with respect to any Receivable, all of the Originator’s (without giving effect to any transfer under
the First Tier Agreement) or the SPV’s rights, title and interest in, to and under:

(a) any goods (including returned or repossessed goods) and documentation or title evidencing the shipment or
storage of any goods relating to any sale giving rise to such Receivable;

(b) all other security interests or liens and property subject thereto from time to time, if any, purporting to secure
payment of such Receivable, whether pursuant to the Contract related to such Receivable or otherwise, together with all
financing statements and other filings signed by an Obligor relating thereto;

(c) the Contract and all guarantees, indemnities, warranties, insurance (and proceeds and premium refunds
thereof) or other agreements or arrangements of any kind from time to time supporting or securing payment of such
Receivable, whether pursuant to the Contract related to such Receivable or otherwise;

(d) all Records related to such Receivable; and

(e) all Collections on and other proceeds of any of the foregoing.

“Remedy Event” means any Termination Event or any Potential Termination Event described in Section 8.1 of this
Agreement.

“Reportable Event” means any event, transaction or circumstance set forth in Section 4043(c) of
ERISA.

“Reporting Date” is defined in Section 2.8.

“Required Reserves” at any time means the sum of (a) the Net Pool Balance multiplied by the Reserve Percentage, plus (b)
the Servicing Fee Reserve, plus (c) the Yield Reserve.

“Reserve Percentage” at any time means the greater of (x) the sum of (i) the Dilution Reserve Floor plus (ii) the Loss Reserve
Floor and (y) the sum of (i) the Loss Reserve Ratio plus (ii) the Dilution Reserve Ratio.

“Restatement Date” means May 28, 2021.



“Restricted Payments” is defined in Section 6.2(k).

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings or any successor that is a nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

“Sanctioned Country” means, at any time, a country or territory which is the subject or target of any Sanctions, including,
without limitation, as of the Restatement Date, Crimea, Cuba, Iran, North Korea and Syria.

“Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person currently the subject or the target of any Sanctions, including any
Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of designated Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S.
Department of the Treasury or the U.S. Department of State, and (b) any Person controlled by any such Person.

“Sanctions” means any sanctions administered or enforced by the U.S. government, including those administered by the
Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the
U.S. Department of State, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, Her Majesty’s Treasury, the government of Japan or
other relevant sanctions authority.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and any successor agency
thereof.

“Servicer” is defined in Section 7.1. “Servicer Default” is defined in

Section 7.5.

“Servicer Report” means a report, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit F or in such other form as is mutually
agreed to by the SPV, the Servicer and the Agents, furnished by the Servicer pursuant to Section 2.8.

“Servicing Fee” means the fees payable to the Servicer from Collections, in an amount equal to either (i) at any time when the
Servicer is the Originator or any of its Affiliates, an amount as determined pursuant to Section 7.6, or (ii) at any time when the
Servicer is not the Originator or any of its Affiliates, 1/2% per annum on the weighted daily average of the aggregate Unpaid
Balances of the Receivables or a different amount determined upon the agreement of such Person and the Agents, payable in arrears
on each Settlement Date from Collections pursuant to, and subject to the priority of payments set forth in, Section 2.12. With respect
to any Portion of Investment, the Servicing Fee allocable thereto shall be equal to the Servicing Fee determined as set forth above,
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of such Portion of Investment and the denominator of which is the Net
Investment.

“Servicing Fee Reserve” means, for any calendar month, computed as of the last day of such calendar month, an amount
equal to the product of (a) (i) the aggregate Unpaid Balances of the Receivables as of such day minus (ii) all Unpaid Balances of the
Receivables in Account No. 706-509 and the Suspense Accounts as of such day, plus (iii) all Unpaid Balances of the Receivables in
Account No. 709-001 as of such day, multiplied by (iv) the per annum rate in effect pursuant to the definition of “Servicing Fee” in
Section 1.1 hereof, multiplied by (b) the quotient of (i) (x) 2.00 multiplied by (y) Days Sales Outstanding divided by (ii) 360.

“Settlement Date” means (a) prior to the Termination Date, the 20th day of each calendar month (or, if such day is not a
Business Day, the immediately succeeding Business Day) or such other day as the SPV and the Agents may from time to time
mutually agree, and (b) for any Portion of Investment on and



after the Termination Date, each day selected from time to time by the Agents (it being understood that the Agents may select such
Settlement Date to occur as frequently as daily) or, in the absence of any such selection, the date which would be the Settlement Date
for such Portion of Investment pursuant to clause
(a) of this definition.

“Short Term Debt Rating” means, with respect to any Obligor at any time, the senior unsecured short term debt rating
assigned by S&P or Moody’s for such Obligor, in each case without giving effect to any third party credit enhancement.

“SMBC” is defined in the Preamble.

“SOFR” means a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the SOFR Administrator.

“SOFR Adjustment” means a percentage equal to 0.10% per annum.

“SOFR Administrator” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight
financing rate).

“SOFR Administrator’s Website” means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at
http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR
Administrator from time to time.

“SOFR Determination Day” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.

“SOFR Rate Day” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.

“SPV” means Thoroughbred Funding, Inc., a Virginia corporation.

“STB” means the Surface Transportation Board and any successor agency thereof. “Sub-Servicer” is defined

in Section 7.1(d).

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation or other Person (a) of which securities or other ownership
interests having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other Persons performing similar functions are
at the time directly or indirectly owned by such Person or (b) that is directly or indirectly controlled by such Person within the
meaning of control under Section 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Suspense Account” means each of Account Nos. 784-421, 706-104, 706-105, 706-505, 706-511 and 741-211, and
“Suspense Accounts” means all of the foregoing, collectively.

“Taxes” is defined in Section 9.3.

“Termination Date” means the earliest of (a) the Business Day designated by the SPV to the Administrative Agent as the
Termination Date at any time following not less than thirty (30) days’ written notice to the Administrative Agent, (b) the day upon
which the Termination Date is declared or automatically occurs pursuant to Section 8.2, (c) the Commitment Termination Date, and
(d) the Purchase Termination Date.

“Termination Event” is defined in Section 8.1.



“Transaction Costs” is defined in Section 9.4(a).

“Transaction Documents” means, collectively, this Agreement, the First Tier Agreement, the Fee Letter, the Blocked Account
Agreements, the Performance Guaranty, the Intercompany Line of Credit, and all of the other instruments, documents and other
agreements executed and delivered by the Servicer, NSC, the Originator or the SPV in connection with any of the foregoing.

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the applicable jurisdiction or jurisdictions.

“Unapplied Cash” means on any Business Day available funds received by the Originator, NSC, the Servicer or the SPV that
have not been applied as Collections on a particular Receivable on or prior to such date.

“Unpaid Balance” means at any time with respect to any Receivable the unpaid principal amount thereof, as calculated in
accordance with the definition of “Receivable.”

“U.S.” or “United States” means the United States of America.

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for (i) a Saturday, (ii) a Sunday or (iii) a day on which the
Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for
the entire day for purposes of trading in
U.S. government securities.

“Withholding Tax” is defined in Section 11.8(g).

“Yield” means with respect to any Portion of Investment for any Rate Period, an amount equal to the product of the
applicable Rate for each such Portion of Investment multiplied by the Net Investment allocated to such Portion of Investment for each
actual day elapsed during such Rate Period, annualized on the basis of a 360-day year.

“Yield Payment Date” means with respect to any Portion of Investment as to which Yield is calculated at the CP Rate, the
Base Rate or the Alternate Rate, each Settlement Date.

“Yield Reserve” means, for any calendar month, computed as of the last day of such calendar month, an amount equal to the
product of (a) (i) the Net Pool Balance as of such day, minus (ii) the sum of (x) the greater of the Dilution Reserve Floor and the
Dilution Reserve Ratio as of such day multiplied by the Net Pool Balance as of such day and (y) the greater of the Loss Reserve Floor
and the Loss Reserve Ratio for such day multiplied by the Net Pool Balance as of such day, multiplied by (b) the Base Rate,
multiplied by (c) the quotient of (i) 2.00 multiplied by Days Sales Outstanding divided by (ii) 360.

SECTION 1.2 Other Terms. All terms defined directly or by incorporation herein shall have the defined meanings when used
in any certificate or other document delivered pursuant thereto unless otherwise defined therein. For purposes of this Agreement and
all such certificates and other documents, unless the context otherwise requires: (a) accounting terms not otherwise defined herein,
and accounting terms partly defined herein to the extent not defined, shall have the respective meanings given to them under, and shall
be construed in accordance with, GAAP; (b) terms used in Article 9 of the UCC in the State of New York, and not specifically defined
herein, are used herein as defined in such Article 9; (c) references to any amount as on deposit or outstanding on any particular date
means such amount at the close of business on such day; (d) the words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar
import refer to this Agreement (or the certificate or other document in which they are used) as a whole



and not to any particular provision of this Agreement (or such certificate or document); (e) references to any Section, Schedule or
Exhibit are references to Sections, Schedules and Exhibits in or to this Agreement (or the certificate or other document in which the
reference is made) and references to any paragraph, subsection, clause or other subdivision within any Section or definition refer to
such paragraph, subsection, clause or other subdivision of such Section or definition; (f) the term “including” means “including
without limitation”; (g) references to any Law refer to that Law as amended from time to time and include any successor Law; (h)
references to any agreement refer to that agreement as from time to time amended or supplemented or as the terms of such agreement
are waived or modified in accordance with its terms; (i) references to any Person include that Person’s successors and permitted
assigns; (j) headings are for purposes of reference only and shall not otherwise affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision
hereof; and (k) all references to “Account No.” followed by a certain numerical designation mean and are reference to accounts in the
Originator’s general ledger and accounting system.

SECTION 1.3 Computation of Time Periods. Unless otherwise stated in this Agreement, in the computation of a period of
time from a specified date to a later specified date, the word “from” means “from and including”, the words “to” and “until” each
means “to but excluding”, and the word “within” means “from and excluding a specified date and to and including a later specified
date”.

ARTICLE II TRANSFERS AND SETTLEMENTS

SECTION 2.1    Transfer of Affected Assets; Intended Characterization.

(a) Conveyance of Asset Interest. In consideration of the payment by each Managing Agent (on behalf of the applicable
Investors as determined pursuant to Section 2.3) of the applicable Investor Group Percentage of the amount of the initial Net
Investment on the Closing Date and each Managing Agent’s agreement (on behalf of the applicable Investors as determined pursuant
to Section 2.3) to make payments to the SPV from time to time in accordance with Section 2.2, effective upon the SPV’s receipt of
payment for such initial Net Investment on the Closing Date, the SPV pursuant to the Existing Transfer and Administration
Agreement conveyed, transferred and assigned, and hereby conveys, transfers and assigns, to the Administrative Agent, on behalf of
the Conduit Investors or the Committed Investors, as applicable, (i) all Receivables existing on the Closing Date or thereafter arising
or acquired by the SPV from time to time prior to the Final Payout Date, and (ii) all other Affected Assets, whether existing on the
Closing Date or thereafter arising at any time.

(a) Conveyance of Asset Interest.    Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Administrative Agent (on behalf of the
Conduit Investors and/or the Committed Investors, as applicable) pursuant to the Existing Transfer and Administration Agreement
accepted, and hereby accepts, from the SPV the Receivables and all other Affected Assets assigned and transferred pursuant to
subsection (a). The Administrative Agent’s right, title and interest in and to the Receivables and all other Affected Assets hereunder is
herein called the “Asset Interest”. Each Investment hereunder shall be made by the Investor Groups pro rata, according to their
respective Investor Group Percentages. The Administrative Agent shall hold the Asset Interest on behalf of the Investors in each
Investor Group in accordance with the respective portions of the Net Investment funded by that Investor Group from time to time.
Within each Investor Group, the Administrative Agent shall hold the applicable Investor Group Percentage of the Asset Interest on
behalf of the Investors in that Investor Group pro rata in accordance with the respective outstanding portions of the Net Investment
funded by them.



(b) Obligations Not Assumed. The foregoing assignment and transfer does not constitute and is not intended to result in
the creation, or an assumption by the Administrative Agent, any Managing Agent or any Investor, of any obligation of the SPV, the
Originator, NSC or any other Person under or in connection with the Receivables or any other Affected Asset, all of which shall
remain the obligations and liabilities of the SPV, NSC and the Originator.

(c) Characterization.

(i) It is the intention of the parties hereto that each purchase hereunder shall constitute and be treated as an
absolute and irrevocable sale, which purchase shall provide the applicable Investor with the full benefits of ownership of the
Asset Interest. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, each Investment hereunder is made without recourse to the
SPV; provided, however, that (A) the SPV shall be liable to each Investor and Agent for all representations, warranties,
covenants and indemnities made by the SPV pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and (B) such sale does not constitute
and is not intended to result in an assumption by any Investor or Agent or any assignee thereof of any obligation of the SPV
or the Originator or any other person arising in connection with the Affected Assets, or any other obligations of the SPV or
the Originator.

(ii) In addition to any ownership interest which the Administrative Agent may from time to time acquire pursuant
hereto, in order to secure the Aggregate Unpaids, the SPV hereby grants to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of
the Indemnified Parties, a security interest in all of the SPV’s right, title and interest in, to and under all Affected Assets now
existing or hereafter arising. The Administrative Agent and the Investors shall have, in addition to the rights and remedies
that they may have under this Agreement, all other rights and remedies provided to a secured creditor under the UCC and
other applicable Law, which rights and remedies shall be cumulative.

(iii) If, notwithstanding the intention of the parties expressed above, any sale or transfer by the SPV hereunder
shall be characterized as a secured loan and not as a sale, or such sale shall for any reason be ineffective or unenforceable
(any of the foregoing being a “Recharacterization”), then this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a security agreement
under the UCC and other applicable Law. In the case of any Recharacterization, the SPV represents and warrants that each
remittance of Collections to the Administrative Agent, any Managing Agent or any Investor hereunder will have been (A) in
payment of a debt incurred in the ordinary course of business or financial affairs of the SPV and (B) made in the ordinary
course of business or financial affairs of the SPV.

(iv) The SPV hereby authorizes the filing of financing statements, and continuation statements and amendments
thereto and assignments thereof, describing the collateral covered thereby as “all assets of the debtor whether now owned or
existing or hereafter acquired or arising and wheresoever located, including all accessions thereto and products and proceeds
thereof” or words to that effect, notwithstanding that such wording may be broader in scope than the collateral described in
this Section 2.1(d). The SPV hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent, within the meaning of Section 9-509 of any
applicable enactment of the UCC, as secured party for the benefit of itself and of the Investors, to file, without the signature
of the SPV or the Originator, as debtors, the UCC financing statements contemplated herein and under the First Tier
Agreement and continuation statements and amendments thereto and assignments thereof.

SECTION 2.2    Acquisition Price. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, including Article V, in consideration for the
assignment and transfer of the Affected Assets by the SPV to the



Administrative Agent (on behalf of the Conduit Investors and/or the Committed Investors, as applicable) hereunder:

(a) Investments. From time to time during the Reinvestment Period, on request of the SPV in accordance with Section 2.3,
each Managing Agent (on behalf of the applicable Investors as determined pursuant to Section 2.3) shall pay to the SPV the
applicable Investor Group Percentage of an amount equal in each instance to the lesser of (i) the amount requested by the SPV under
Section 2.3(a), and (ii) the largest amount that will not cause (A) the Net Investment to exceed the Maximum Net Investment and (B)
the sum of the Net Investment and Required Reserves to exceed the Net Pool Balance. Each such payment is herein called an
“Investment”.

(b) Reinvestments. On each Business Day during the Reinvestment Period, the Servicer, on behalf of the Administrative
Agent (for the benefit of the applicable Investors as determined pursuant to Section 2.3), shall pay to the SPV, out of Collections of
Receivables, the amount available for Reinvestment in accordance with Sections 2.12(a)(iii) and 2.14(b). Each such payment is
hereinafter called a “Reinvestment”. All Reinvestments shall be made ratably on behalf of the Investors pro rata, as applicable, in
accordance with their respective outstanding portions of the Net Investment funded by them.

(c) Deferred Acquisition Price. On each Business Day on and after the Final Payout Date, the Servicer, on behalf of the
Administrative Agent, shall pay to the SPV an amount equal to the Collections of Receivables received by the Servicer less the
accrued and unpaid Servicing Fee, if any (and the SPV (or the Servicer on its behalf) shall apply such Collections in the manner
described in Section 2.14).

(d) SPV Payments Limited to Collections. Notwithstanding any provision contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the
Managing Agents shall not, and shall not be obligated (whether on behalf of the Conduit Investors or the Committed Investors), to
pay any amount to the SPV as the purchase price of Receivables pursuant to subsections (b) and (c) above except to the extent of
Collections on Receivables available for distribution to the SPV in accordance with this Agreement. Any amount which an Agent
(whether on behalf of the Conduit Investors or the Committed Investors) does not pay pursuant to the preceding sentence shall not
constitute a claim (as defined in § 101 of the Bankruptcy Code) against or corporate obligation of such Agent for any such
insufficiency unless and until such amount becomes available for distribution to the SPV under Section 2.12.

SECTION 2.3    Investment Procedures.

(a) Notice. The SPV shall request an Investment hereunder, by request to each Managing Agent given by facsimile in the
form of an Investment Request at least two (2) Business Days prior to the proposed date of any Investment. Each such Investment
Request shall specify (i) the desired amount of such Investment (which shall be at least in the aggregate $1,000,000 (and at least
$500,000 per Investor Group) or an integral aggregate multiple of $500,000 (and at least $250,000 per Investor Group) in excess
thereof or, to the extent that the then available unused portion of the Maximum Net Investment is less than such amount, such lesser
amount equal to such available unused portion of the Maximum Net Investment), and (ii) the desired date of such Investment (the
“Investment Date”) which shall be a Business Day.

(b) Conduit Investor Acceptance or Rejection; Investment Request Irrevocable.

(v) Following receipt of an Investment Request, each Managing Agent will determine whether the Conduit
Investor(s) related to the Investor Group shall make the



Investment requested thereunder. If any Conduit Investor declines to make such Investment, the related Managing Agent
shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent and the SPV, and such Investment shall be made by the related Committed
Investors ratably in accordance with their respective Committed Investor Percentages, in accordance with Section 2.3(d)(i).

(vi) Each Investment Request shall be irrevocable and binding on the SPV, and the SPV shall indemnify each
Investor against any loss or expense incurred by such Investor, either directly or indirectly as a result of any failure by the
SPV to complete such Investment, including any loss (including loss of profit) or expense incurred by the Administrative
Agent, any Managing Agent or any Investor, either directly or indirectly by reason of the liquidation or reemployment of
funds acquired by such Investor (including funds obtained by issuing commercial paper or promissory notes or obtaining
deposits or loans from third parties) in order to fund such Investment. The determination by the Administrative Agent or the
applicable Managing Agent of the amount of any such loss or expense shall be set forth in a written notice to the SPV in
reasonable detail and shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

(c) Committed Investor’s Commitment.

(i) Each Investor Group Percentage of all Investments and Reinvestments shall be made by such Investor Group’s
Managing Agent on behalf of such Investor Group’s Investors. Such Managing Agent shall notify such Investors of its
receipt of any Investment Request. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 2.3(c) or elsewhere in this Agreement
to the contrary, no Committed Investor shall be obligated to provide its Managing Agent or the SPV with funds in connection
with an Investment in an amount that would result in the portion of the Net Investment then funded by such Committed
Investor exceeding such Committed Investor’s Commitment then in effect.

(ii) The obligation of the Committed Investors in an Investor Group to remit the applicable Investor Group
Percentage of any Investment shall be several from that of the other Committed Investors in any other Investor Group, and
within each Investor Group each Committed Investor’s obligation to fund its portion of the Investments will be several from
the obligations of the other Committed Investors in such Investor Group. The failure of any Committed Investor to so make
such amount available to the Managing Agents shall not relieve any other Committed Investor of its obligation hereunder.

(d) Payment of Investment. On any Investment Date, each Conduit Investor or each Committed Investor, as the case may
be, shall remit its share of the aggregate amount of such Investment (determined pursuant to Section 2.2(a)) to the account of the
applicable Managing Agent specified therefor from time to time by such Managing Agent by notice to such Persons by wire transfer
of same day funds. Following each Managing Agent’s receipt of funds from the Investors as aforesaid, such Managing Agent shall
remit such funds received to the SPV’s account at the location indicated in Schedule 11.3, by wire transfer of same day funds.

(e) Managing Agents May Advance Funds. Unless the Managing Agent for an Investor Group shall have received notice
from the applicable Investor that such Investor will not make its share of any Investment available on the applicable Investment Date
therefor, such Managing Agent may (but shall have no obligation to) make such Investor’s share of any such Investment available to
the SPV in anticipation of the receipt by such Managing Agent of such amount from the applicable Investor. To the extent any such
Investor fails to remit any such amount to the applicable Managing Agent after any such advance by such Managing Agent on such
Investment Date, such Investor, on the one hand, and the SPV, on the other hand, shall be required to pay such amount to such
Managing Agent for its own account,



together with interest thereon at a per annum rate equal to the Federal Funds Rate, in the case of such Investor, or the Base Rate, in
the case of the SPV, to a Managing Agent upon its demand therefor (provided that each Conduit Investor shall have no obligation to
pay such interest amounts except to the extent that it shall have sufficient funds to pay the face amount of its Commercial Paper in
full). Until such amount shall be repaid, such amount shall be deemed to be Net Investment paid by the applicable Managing Agent
and such Managing Agent shall be deemed to be the owner of an interest in the Asset Interest hereunder to the extent of such
Investment. Upon the payment of such amount to the applicable Managing Agent (i) by the SPV, the amount of the aggregate Net
Investment shall be reduced by such amount or (ii) by such Investor, such payment shall constitute such Person’s payment of its share
of the applicable Investment.

SECTION 2.4    Determination of Yield and Rate Periods.

(a) From time to time, for purposes of determining the Rate Periods applicable to the different portions of the Net
Investment funded by a given Investor Group and of calculating Yield with respect thereto, the applicable Managing Agent shall
allocate such Investor Group’s Net Investment to one or more tranches (each a “Portion of Investment”). At any time, each Portion of
Investment shall have only one Rate Period and one Rate Type. In addition, at any time when such Investor Group’s Net Investment
is not divided into more than one portion, “Portion of Investment” means 100% of such Investor Group’s Net Investment.

(b) From time to time each Managing Agent shall notify the Servicer of the number of Portions of Investment and the
Rate Type of each Portion of Investment.

(c) The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to
(a) the continuation of, administration of, submission of, calculation of or any other matter related to Alternate Rate, the Base Rase,
the Benchmark, any component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof or any alternative, successor or
replacement rate thereto (including any Benchmark Replacement), including whether the composition or characteristics of any such
alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) will be similar to, or produce the same value or
economic equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, the Alternate Rate, the Base Rate, the Benchmark or any other
Benchmark prior to its discontinuance or unavailability, or (b) the effect, implementation or composition of any Conforming Changes.
The Administrative Agent and its affiliates or other related entities may engage in transactions that affect the calculation of the
Alternate Rate, the Base Rate, the Benchmark, any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement)
or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the SPV. The Administrative Agent may select information
sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain the Alternate Rate, the Base Rate or the Benchmark, in each case pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the SPV, any Investor or any other person or entity for damages of any
kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort,
contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided
by any such information source or service.

(d) In connection with the use or administration of Daily Simple SOFR, the Administrative Agent will have the right to
make Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Transaction
Document, any amendments implementing such Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of
any other party to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the



SPV and the Investors of the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in connection with the use or administration of Daily Simple
SOFR.

(c) LIBO Rate and LMIR Protection; Illegality. (i) Subject to Section 11.15, if a Managing Agent is unable to obtain on a
timely basis the information necessary to determine the LIBO Rate or LMIR, as applicable, for any proposed Rate Period; provided
that the LIBO Rate and LMIR have not been replaced with a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to Section 11.15(a), then

(A) such Managing Agent shall forthwith notify the Investor Group and the SPV that the LIBO Rate or
LMIR, as applicable, cannot be determined for such Rate Period, and

(B) while such circumstances exist, no member of such Investor Group shall allocate any Portions of
Investment with respect to Investments made during such period or reallocate any Portions of Investment allocated to
any then existing Rate Period ending during such period, to a Rate Period with respect to which Yield is calculated
by reference to the LIBO Rate or LMIR, as applicable.

(e) (ii) Subject to Section 11.15, if, with respect to any outstanding Rate Period, any Conduit Investor or Committed
Investor on behalf of which a Managing Agent holds any Portion of Investment notifies such Managing Agent that it is unable to
obtain matching deposits in the London interbank market to fund its purchase or maintenance of such Portion of Investment or that
the LIBO Rate or LMIR, as applicable, applicable to such Portion of Investment will not adequately reflect the cost to the Investor of
funding or maintaining such Portion of Investment for such Rate Period; provided that the LIBO Rate and LMIR have not been
replaced with a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to Section 11.15(a), then (A) such Managing Agent shall forthwith so notify the
SPV and the Investors and (B) upon such notice and thereafter while such circumstances exist no member of such Investor Group
shall allocate any other Portions of Investment with respect to Investments made during such period or reallocate any Portion of
Investment allocated to any Rate Period ending during such period, to a Rate Period with respect to which Yield is calculated by
reference to the LIBO Rate or LMIR, as applicable. as of any day: (a) the Administrative Agent determines (which determination
shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that “Daily Simple SOFR” cannot be determined pursuant to the definition
thereof or (b) the Majority Investors determine that for any reason that Daily Simple SOFR does not adequately and fairly reflect the
cost to such Investors of making and maintaining such any Portion of Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis of the Alternate
Rate, and the Majority Investors have provided notice of such determination to the Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent
will promptly so notify the SPV and each Managing Agent. Upon notice thereof by the Administrative Agent to the SPV, any
obligation of the Investors to make any Investment and any right of the SPV to continue or to convert any Portion of Investment with
a Yield calculated on the basis of the Alternate Rate, shall be suspended (to the extent of the affected Investment) until the
Administrative Agent (with respect to clause (b), at the instruction of the Majority Investors) revokes such notice. Upon receipt of
such notice,
(i) the SPV may revoke any Investment Request, or any request to convert or continue any Portion of
Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis of the Alternate Rate (to the extent of the affected Investment) or, failing that, the
SPV will be deemed to have converted any such a request for an Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis of the Base Rate and
(ii) Yield with respect to any outstanding affected Portion of Investment that had been calculated on the basis of the Alternate Rate
will be calculated on the basis of the Base Rate immediately. If the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be
conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that “Daily Simple SOFR” cannot be determined pursuant to the definition thereof on
any given day, the interest rate on any Portion of Investment with Yield that is calculated on the basis of the Base Rate shall be
determined by the





Administrative Agent without reference to clause (c) within the definition of “Base Rate” until the Administrative Agent revokes such
determination.

(iii) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement (other than Section 11.15), if any Conduit Investor or Committed Investor, as
applicable, shall notify their Managing Agent that such Investor has determined that the introduction of or any change in or in the
interpretation of any Law makes it unlawful (either for a Conduit Investor or a Committed Investor, as applicable), or any central bank or
other Official Body asserts that it is unlawful, for such Conduit Investor or Committed Investor, as applicable, to fund the purchases or
maintenance of any Portion of Investment accruing Yield calculated by reference to the LIBO Rate or LMIR, as applicable; provided that the
LIBO Rate and LMIR have not been replaced with a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to Section 11.15(a), then (A) as of the effective date
of such notice from such Investor to the applicable Managing Agent, the obligation or ability of such Conduit Investor or Committed
Investor, as applicable, to fund the making or maintenance of any Portion of Investment accruing Yield calculated by reference to the LIBO
Rate or LMIR, as applicable, shall be suspended until such Investor notifies the applicable Managing Agent that the circumstances causing
such suspension no longer exist and (B) each Portion of Investment made or maintained by such Investor shall either (1) if such Investor may
lawfully continue to maintain such Portion of Investment accruing Yield calculated by reference to the LIBO Rate or LMIR, as applicable,
until the last day of the applicable Rate Period, be reallocated on the last day of such Rate Period to another Rate Period and shall accrue
Yield calculated by reference to the Base Rate or (2) if such Investor shall determine that it may not lawfully continue to maintain such
Portion of Investment accruing Yield calculated by reference to the LIBO Rate or LMIR, as applicable, until the end of the applicable Rate
Period, such Investor’s share of such Portion of Investment allocated to such Rate Period shall be deemed to accrue Yield at the Base Rate
from the effective date of such notice until the end of such Rate Period.

(f) If any Managing Agent determines that any Law has made it unlawful, or that any Governmental Authority has
asserted that it is unlawful, for any related Investor or any applicable lending office thereof to make, maintain or fund Investments
with Yield that is determined by reference to SOFR or Daily Simple SOFR, or to determine or charge interest based upon SOFR or
Daily Simple SOFR, then, upon notice thereof by such Managing Agent to the SPV (through the Administrative Agent) (an “Illegality
Notice”), (a) any obligation of any related Investor to make, convert or continue any Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis
of the Alternate Rate shall be suspended, and (b) the interest rate on any Portion of Investment of any related Investor with Yield that
is calculated on the bases of the Base Rate shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, be determined by the Administrative Agent
without reference to clause (c) of the definition of “Base Rate”, in each case until such Managing Agent notifies the Administrative
Agent and the SPV that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist. Upon receipt of any Illegality Notice, (i)
the SPV shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, upon demand from such Managing Agent (with a copy to the Administrative
Agent), prepay or, if applicable, convert all Investments with a Yield calculated on the basis of the Alternate Rate of all related
Investors into an Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis of the Base Rate (the interest rate on which Investments of such
related Investors shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, be determined by the Administrative Agent without reference to clause (c)
of the definition of “Base Rate”), on the Yield Payment Date therefor, if such related Investors may lawfully continue to maintain
such Investments whose interest is determined by reference to SOFR or Daily Simple SOFR to such day, or immediately, if such
related Investors may not lawfully continue to maintain such Investments to such day, in each case, until the Administrative Agent is
advised in writing by such Managing Agent that it is no longer illegal for the related Investors to determine or charge interest rates
based upon SOFR or Daily Simple SOFR.



SECTION 2.5 Yield, Fees and Other Costs and Expenses. Notwithstanding any limitation on recourse herein, the SPV shall
pay, as and when due in accordance with this Agreement, all fees hereunder and under the Fee Letter, Yield, all amounts payable
pursuant to Article IX, if any, and the Servicing Fees. On each Yield Payment Date, to the extent not paid pursuant to Section 2.12 for
any reason, the SPV shall pay to the applicable Managing Agent, on behalf of the applicable Conduit Investor or the Committed
Investors, as applicable, an amount equal to the accrued and unpaid Yield for the related Rate Period together with, to the extent the
Asset Interest is held on behalf of a Conduit Investor, an amount equal to the interest or discount accrued on the Conduit Investor’s
Commercial Paper to the extent such Commercial Paper was issued in order to fund the Asset Interest in an amount in excess of the
amount of any Investment. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit in any way the obligations of the SPV to pay the amounts set forth in
this Section 2.5.

SECTION 2.6    Deemed Collections.

(a) Dilutions. If on any day the Unpaid Balance of a Receivable is reduced or such Receivable is canceled as a result of
any Dilution, the SPV shall be deemed to have received on such day a Collection of such Receivable in the amount of the Unpaid
Balance (as determined immediately prior to such Dilution) of such Receivable (if such Receivable is canceled) or, otherwise in the
amount of such reduction, and the SPV shall pay to the Servicer an amount equal to such Deemed Collection and such amount shall
be applied by the Servicer as a Collection in accordance with Section 2.12. If the SPV does not have funds available for this purpose,
after satisfying all of its other obligations then due under this Agreement, then the SPV will draw on the Intercompany Line of Credit;
provided, however, that if the SPV fails to make such draw then the Administrative Agent may make such draw in the place of the
SPV.

(b) Breach of Representation or Warranty. If on any day any of the representations or warranties in Article IV was or
becomes untrue with respect to a Receivable (whether on or after the date of transfer thereof to the Administrative Agent, for the
benefit of the Investors, as contemplated hereunder), the SPV shall be deemed to have received on such day a Collection of such
Receivable in full and the SPV shall on such day pay to the Servicer an amount equal to the Unpaid Balance of such Receivable and
such amount shall be allocated and applied by the Servicer as a Collection in accordance with Section 2.12.

SECTION 2.7 Payments and Computations, Etc. All amounts to be paid or deposited by the SPV or the Servicer hereunder
shall be paid or deposited in accordance with the terms hereof no later than 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the day when due in
immediately available funds; if such amounts are payable to the Administrative Agent or any Managing Agent (whether on behalf of
any Investor or otherwise) such amounts shall be paid or deposited in the account indicated for the Administrative Agent or such
Managing Agent, as applicable, under the heading “Payment Information” on Schedule 11.3 hereto, until otherwise notified by the
Administrative Agent or such Managing Agent, as applicable. The SPV shall, to the extent permitted by Law, pay to the applicable
Managing Agent, for the benefit of the Investors, upon demand, interest on all amounts not paid or deposited when due hereunder at a
rate equal to 2.00% per annum, plus the Base Rate. All computations of Yield and all per annum fees hereunder shall be made on the
basis of a year of 360 (or 365 or 366, as applicable, with respect to Yield or other amounts calculated by reference to the Base Rate)
days for the actual number of days (including the first but excluding the last day) elapsed. Any computations by the Administrative
Agent or Managing Agents of amounts payable by the SPV hereunder shall be binding upon the SPV absent manifest error.

SECTION 2.8 Reports. By no later than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the 2nd Business Day prior to each Settlement
Date (and, after the occurrence of a Termination Event, within two



(2) Business Days after a request from the Administrative Agent or a Managing Agent) (each, a “Reporting Date”), the Servicer shall
prepare and forward to the Administrative Agent and each Managing Agent a Servicer Report for the preceding calendar month and
certified by the SPV and the Servicer.

SECTION 2.9 Sharing of Payments, Etc. If any Investor (for purposes of this Section only, being a “Recipient”) shall obtain
any payment (whether voluntary, involuntary, through the exercise of any right of setoff, or otherwise) on account of the portion of the
Asset Interest owned by it (other than pursuant to the Fee Letter, or Article IX and other than as a result of the differences in the
timing of the applications of Collections pursuant to Section 2.12 and other than as a result of the different methods for calculating
Yield) in excess of its ratable share of payments on account of the Asset Interest obtained by the Investors entitled thereto, such
Recipient shall forthwith purchase from the Investors entitled to a share of such amount participations in the portions of the Asset
Interest owned by such Investors as shall be necessary to cause such Recipient to share the excess payment ratably with each such
other Investor entitled thereto; provided, however, that if all or any portion of such excess payment is thereafter recovered from such
Recipient, such purchase from each such other Investor shall be rescinded and each such other Investor shall repay to the Recipient
the purchase price paid by such Recipient for such participation to the extent of such recovery, together with an amount equal to such
other Investor’s ratable share (according to the proportion of (a) the amount of such other Investor’s required payment to
(b) the total amount so recovered from the Recipient) of any interest or other amount paid or payable by
the Recipient in respect of the total amount so recovered.

SECTION 2.10 Right of Setoff. Without in any way limiting the provisions of Section 2.9, the Administrative Agent and
each Investor is hereby authorized (in addition to any other rights it may have) at any time after the occurrence of a Remedy Event, to
set-off, appropriate and apply (without presentment, demand, protest or other notice which are hereby expressly waived) any deposits
and any other indebtedness held or owing by the Administrative Agent or such Investor to, or for the account of, the SPV against the
amount of the Aggregate Unpaids owing by the SPV to such Person or to the Administrative Agent on behalf of such Person (even if
contingent or unmatured).

SECTION 2.11 Other Carrier’s Divisions. Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that the rights and interests of the
Investors in and to any cash Collections received in respect of Other Carrier’s Divisions (“OCD Collections”) shall be subject to the
rights of the applicable carrier(s) entitled thereto to the extent (and only to the extent) that such OCD Collections are required to be
turned over to such other carrier(s) in accordance with the rules and regulations of the STB or the rules of the AAR. Upon receipt of
any OCD Collections, the Servicer shall (i) set aside and hold in trust such OCD Collections for the benefit of the carrier(s) entitled
thereto and (ii) pay such OCD Collections to the SPV for the account of the other carrier(s) entitled thereto (or, if the Servicer so
elects, directly to the other carrier(s) entitled thereto) by not later than the first date of settlement to occur in accordance with the
Procedures; provided, however, that to the extent an Interline Payable is satisfied or deemed satisfied on any date by reason of the
setoff of a Receivable, all OCD Collections which have been or may thereafter be received in respect of the related Other Carrier’s
Division shall be applied by the Servicer in accordance with Section 2.12 or Section 2.13, as applicable, as if such OCD Collections
constituted Collections of the Receivable subject to setoff. Any such application of OCD Collections pursuant to Section 2.12 or
Section 2.13 shall be made for the benefit of the SPV and/or the Investors (as their respective interests therein may appear) free and
clear of any lien, security interest, charge or other encumbrance, or any other type of preferential arrangement, otherwise existing in
favor of any carrier. Upon the occurrence of any Termination Event or event described in Section 8.1(d) (without giving effect to any
grace period under such Section), the Servicer, upon the request of any Agent, shall set aside in a segregated trust account all Other
Carrier’s Divisions required to be held in trust for the benefit of other carriers pursuant to this Section 2.11. In the event any OCD
Collections are delivered to the SPV by the Servicer, the SPV



shall forthwith cause such OCD Collections to be delivered to the applicable carrier in accordance with the Procedures. It is
understood and agreed that a Receivable shall not fail to satisfy the requirements set forth in the definition of “Eligible Receivable”
and the SPV and the Servicer shall not violate any of their respective representations and warranties or incur any obligation for
indemnification under Section 9.1 and Section 9.6 hereof solely by reason of the fact that a Receivable constitutes Other Carrier’s
Divisions or that such Receivable or OCD Collections in respect thereof are subject to the rights of other carriers to the extent
contemplated in this Section 2.11.

SECTION 2.12    Settlement Procedures.

(a) Daily Procedure. On each day, the Servicer shall, out of the Collections of Receivables received or deemed received
by the SPV or the Servicer on such day:

(vii) hold in trust for the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Investors an amount equal to the aggregate of
the Yield and Servicing Fee accrued through such day for all Portions of Investment and any other Aggregate Unpaids (other
than Net Investment) accrued through such day and not previously set aside; and

(viii) set aside and hold in trust for the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Investors an amount equal to the
excess, if any, of

(A) the greatest of:

(1) if the SPV shall have elected to reduce the Net Investment under Section 2.13, the amount of
the proposed reduction,

(2) the amount, if any, by which the sum of the Net Investment and Required Reserves shall
exceed the Net Pool Balance (minus any portion of the Required Reserves attributable to
such excess), together with the amount, if any, by which the Net Investment shall exceed the
Maximum Net Investment, and

(3) if such day is on or after the Termination Date, the Net Investment; over

(A) the aggregate of the amounts theretofore set aside and then so held for the Administrative Agent for
the benefit of the Investors pursuant to this clause (ii); and

(iii) pay the remainder, if any, of such Collections to the SPV for application in accordance with Section 2.14.

(b) Other Payment Procedures.

(ix) The Servicer shall deposit into each Managing Agent’s account pro rata based on the interests in the Asset
Interest funded by their respective Investor Groups on each Business Day selected by the SPV for a reduction of the Net
Investment permitted under Section 2.13 the amount of Collections held for the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the
Investors pursuant to Section 2.12(a)(ii).

(x) On any date on or prior to the Termination Date, if the sum of the Net Investment and Required Reserves
exceeds the Net Pool Balance the Servicer shall immediately pay to each Managing Agent’s account, pro rata based on their
respective interests in the Asset



Interest (as determined in accordance with Section 2.1(b)), from amounts set aside pursuant to Section 2.12(a)(ii) or (iii), an
amount necessary to cause the sum of the Net Investment and Required Reserves to be equal to, or less than, the Net Pool
Balance after giving effect to such payment.

(xi) On each Settlement Date, the Servicer shall deposit:

(B) to each Managing Agent’s account, out of the amounts set aside pursuant to Section 2.12(a)(i) and not
theretofore deposited in accordance with Section 2.12(b), an amount equal to the accrued and unpaid Yield for the
related Rate Period together with any other Aggregate Unpaids (other than Net Investment) then due for the related
Investor Group; provided, however, that if there is an insufficient amount to pay such amount then such amount shall
be deposited to each Managing Agent’s account pro rata based on the interests in the Asset Interest funded by the
respective Investor Group; and

(C) if the Originator or any Affiliate of the Originator is not then the Servicer, to the Administrative
Agent’s account, out of the amounts set aside pursuant to Section 2.12(a)(i) and not theretofore deposited in
accordance with Section 2.12(b), an amount equal to the accrued and unpaid Servicing Fee for the related Rate
Period then due; and

(D) to each Managing Agent’s account pro rata based on the interests in the Asset Interest funded by the
respective Investor Group, out of the amount, if any, set aside pursuant to Section 2.12(a)(ii) and (to the extent not
theretofore reinvested) Section 2.12(a)(iii) and not theretofore deposited to each Managing Agent’s account pursuant
to this Section 2.12(c), an amount equal to the lesser of such amount and the Net Investment;

provided, however, that if each Agent gives its consent (which consent may be revoked at any time) and the Originator or any
Affiliate of the Originator is not then the Servicer, the Servicer may retain amounts which would otherwise be deposited in respect of
accrued and unpaid Servicing Fee, in which case no distribution shall be made in respect of such Servicing Fee under Section 2.12(d)
below. Any amounts set aside pursuant to Section 2.12(a) in excess of the amount required to be deposited in the respective accounts
of the Agents pursuant to this Section 2.12(b) above shall continue to be set aside and held in trust by the Servicer for application on
the next succeeding Settlement Date(s).

(c) Order of Application. Upon receipt by each Managing Agent of funds deposited pursuant to Section 2.12(b), such
Managing Agent shall distribute them to the Persons, for the purposes and in the order of priority, set forth below:

(i) to the Investors in the applicable Investor Group, pro rata based on the amount of accrued and unpaid Yield
owing to each of them, in payment of the accrued and unpaid Yield on all Portions of Investment for the related Rate Period
or any prior Rate Period;

(ii) in the case of the Administrative Agent, if the Originator or any Affiliate of the Originator is not then the
Servicer, to the Servicer in payment of the accrued and unpaid Servicing Fee (as determined pursuant to clause (i) of the
definition of Servicing Fee) payable on such Settlement Date;



(iii) to the Investors in the applicable Investor Group, pro rata based on their respective interests in the Asset
Interest (as determined in accordance with Section 2.1(b)), in reduction of the Net Investment;

(iv) in the case of the Administrative Agent, if the Originator or any Affiliate of the Originator is not then the
Servicer, to the Servicer in payment of the accrued and unpaid incremental servicing fee in excess of the amount paid in
Section 2.12(c)(ii) above payable on such Settlement Date; and

(v) to the Administrative Agent, the applicable Managing Agents, the applicable Investors or such other Person as
may be entitled to such payment, in payment of any other Aggregate Unpaids owed by the SPV hereunder to such Person
(other than Net Investment, Yield and Servicing Fee).

SECTION 2.13    Optional Reduction of Net Investment. (a)    The SPV may at any time elect to cause the reduction of the
Net Investment as follows:

(i) the SPV shall instruct the Servicer to (and the Servicer shall) set aside Collections and hold them in trust for
the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Investors under Section 2.12(a)(ii) until the amount so set aside shall equal the
desired amount of reduction;

(ii) the SPV shall give the Managing Agents at least one (1) Business Day’s prior written notice of the amount of
such reduction and the date on which such reduction will occur; and

(iii) on each Settlement Date occurring at least one (1) Business Day after the date of the SPV’s notice, the
Servicer shall pay to each Managing Agent, pro rata based on the respective interests of the Investors in the related Investor
Group in the Asset Interest (as determined in accordance with Section 2.1(b)), in reduction of the Net Investment, the amount
of such Collections so held or, if less, the Net Investment (it being understood that the Net Investment shall not be deemed
reduced by any amount set aside or held pursuant to this Section
2.13 unless and until, and then only to the extent that, such amount is finally paid to the applicable Managing Agent as
aforesaid); provided that, the amount of any such reduction shall be not less than $1,000.

(b)    In addition to the foregoing, the SPV shall have the right, upon at least two (2) Business Days prior written notice to the
Administrative Agent and each Managing Agent, at any time to repurchase the Asset Interest in full. The purchase price in respect
thereof shall be an amount equal to the Aggregate Unpaids through the date of such repurchase, payable in immediately available
funds. Such repurchase shall be without representation, warranty or recourse of any kind by, or on the part of, or against, any Investor,
any Managing Agent or the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 2.14    Application of Collections Distributable to SPV.

(a) Unless otherwise instructed by the SPV, the Servicer shall, subject to clause (b) of this Section 2.14, allocate and
apply, on behalf of the SPV, Collections distributable to the SPV hereunder first, to the payment or provision for payment of the
SPV’s operating expenses (including any Servicing Fee which has not been set aside and paid above), as instructed by the SPV,
second, to the payment or provision for payment when due of accrued interest on any deferred portion of the purchase price of
Receivables payable by the SPV to the Originator under the First Tier Agreement, third, to the payment



to the Originator of the purchase price of new Receivables in accordance with the First Tier Agreement, fourth, to the payment to the
Originator of the deferred portion of the purchase price of Receivables theretofore purchased from the Originator pursuant to the First
Tier Agreement, and fifth, to the repay the outstanding principal amount of, and accrued interest on, borrowings under the
Intercompany Line of Credit, subject to Section 6.2(k).

(b) To the extent, after giving effect to the allocation of Collections to any of the amounts in clause (a) above, the Net
Pool Balance (minus any portion of the Required Reserves attributable to such excess) would exceed the sum of the Net Investment
and Required Reserves, such Collections shall be applied by the Servicer on behalf of the Administrative Agent (for the benefit of the
Investors as determined in accordance with Section 2.1(b)) to Reinvestment (not to exceed the Maximum Net Investment) in the
Receivables and in other Affected Assets in accordance with Section 2.2(b). To the extent and for so long as such Collections may not
be reinvested pursuant to Section 2.2(b), the Servicer shall hold such Collections in trust for the benefit of the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 2.15 Collections Held in Trust. So long as the SPV or the Servicer shall hold any Collections or Deemed
Collections then or thereafter required to be paid by the SPV to the Servicer or by the SPV or the Servicer to the Administrative
Agent or the Managing Agents, it shall hold such Collections in trust, and, if requested by the Administrative Agent or any Managing
Agent after the occurrence and during the continuance of a Termination Event or Potential Termination Event, shall deposit such
Collections within one (1) Business Day of receipt thereof into an account chosen by such Agent. The Net Investment shall not be
deemed reduced by any amount held in trust or in such account pursuant to Section 2.12 unless and until, and then only to the extent
that, such amount is finally paid to the applicable Agents in accordance with Section 2.12(c).

ARTICLE III

[RESERVED]

ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
SECTION 4.1 Representations and Warranties of the SPV and the Servicer. Each of the SPV and the Servicer represents and

warrants to the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents and the Investors, as to itself, that, on the Closing Date, the Restatement
Date and, except with respect to Section 4.1(g), on each Investment Date and Reinvestment Date:

(a) Corporate Existence and Power. It (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the
Laws of Virginia and at all times shall remain a Virginia corporation, (ii) has all corporate power and all licenses, authorizations,
consents and approvals of all Official Bodies required to carry on its business in each jurisdiction in which its business is now and
proposed to be conducted (except where the failure to have any such licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals would not
individually or in the aggregate have a Material Adverse Effect) and (iii) is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in
every other jurisdiction in which the nature of its business requires it to be so qualified, except where the failure to be so qualified or
in good standing would not have a Material Adverse Effect.



(b) Corporate and Governmental Authorization; Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by it of this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party (i) are within its corporate powers, (ii) have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate and shareholder action, (iii) require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Official
Body or official thereof (except as contemplated by Sections 4.1(d), 6.1(p) and 7.7, all of which have been duly made and are in full
force and effect), (iv) do not contravene or constitute a default under (A) its articles of incorporation or bylaws, (B) any Law
applicable to it, (C) any contractual restriction binding on or affecting it or its property or (D) any order, writ, judgment, award,
injunction, decree or other instrument binding on or affecting it or its property, or (v) do not result in the creation or imposition of any
Adverse Claim upon or with respect to its property or the property of any of its Subsidiaries (except as contemplated hereby).

(c) Binding Effect. Each of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party has been duly
executed and delivered and constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms,
subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting the rights of creditors generally.

(d) Perfection. This Agreement creates a valid and continuing security interest (as defined in the applicable UCC) in the
Affected Assets in favor of the Administrative Agent (on behalf of the Investors), which security interest is prior to all other Adverse
Claims, and is enforceable against creditors of and purchasers from the SPV. The Receivables constitute “accounts” within the
meaning of the applicable UCC. The SPV owns and has good and marketable title to the Affected Assets free and clear of any
Adverse Claim of any Person. The SPV has caused the filing of all appropriate financing statements in the proper filing office in the
appropriate jurisdictions under applicable Law in order to perfect the security interest in the Affected Assets granted to the
Administrative Agent (on behalf of the Investors) hereunder. Other than the security interest granted to the Administrative Agent (on
behalf of the Investors) pursuant to this Agreement, the SPV has not pledged, assigned, sold, granted a security interest in, or
otherwise conveyed any of the Affected Assets. The SPV has not authorized the filing of and is not aware of any financing statements
against the SPV that include a description of collateral covering the Affected Assets other than any financing statement relating to the
security interest granted to the Administrative Agent (on behalf of the Investors) hereunder or that has been terminated. The SPV is
not aware of any judgment or tax lien filings against the SPV.

(e) Accuracy of Information. All written information heretofore furnished by it (including the Servicer Reports and its
financial statements) to any Investor, the Administrative Agent or any Managing Agent for purposes of or in connection with this
Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby is, and all such written information hereafter furnished by it to any Investor, the
Administrative Agent or any Managing Agent will be, true, complete and accurate in every material respect, on the date such
information is stated or certified, and no such item contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will
omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading.

(f) Tax Status. It has (i) to its knowledge after due inquiry, timely filed all tax returns (federal, state and local) required to
be filed, (ii) to its knowledge after due inquiry, paid or made adequate provision for the payment of all taxes, assessments and other
governmental charges and (iii) in the case of the SPV, treated the assignment and transfer of the Asset Interest hereunder as a
financing for federal and state income tax purposes.

(g) Action, Suits. It is not in violation of any order of Official Body or arbitrator. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.1(g),
there are no actions, suits, litigation or proceedings pending, or to its knowledge, threatened, against or affecting it or any of its
Affiliates or their respective properties, in or



before any Official Body or arbitrator, which, in the case of Servicer, may, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

(h) Use of Proceeds. In the case of the SPV, no proceeds of any Investment or Reinvestment will be used by it (i) to
acquire any security in any transaction which is subject to Section 13 or 14 of the Exchange Act, (ii) to acquire any equity security of
a class which is registered pursuant to Section 12 of such act or (iii) for any other purpose that violates applicable Law, including
Regulations G or U of the Federal Reserve Board.

(i) Principal Place of Business; Chief Executive Office; Location of Records. Its principal place of business, chief
executive office and the offices where it keeps all its Records, are located at the address(es) described on Schedule 4.1(i) or such
other locations notified to the Agents in accordance with Section 7.7 in jurisdictions where all action required by Section 7.7 has been
taken and completed.

(j) SPV Transactions and FEIN. In the case of the SPV, as of the Restatement Date: since the Closing Date, it has not
changed its name, merged with or into or consolidated with any other Person or been the subject of any proceeding under the
Bankruptcy Code. Schedule 4.1(j) lists the correct Federal Employer Identification Number of the SPV.

(k) Good Title. In the case of the SPV, upon each Investment and Reinvestment, the Administrative Agent shall acquire or
hold a valid and enforceable perfected first priority ownership interest or a first priority perfected security interest in each Receivable
and all other Affected Assets that exist on the date of such Investment or Reinvestment, with respect thereto, free and clear of any
Adverse Claim.

(l) Nature of Receivables. Each Receivable (i) represented by the SPV or the Servicer to be an Eligible Receivable in any
Servicer Report or (ii) included in the calculation of the Net Pool Balance, in fact satisfies at such time the definition of “Eligible
Receivable” set forth herein. Neither the SPV nor the Servicer has knowledge of any fact (including any defaults by the Obligor
thereunder on any other Receivable) that would cause it or should have caused it to expect any payments on such Receivable not to
be paid in full when due or that is reasonably likely to cause or result in any other Material Adverse Effect with respect to such
Receivable.

(m) Coverage Requirement. In the case of the SPV, the sum of the Net Investment, plus the Required Reserves does not
exceed the Net Pool Balance.

(n) Credit and Collection Policy. Since December 31, 2006, there have been no changes in the Credit and Collection
Policy that have or are reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. Since such date, no changes have occurred in the overall
rate of collection of the Receivables that have or are reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. Each of the SPV and the
Servicer has at all times complied with the Credit and Collection Policy with regard to each Receivable, except where the failure to so
comply is not reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(o) Material Adverse Effect. Since December 31, 2006, there has been no Material Adverse
Effect.

(p) No Termination Event. To its knowledge after due inquiry in the case of the SPV, no event has occurred and is
continuing and no condition exists, or would result from any Investment or Reinvestment or from the application of the proceeds
therefrom, which constitutes or may reasonably be expected to constitute a Termination Event or a Potential Termination Event.



(q) Not an Investment Company. It is not, and is not controlled by, an “investment company” within the meaning of the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or is exempt from all provisions of such act, and the SPV has not relied exclusively
on either or both of Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, for an exception from the
definition of “investment company”.

(r) ERISA. To its knowledge after due inquiry, no steps have been taken by any Person to terminate any Pension Plan the
assets of which are not sufficient to satisfy all of its benefit liabilities (as determined under Title IV of ERISA), no contribution
failure has occurred with respect to any Pension Plan sufficient to give rise to a lien under Section 302(f) of ERISA, and each Pension
Plan has been administered in all material respects in compliance with its terms and applicable provision of ERISA and the Code.

(s) Blocked Accounts. The names and addresses of all the Blocked Account Banks, together with the account numbers of
the Blocked Accounts at such Blocked Account Banks, are specified in Schedule 4.1(s) (or at such other Blocked Account Banks
and/or with such other Blocked Accounts as have been notified to the Administrative Agent and for which Blocked Account
Agreements have been executed in accordance with Section 7.3 and delivered to the Servicer). All Blocked Accounts are subject to
Blocked Account Agreements. All Obligors have been instructed to make payment to a Blocked Account and only Collections are
deposited into the Blocked Accounts.

(t) Bulk Sales. In the case of the SPV, no transaction contemplated hereby or by the First Tier Agreement requires
compliance with any bulk sales act or similar Law.

(u) Transfers Under First Tier Agreement. In the case of the SPV, each Receivable has been purchased by it from the
Originator pursuant to, and in accordance with, the terms of the First Tier Agreement.

(v) Preference; Voidability. In the case of the SPV, it shall have given reasonably equivalent value to the Originator in
consideration for the transfer to it of the Affected Assets from the Originator, and each such transfer shall not have been made for or
on account of an antecedent debt owed by the Originator to it and no such transfer is or may be voidable under any section of the
Bankruptcy Code.

(w) Nonconsolidation. The SPV is operated in such a manner that the separate corporate existence of the SPV, on the one
hand, and the Originator, NSC or any Affiliate of either the Originator or NSC, on the other, would not be disregarded in the event of
the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Originator, NSC or any Affiliate of either the Originator or NSC and, without limiting the
generality of the foregoing:

(xii) the SPV is a limited purpose corporation whose activities are restricted in its articles of incorporation to
activities related to purchasing or otherwise acquiring receivables (including the Receivables) and related assets and rights
and conducting any related or incidental business or activities it deems necessary or appropriate to carry out its primary
purpose, including entering into agreements like the Transaction Documents;

(xiii) the SPV has not engaged, and does not presently engage, in any activity other than those activities expressly
permitted hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents, nor has the SPV entered into any agreement other than this
Agreement, the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, and with the prior written consent of the Managing
Agents and



the Administrative Agent, any other agreement necessary to carry out more effectively the provisions and purposes hereof or
thereof;

(xiv) (A) the SPV maintains its own deposit account or accounts, separate from those of any of its Affiliates, with
commercial banking institutions, (B) the funds of the SPV are not and have not been diverted to any other Person or for other
than the corporate use of the SPV and
(C) except as may be expressly permitted by this Agreement, the funds of the SPV are not and have not been commingled
with those of any of its Affiliates;

(xv) to the extent that the SPV contracts or does business with vendors or service providers where the goods and
services provided are partially for the benefit of any other Person, the costs incurred in so doing are fairly allocated to or
among the SPV and such entities for whose benefit the goods and services are provided, and each of the SPV and each such
entity bears its fair share of such costs; and all material transactions between the SPV and any of its Affiliates shall be only
on an arm’s-length basis;

(xvi) the SPV maintains a principal executive and administrative office through which its business is conducted and
a telephone number and stationery through which all business correspondence and communication are conducted, in each
case separate from those of the Originator, NSC and their Affiliates;

(xvii) the SPV conducts its affairs strictly in accordance with its articles of incorporation and observes all necessary,
appropriate and customary corporate formalities, including (A) holding all regular and special stockholders’ and directors’
meetings appropriate to authorize all corporate action (which, in the case of regular stockholders’ and directors’ meetings, are
held at least annually), (B) keeping separate and accurate minutes of such meetings, (C) passing all resolutions or consents
necessary to authorize actions taken or to be taken, and (D) maintaining accurate and separate books, records and accounts,
including intercompany transaction accounts;

(xviii) all decisions with respect to its business and daily operations are independently made by the SPV (although
the officer making any particular decision may also be an employee, officer or director of an Affiliate of the SPV) and are not
dictated by any Affiliate of the SPV (it being understood that the Servicer, which is an Affiliate of the SPV, will undertake
and perform all of the operations, functions and obligations of it set forth herein and it may appoint Sub-Servicers, which
may be Affiliates of the SPV, to perform certain of such operations, functions and obligations);

(xix) the SPV acts solely in its own corporate name and through its own authorized officers and agents, and no
Affiliate of the SPV shall be appointed to act as its agent, except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement;

(xx) no Affiliate of the SPV advances funds to the SPV, other than as is otherwise provided herein or in the other
Transaction Documents, and no Affiliate of the SPV otherwise supplies funds to, or guaranties debts of, the SPV; provided,
however, that an Affiliate of the SPV may provide funds to the SPV in connection with the capitalization of the SPV;

(xxi) other than organizational expenses and as expressly provided herein, the SPV pays all expenses, indebtedness
and other obligations incurred by it;



(xxii) the SPV does not guarantee, and is not otherwise liable, with respect to any obligation of any of its Affiliates;

(xxiii) any financial reports required of the SPV comply with generally accepted accounting principles and are issued
separately from, but may be consolidated with, any reports prepared for any of its Affiliates;

(xxiv) at all times the SPV is adequately capitalized to engage in the transactions contemplated in its articles of
incorporation;

(xxv) the financial statements and books and records of the SPV, NSC and the Originator reflect the separate
corporate existence of the SPV;

(xxvi) the SPV does not act as agent for the Originator, NSC or any Affiliate of either the Originator or NSC, but
instead presents itself to the public as a corporation separate from each such member and independently engaged in the
business of purchasing and financing Receivables;

(xxvii)the SPV maintains a three-person board of directors, including at least one Independent Director, who is
reasonably acceptable to the Managing Agents and the Administrative Agent; and

(xxviii) the bylaws or the articles of incorporation of the SPV require (i) the affirmative vote of the
independent director before a voluntary petition under Section 301 of the Bankruptcy Code may be filed by the SPV, and (ii)
the SPV to maintain correct and complete books and records of account and minutes of the meetings and other proceedings
of its stockholders and board of directors.

(x) Representations and Warranties in other Related Documents. In the case of the SPV, each of the representations and
warranties made by it contained in the Transaction Documents (other than this Agreement) is true, complete and correct in all
respects and it hereby makes each such representation and warranty to, and for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent, the
Managing Agents and the Investors as if the same were set forth in full herein.

(y) No Servicer Default. In the case of the Servicer, to its knowledge after due inquiry no event has occurred and is
continuing and no condition exists, or would result from a purchase in respect of, or Reinvestment in respect of the Asset Interest,
any Investment or from the application of the proceeds therefrom, which constitutes or may reasonably be expected to constitute a
Servicer Default.

(z) Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions. Policies and procedures have been implemented and maintained by or on its
behalf that are designed to achieve compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions by it and its Subsidiaries (if any),
directors, officers, employees and agents, giving due regard to the nature of such Person’s business and activities, and it and its
Subsidiaries (if any), and its officers and employees acting in any capacity in connection with or directly benefitting from the
transactions contemplated hereby, are in compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions, in each case in all material
respects. Neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries (if any) nor, to its knowledge, any of its directors, officers, employees, or agents that
will act in any capacity in connection with or directly benefit from the transactions contemplated hereby, is a Sanctioned Person.
Neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries (if any) is organized or resident in a Sanctioned Country to the extent a violation



of Sanctions would result. No Investment or Reinvestment or use of proceeds thereof by the SPV will in any manner violate Anti-
Corruption Laws or applicable Sanctions.

(aa) Beneficial Ownership Rule. As of the Restatement Date, the SPV is an entity that is organized under the Laws of the
United States or of any state and at least 51 percent of whose common stock or analogous equity interest is owned (directly or
indirectly) by an entity (other than a bank) whose common stock or analogous equity interests are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange or the American Stock Exchange or have been designated as a NASDAQ National Market Security listed on the NASDAQ
stock exchange and is excluded on that basis from the definition of Legal Entity Customer as defined in the Beneficial Ownership
Rule.

SECTION 4.2 Additional Representations and Warranties of the Servicer. The Servicer represents and warrants on the
Closing Date and the Restatement Date and on each Investment Date and Reinvestment Date to the Administrative Agent, the
Managing Agents and the Investors, which representation and warranty shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement,
that each of the representations and warranties of the Servicer (whether made by the Servicer in its capacity as the Originator or as the
Servicer) contained in any Transaction Document is true, complete and correct and, if made by the Servicer in its capacity as the
Originator, applies with equal force to the Servicer in its capacity as the Servicer, and the Servicer hereby makes each such
representation and warranty to, and for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents and the Investors as if the same
were set forth in full herein.

ARTICLE V CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

SECTION 5.1 Conditions Precedent to Restatement. The occurrence of the Restatement Date and the effectiveness of the
Commitments hereunder shall be subject to the conditions precedent that (i) the SPV or the Originator shall have paid in full (A) all
amounts required to be paid by either of them on or prior to the Restatement Date pursuant to the Fee Letter and (B) the fees and
expenses described in clause (i) of Section 9.4 and invoiced prior to the Restatement Date, and (ii) the Administrative Agent shall
have received, for itself and each of the Investors and the Administrative Agent’s counsel, an original (unless otherwise indicated) of
each of the documents listed on the list of restatement documents attached as Schedule III, each in form and substance satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 5.2 Conditions Precedent to All Investments and Reinvestments. Each Investment and Reinvestment hereunder
(including the initial Investment) shall be subject to the conditions precedent that (i) the Closing Date shall have occurred, (ii) for any
Investment or Reinvestment on or after the Restatement Date, the Restatement Date shall have occurred, (iii) the Administrative
Agent shall have received such approvals, documents, instruments, certificates and opinions as the Administrative Agent, any
Managing Agent or any Investor, may reasonably request, and
(iv) on the date of such Investment or Reinvestment the following statements shall be true (and the SPV by accepting the amount of
such Investment or Reinvestment shall be deemed to have certified that):

(a) The representations and warranties contained in Section 4.1 (other than Section 4.1(g)) and Section 4.2 are true,
complete and correct on and as of such day as though made on and as of such day and shall be deemed to have been made on such
day;



(b) In the case of a Reinvestment, the amount of the Reinvestment will not exceed the amount available therefor under
Section 2.12(a)(iii), and in the case of an Investment, the amount of such Investment will not exceed the amount available therefor
under Section 2.2 and after giving effect thereto, the sum of the Net Investment and the Required Reserves will not exceed the Net
Pool Balance;

(c) In the case of an Investment the Managing Agents shall have received an Investment Request, appropriately
completed, within the time period required by Section 2.3;

(d) In the case of an Investment, the Servicer shall have delivered to the Managing Agents the most recent Servicer Report
due under Section 2.8 and the information set forth therein shall be true, complete and correct; and

(e) Neither the Termination Date nor the Purchase Termination Date has occurred.

ARTICLE VI COVENANTS

SECTION 6.1 Affirmative Covenants of the SPV and Servicer. At all times from the Closing Date to the Final Payout Date,
unless the Administrative Agent shall otherwise consent in writing:

(a) Reporting Requirements. The SPV shall maintain, for itself and each of its Subsidiaries, a system of accounting
established and administered in accordance with GAAP, and the SPV and the Servicer shall furnish to the Administrative Agent and
the Managing Agents:

(iv) Annual Reporting. Within ninety (90) days after the close of the SPV’s, NSC’s and the Originator’s fiscal
years, (A) audited financial statements, prepared by a nationally-recognized accounting firm in accordance with GAAP on a
consolidated basis for NSC and its Subsidiaries accompanied by an unqualified audit report certified by independent certified
public accountants, acceptable to the Administrative Agent, prepared in accordance with GAAP, and (B) unaudited financial
statements for the SPV. In each case, such financial statements shall include balance sheets as of the end of such period,
related statements of operations, shareholder’s equity and cash flows.

(v) Quarterly Reporting. Within forty-five (45) days after the close of each of the first three quarterly periods of
each of the SPV’s and NSC’s fiscal years, for (A) the SPV and (B) NSC and its Subsidiaries, in each case, consolidated
unaudited balance sheets as at the close of each such period and consolidated related statements of operations, shareholder’s
equity and cash flows for the period from the beginning of such fiscal year to the end of such quarter, all certified by its chief
financial officer.

(vi) Compliance Certificate. Together with the financial statements required hereunder, a compliance certificate
signed by the SPV’s or NSC’s, as applicable, chief financial officer stating that (A) the attached financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with GAAP and accurately reflect the financial condition of the SPV, NSC and its Subsidiaries
as applicable and (B) to the best of such Person’s knowledge, no Termination Event or Potential Termination Event exists, or
if any Termination Event or Potential Termination Event exists, stating the nature and status thereof.



(vii) Shareholders Statements and Reports. Promptly upon the furnishing thereof to the shareholders of the SPV or
NSC, copies of all financial statements, reports and proxy statements so furnished.

(viii) SEC and STB Filings. Promptly upon the sending or filing thereof, copies of each report on Form R-1 which
the Originator, NSC or any Subsidiary of the Originator or NSC or such Person sends to the STB, and any copies of all
registration statements and annual, quarterly, monthly or other regular reports which the Originator, NSC or any Subsidiary
of the Originator or NSC or such Person files with the SEC.

(ix) Notice of Termination Events or Potential Termination Events; Etc. (A) As soon as possible and in any event
within two (2) Business Days after the SPV or the Servicer has knowledge of the occurrence of a Termination Event or
Potential Termination Event, a statement of the chief financial officer or chief accounting officer of the SPV setting forth
details of such Termination Event or Potential Termination Event and the action which the SPV proposes to take with respect
thereto, which information shall be updated promptly from time to time; (B) promptly after the SPV or the Servicer obtains
knowledge thereof, notice of any litigation, investigation or proceeding that may exist at any time between the SPV or the
Servicer and any Person that may result in a Material Adverse Effect or any litigation or proceeding relating to any
Transaction Document; and (C) promptly after the SPV or the Servicer has knowledge of the occurrence thereof, notice of a
Material Adverse Effect.

(x) Change in Credit and Collection Policy and Debt Ratings. Within ten (10) Business Days after the date any
material change in or amendment to the Credit and Collection Policy is made, a copy of the Credit and Collection Policy then
in effect indicating such change or amendment. Within five (5) days after the date of any change in NSC’s public or private
debt ratings, if any, a written certification of NSC’s public and private debt ratings after giving effect to any such change.

(xi) Credit and Collection Policy. Within thirty (30) days after the close of each of the Originator’s and the SPV’s
fiscal years, a complete copy of the Credit and Collection Policy then in effect, if requested by the Administrative Agent.

(xii) ERISA. Promptly after the filing, giving or receiving thereof, copies of all reports and notices with respect to
any Reportable Event pertaining to any Pension Plan and copies of any notice by any Person of its intent to terminate any
Pension Plan, and promptly upon the occurrence thereof, written notice of any contribution failure with respect to any Pension
Plan sufficient to give rise to a lien under Section 302(f) of ERISA.

(xiii) Change in Accountants or Accounting Policy. Promptly, notice of any change in the accountants or accounting
policy of the SPV, NSC or the Originator.

(xiv) Other Information. Such other information (including non-financial information) as the Administrative Agent
or any Managing Agent may from time to time reasonably request with respect to the Originator, NSC, the SPV or any
Subsidiary of the Originator or NSC.

(xv) Availability of Information on SEC Website. Notwithstanding the foregoing, information required to be
delivered pursuant to Sections 6.1(a)(i), (ii), (iv) and (v) shall be deemed delivered at such time as such information is
publicly available at no charge at



www.sec.gov and written notice of posting thereto has been delivered to the Administrative Agent and the Managing Agents.

(xvi) Appointment of Independent Director. Not less than ten (10) days prior to the effective date of appointment,
written notice of its decision to appoint a new director of the SPV as the “Independent Director” for purposes of this
Agreement, which shall certify that the designated Person satisfies the criteria set forth in the definition herein of
“Independent Director”.

(b) Conduct of Business; Ownership. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall, and the Servicer shall cause each of its
Subsidiaries to, carry on and conduct its business in substantially the same manner and in substantially the same fields of enterprise
as it is presently conducted and do all things necessary to remain duly organized, validly existing and in good standing as a domestic
corporation in its jurisdiction of incorporation and maintain all requisite authority to conduct its business in each jurisdiction in which
its business is conducted, except with respect to the Servicer and each of its Subsidiaries only, where the failure to so comply is
reasonably likely not to have a Material Adverse Effect. The SPV shall at all times be a wholly-owned Subsidiary of NSC.

(c) Compliance with Laws, Etc. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall, and the Servicer shall cause each of its
Subsidiaries to, comply with all Laws to which it or its respective properties may be subject and preserve and maintain its corporate
existence, rights, franchises, qualifications and privileges, except with respect to the Servicer and each of its Subsidiaries only, where
the failure to so comply is reasonably likely not to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(d) Furnishing of Information and Inspection of Records. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall furnish to each Agent
from time to time such information with respect to the Affected Assets as any Agent may reasonably request, including listings
identifying the Obligor and the Unpaid Balance for each Receivable. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall, at any time and from
time to time during regular business hours, as requested by the Administrative Agent or any Managing Agent, permit any Agent, or its
agents or representatives, (i) to examine and make copies of and take abstracts from all books, records and documents (including
computer tapes and disks) relating to the Receivables or other Affected Assets, including the related Contracts and (ii) to visit the
offices and properties of the SPV, the Originator or the Servicer, as applicable, for the purpose of examining such materials described
in clause (i), and to discuss matters relating to the Affected Assets or the SPV’s, the Originator’s or the Servicer’s performance
hereunder, under the Contracts and under the other Transaction Documents to which such Person is a party with any of the officers,
directors, employees or independent public accountants of the SPV, the Originator or the Servicer, as applicable, having knowledge of
such matters. Unless either (i) a Termination Event shall have occurred and be continuing at the time an audit is requested by the
Administrative Agent, or (ii) an audit of the SPV and the Servicer conducted by the Administrative Agent during any calendar year
has not produced audit results reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, neither the SPV nor the Servicer shall be required
to reimburse the Administrative Agent or any of the Investors for the fees, costs or expenses in respect of more than one audit by a
third party accounting or auditing firm engaged by the Administrative Agent during any calendar year.

(e) Keeping of Records and Books of Account. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall maintain and implement
administrative and operating procedures (including an ability to recreate records evidencing Receivables and related Contracts in the
event of the destruction of the originals thereof), and keep and maintain, all documents, books, computer tapes, disks, records and
other information reasonably necessary or advisable for the collection of all Receivables (including records adequate to permit the
daily identification of each new Receivable and all Collections of and adjustments to each existing Receivable). Each of the SPV and
the Servicer shall give the Administrative Agent prompt



notice of any material change in its administrative and operating procedures referred to in the previous sentence.

(f) Performance and Compliance with Receivables and Contracts and Credit and Collection Policy. Each of the SPV and
the Servicer shall, (i) at its own expense, timely and fully perform and comply with all material provisions, covenants and other
promises required to be observed by it under the Contracts and tariffs related to the Receivables and under the rules and regulations of
the STB, the rules of the AAR and the Procedures; and (ii) timely and fully comply in all material respects with the Credit and
Collection Policy in regard to each Receivable and the related Contract.

(g) Notice of Administrative Agent’s Interest. In the event that the SPV, NSC or the Originator shall sell or otherwise
transfer any interest in accounts receivable or any other financial assets (other than as contemplated by the Transaction Documents),
any computer tapes or files or other documents or instruments provided by the Servicer in connection with any such sale or transfer
shall disclose the SPV’s ownership of the Receivables and the Administrative Agent’s interest therein.

(h) Collections. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall instruct all Obligors to cause all Collections to be deposited
directly to a Blocked Account or to post office boxes to which only Blocked Account Banks have access and shall cause all items and
amounts relating to such Collections received in such post office boxes to be removed and deposited into a Blocked Account on a
daily basis.

(i) Collections Received. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall hold in trust, and deposit, immediately, but in any event
not later than forty-eight (48) hours after its receipt thereof, to a Blocked Account, all Collections received by it from time to time.

(j) Blocked Accounts. Each Blocked Account shall at all times be subject to a Blocked Account Agreement.

(k) Sale Treatment. The SPV shall account for and otherwise treat the transactions contemplated by the First Tier
Agreement as sales of the Receivables and the other Affected Assets by the Originator to the SPV. In addition, the SPV shall disclose
(in a footnote or otherwise) in all of its financial statements (including any such financial statements consolidated with any other
Persons’ financial statements) the existence and nature of the transaction contemplated hereby and by the First Tier Agreement and
the interest of the SPV (in the case of the Originator’s and NSC’s financial statements) and the Agents, on behalf of the Investors, in
the Affected Assets.

(l) Separate Business; Nonconsolidation. The SPV shall not (i) engage in any business not permitted by its articles of
incorporation or bylaws as in effect on the Closing Date, as such articles of incorporation and bylaws may be amended in accordance
with Section 6.1(m), or (ii) conduct its business or act in any other manner which is inconsistent with Section 4.1(w). The officers and
directors of the SPV (as appropriate) shall make decisions with respect to the business and daily operations of the SPV independent of
and not dictated by Originator, NSC or any other controlling Person.

(m) Corporate Documents. The SPV shall only amend, alter, change or repeal its articles of incorporation with the prior
written consent of the Agents.

(n) Change in Accountants or Accounting Policies. The Servicer shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent of any
change in its accountants or accounting policy.

(o) Enforcement of First Tier Agreement. The SPV, on its own behalf and on behalf of the Administrative Agent and each
Investor, shall promptly enforce all covenants and obligations of the



Originator contained in the First Tier Agreement. The SPV shall deliver consents, approvals, directions, notices, waivers and take
other actions under the First Tier Agreement as may be directed by the Administrative Agent.

(p) Ownership Interest, Etc. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall take all necessary action to (i) vest legal and equitable
title to the Receivables, the Related Security and the Collections purchased under the First Tier Agreement irrevocably in the SPV,
free and clear of any Adverse Claims other than Adverse Claims in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Investors
(including, without limitation, the filing of all financing statements or other similar instruments or documents necessary under the
UCC (or any comparable Law) of all appropriate jurisdictions to perfect the SPV’s interest in such Affected Asset and such other
action to perfect, protect or more fully evidence the interest of the SPV therein as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request),
and (ii) establish and maintain, in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Investors, a valid and perfected first
priority undivided percentage ownership interest (and/or a valid and perfected first priority security interest) in all Affected Assets to
the full extent contemplated herein, free and clear of any Adverse Claims other than Adverse Claims in favor of the Administrative
Agent for the benefit of the Investors (including, without limitation, the filing of all financing statements or other similar instruments
or documents necessary under the UCC (or any comparable Law) of all appropriate jurisdictions to perfect the Administrative Agent’s
(for the benefit of the Investors) interest in such Affected Assets and such other action to perfect, protect or more fully evidence the
interest of the Administrative Agent therein for the benefit of the Investors as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request).

(q) Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall maintain and enforce or cause to be
maintained and enforced on its behalf policies and procedures that are designed in good faith and in a commercially reasonable
manner to promote and achieve, in its reasonable judgment, compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions by it
and each of its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents, in each case giving due regard to the nature
of such Person’s business and activities.

(r) Beneficial Ownership Rule. Promptly following any change that would result in a change to the status as an excluded
Legal Entity Customer under the Beneficial Ownership Rule, the SPV shall execute and deliver to each Agent an updated
Certification of Beneficial Owner(s) complying with the Beneficial Ownership Rule.

SECTION 6.2    Negative Covenants of the SPV and Servicer. At all times from the Closing Date to the Final Payout Date,
unless the Administrative Agent shall otherwise consent in writing:

(a) No Sales, Liens, Etc. (i) Except as otherwise provided herein and in the First Tier Agreement, neither the SPV nor the
Servicer shall, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, assign (by operation of Law or otherwise) or otherwise dispose of, or
create or suffer to exist any Adverse Claim upon (or the filing of any financing statement) or with respect to (A) any of the Affected
Assets, or (B) any inventory or goods, the sale of which may give rise to a Receivable, or assign any right to receive income in respect
thereof and (ii) the SPV shall not issue any security to, or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its property or other assets
(including the property sold to it by the Originator under Section 2.1 of the First Tier Agreement) to, any Person other than an
Affiliate (which Affiliate is not a special purpose entity organized for the sole purpose of issuing asset backed securities) or as
otherwise expressly provided for in the Transaction Documents.



(b) No Extension or Amendment of Receivables. Except as otherwise permitted in Section 7.2, neither the SPV nor the
Servicer shall extend, amend or otherwise modify the terms of any Receivable, or amend, modify or waive any term or condition of
any Contract related thereto.

(c) No Change in Business or Credit and Collection Policy. Neither the SPV nor the Servicer shall make any change in the
character of its business or in the Credit and Collection Policy, which change would, in either case, impair the collectibility of any
Receivable or otherwise have a Material Adverse Effect, or alter any of the accounting procedures governing any of the accounts
described on Schedule I; provided that the SPV or the Servicer may alter the accounting procedures governing any of the accounts
described on Schedule I without the consent of any of the Investors or the Agents if (i) such alteration would neither (x) diminish,
modify or otherwise adversely affect the interests of the Investors or the Agents in the Receivables or the type of such Receivables
taken as a whole, nor
(y) alter in any material respect the results of any calculation or determination required to be made in any Servicer Report and (ii)
immediately after giving effect to such alteration, the aggregate Unpaid Balance of the Receivables would remain unchanged. In the
case of any such alteration which consists of a change in the identity of any such account (including any division of any such account
into two or more accounts or the consolidation of one or more of such accounts into a single account), the Servicer shall provide
written notice of such alteration to the Agents as soon as reasonably practical after the effectiveness thereof, which notice shall
specify the identity of the successor account(s) to be used for purposes of the respective definitions of “Day Sales Outstanding,”
“Gross-Up Factor,” “Interline Payable,” “Interline Receivable” and “Receivable” (as applicable) (it being understood that, so long as
such alteration is made in compliance with this proviso, such definitions shall be deemed modified to reflect such change in account
identity effective as of the date of such change and without any further action by the parties hereto).

(d) No Subsidiaries, Mergers, Etc. Neither the SPV nor the Servicer shall consolidate or merge with or into, or sell, lease
or transfer all or substantially all of its assets to, any other Person, unless in the case of any such action by the Servicer (i) no
Termination Event or Material Adverse Effect would occur or be reasonably likely to occur as a result of such transaction, and (i)
such Person executes and delivers to the Administrative Agent and each Investor an agreement by which such Person assumes the
obligations of the Servicer hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, or confirms that such
obligations remain enforceable against it, together with such certificates and opinions of counsel as the Administrative Agent or any
Investor may reasonably request. The SPV shall not form or create any Subsidiary.

(e) Change in Payment Instructions to Obligors. Neither the SPV nor the Servicer shall add or terminate any bank as a
Blocked Account Bank or any account as a Blocked Account to or from those listed in Schedule 4.1(s) or make any change in its
instructions to Obligors regarding payments to be made to any Blocked Account, unless (i) such instructions are to deposit such
payments to another existing Blocked Account or (ii) the Administrative Agent shall have received written notice of such addition,
termination or change at least thirty (30) days prior thereto and the Administrative Agent shall have received a Blocked Account
Agreement executed by each new Blocked Account Bank or an existing Blocked Account Bank with respect to each new Blocked
Account, as applicable.

(f) Deposits to Blocked Accounts. Neither the SPV nor the Servicer shall deposit or otherwise credit, or cause or permit
to be so deposited or credited, to any Blocked Account cash or cash proceeds other than Collections and any amounts relating to
Excluded Receivables and such other de minimis amounts as may from time to time be erroneously deposited therein.

(g) Change of Name, Etc. The SPV shall not (i) make any change to its name (within the meaning of Section 9-507(c) of
any applicable enactment of the UCC), identity, corporate structure or



chief executive office or location of books and records unless, at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of any such name
change, change in corporate structure, or change in location of its chief executive office or books and records the SPV notifies the
Administrative Agent thereof and delivers to the Administrative Agent such financing statements (Forms UCC-1 and UCC-3)
authorized or executed by the SPV (if required under applicable Law) which the Administrative Agent may reasonably request to
reflect such name change, location change, or change in corporate structure, together with such other documents and instruments that
the Administrative Agent may reasonably request in connection therewith and has taken all other steps to ensure that the
Administrative Agent, for the benefit of itself and the Investors, continues to have a first priority, perfected ownership or security
interest in the Affected Assets and the Collections thereon, or (ii) change its jurisdiction of organization unless the Administrative
Agent shall have received from the SPV, prior to such change, (A) those items described in clause (i) hereof, and (B) if the
Administrative Agent or any Investor shall so request, an opinion of counsel, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to such
Person, as to such organization and the SPV’s valid existence and good standing and the perfection and priority of the Administrative
Agent’s ownership or security interest in the Affected Assets and Collections.

(h) Amendment to First Tier Agreement. The SPV shall not amend, modify, or supplement the First Tier Agreement or
waive any provision thereof, in each case except with the prior written consent of each Agent; nor shall the SPV take, or permit the
Originator to take, any other action under the First Tier Agreement that could have a Material Adverse Effect on any Agent or any
Investor or which is inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

(i) Other Debt. Except as provided herein, the SPV shall not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any indebtedness
whether current or funded, or any other liability other than (i) indebtedness of the SPV representing fees, expenses and indemnities
arising hereunder or under the Intercompany Line of Credit for the purchase price of the Receivables and other Affected Assets under
the First Tier Agreement, and (ii) other indebtedness incurred in the ordinary course of its business in an amount not to exceed $9,500
at any time outstanding.

(j) Payment to the Originator. The SPV shall not acquire any Receivable other than through, under, and pursuant to the
terms of, the First Tier Agreement by payment by the SPV either in cash or by increase in the amount of the subordinated
indebtedness owed by the SPV to NSC pursuant to the Intercompany Line of Credit.

(k) Restricted Payments. The SPV shall not (A) purchase or redeem any shares of its capital stock, (B) prepay, purchase or
redeem any Indebtedness (other than as specifically permitted hereunder),
(C) lend or advance any funds or (D) repay any loans or advances to, for or from any of its Affiliates (the amounts described in
clauses (A) through (D) being referred to as “Restricted Payments”), except that the SPV may make (1) Restricted Payments under
clause (A) or (B) of the definition thereof out of funds received pursuant to Section 2.2 and (2) Restricted Payments under clause (A)
or (B) of the definition thereof (including the payment of dividends) from other funds if, after giving effect thereto, no Termination
Event or Potential Termination Event shall have occurred and be continuing.

(l) Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions. The SPV shall not request any Investment, and it shall not use, and shall not
permit its directors, officers, employees and agents to use, the proceeds of any Investment or Reinvestment, and the Servicer
(including in its capacity as Originator) shall not use, and shall not permit its Subsidiaries or its or their respective directors, officers,
employees and agents to use, the proceeds of any Investment or Reinvestment, in each case, (A) in furtherance of an offer, payment,
promise to pay, or authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-
Corruption Laws, (B) for the purpose of funding or financing any activities, business or transaction of or with any Sanctioned Person,
or in any Sanctioned Country, in



each case to the extent doing so would violate any applicable Sanctions, or (C) in any other manner that would result in violation of
any Sanctions by any Person party hereto.

(m) Removal of Independent Director. The SPV shall not remove or permit the removal of the Independent Director
without Cause.

ARTICLE VII ADMINISTRATION AND COLLECTIONS

SECTION 7.1    Appointment of Servicer.

(a) The servicing, administering and collection of the Receivables shall be conducted by the Person (the “Servicer”) so
designated from time to time as Servicer in accordance with this Section 7.1. Each of the SPV, the Administrative Agent and the
Investors hereby appoints as its agent the Servicer, from time to time designated pursuant to this Section, to enforce its respective
rights and interests in and under the Affected Assets. To the extent permitted by applicable Law, each of the SPV, NSC and the
Originator (to the extent not then acting as Servicer hereunder) hereby grants to any Servicer appointed hereunder an irrevocable
power of attorney to take any and all steps in the SPV’s, NSC’s and/or the Originator’s name and on behalf of the SPV, NSC or the
Originator as necessary or desirable, in the reasonable determination of the Servicer, to collect all amounts due under any and all
Receivables, including endorsing the SPV’s, NSC’s and/or the Originator’s name on checks and other instruments representing
Collections and enforcing such Receivables and the related Contracts and to take all such other actions set forth in this Article VII.
Until the Administrative Agent gives notice to the Originator (in accordance with this Section 7.1) of the designation of a new
Servicer, the Originator is hereby designated as, and hereby agrees to perform the duties and obligations of, the Servicer pursuant to
the terms hereof. Upon the occurrence of a Remedy Event, the Administrative Agent may, and upon the direction of the Majority
Investors shall, designate as Servicer any Person (including itself) to succeed the Originator or any successor Servicer, on the
condition in each case that any such Person so designated shall agree to perform the duties and obligations of the Servicer pursuant to
the terms hereof.

(b) Upon the designation of a successor Servicer as set forth above, the Originator agrees that it will terminate its
activities as Servicer hereunder in a manner which the Administrative Agent determines will facilitate the transition of the
performance of such activities to the new Servicer, and the Originator shall cooperate with and assist such new Servicer. Such
cooperation shall include access to and transfer of records and use by the new Servicer of all records, licenses, hardware or software
necessary or desirable to collect the Receivables and the Related Security.

(c) The Originator acknowledges that the SPV, the Administrative Agent and the Investors have relied on the Originator’s
agreement to act as Servicer hereunder in making their decision to execute and deliver this Agreement. Accordingly, the Originator
agrees that it will not voluntarily resign as Servicer.

(d) The Servicer may delegate its duties and obligations hereunder to any Affiliate subservicer (each, a “Sub-Servicer”);
provided that, in each such delegation, (i) such Sub-Servicer shall agree in writing to perform the duties and obligations of the
Servicer pursuant to the terms hereof, (ii) the Servicer shall remain primarily liable to the SPV, the Agents and the Investors for the
performance of the duties and obligations so delegated, (iii) the Originator, NSC, the SPV, the Agents and the Investors shall have the
right to look solely to the Servicer for performance and (iv) the terms of any agreement with any Sub-Servicer shall provide that the
Administrative Agent may terminate such agreement upon the



termination of the Servicer hereunder by giving notice of its desire to terminate such agreement to the Servicer (and the Servicer shall
provide appropriate notice to such Sub-Servicer).

(e) The Originator hereby irrevocably agrees that if at any time it shall cease to be the Servicer hereunder, it shall act (if
the then current Servicer so requests) as the data-processing agent of the Servicer and, in such capacity, the Originator shall conduct
the data-processing functions of the administration of the Receivables and the Collections thereon in substantially the same way that
the Originator conducted such data-processing functions while it acted as the Servicer.

SECTION 7.2    Duties of Servicer.

(a) The Servicer shall take or cause to be taken all such action as may be necessary or advisable to collect each Receivable
from time to time, all in accordance with this Agreement and all applicable Law, with reasonable care and diligence, and in
accordance with the Credit and Collection Policy. The Servicer shall set aside (and, if applicable, segregate) and hold in trust for the
accounts of the SPV, the Administrative Agent and the Investors the amount of the Collections to which each is entitled in accordance
with Article II. Except in accordance with and as expressly stated in the Credit and Collection Policy, the Servicer shall not extend the
maturity of any Receivable or, except for customary dilutive adjustments, adjust the Unpaid Balance of any Defaulted Receivable.
The SPV shall deliver to the Servicer and the Servicer shall hold in trust for the SPV and the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the
Investors, in accordance with their respective interests, all Records which evidence or relate to any Affected Asset. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, following the occurrence of a Remedy Event, the Administrative Agent shall have the
absolute and unlimited right to direct the Servicer (whether the Originator or any other Person is the Servicer) to commence or settle
any legal action to enforce collection of any Receivable or to foreclose upon or repossess any Affected Asset. The Servicer shall not
make any Managing Agent, the Administrative Agent or any of the Investors a party to any litigation without the prior written consent
of such Person. At any time following the occurrence of a Remedy Event, the Administrative Agent may notify any Obligor of its
interest in the Receivables and the other Affected Assets. The Servicer shall notify the Administrative Agent if the Servicer needs to
commence any legal proceeding to collect on a Guaranteed Receivable, and the Administrative Agent shall have the option to require
that the Servicer, in order to maximize collections on such Guaranteed Receivable, purchase such Guaranteed Receivable from the
Administrative Agent for a purchase price equal to the Unpaid Balance of such Guaranteed Receivable and take any and all necessary
actions in its own name.

(b) The Servicer shall, as soon as practicable following receipt thereof, turn over to the SPV all collections from any
Person of indebtedness of such Person which are not on account of a Receivable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained
in this Article VII, the Servicer, if not the SPV, the Originator or any Affiliate of the SPV or the Originator, shall have no obligation to
collect, enforce or take any other action described in this Article VII with respect to any indebtedness that is not included in the Asset
Interest other than to deliver to the SPV the collections and documents with respect to any such indebtedness as described above in
this Section 7.2(b).

(c) Any payment by an Obligor in respect of any indebtedness owed by it to the Originator or NSC shall, except as
otherwise specified by such Obligor, required by contract or Law or clearly indicated by facts or circumstances (including by way of
example an equivalence of a payment and the amount of a particular invoice), and unless otherwise instructed by the Administrative
Agent, be applied as a Collection of any Receivable of such Obligor (starting with the oldest such Receivable) to the extent of any
amounts then due and payable thereunder before being applied to any other receivable or other indebtedness of such Obligor.



SECTION 7.3    Blocked Account Arrangements.

(a) On or prior to the date hereof, the Originator, the SPV and NSC, as applicable, shall have entered into Blocked
Account Agreements with all of the Blocked Account Banks, and delivered original counterparts thereof to the Administrative
Agent.    Upon the occurrence of a Remedy Event, the Administrative Agent may at any time give notice to each Blocked Account
Bank that the Administrative Agent is exercising its rights under the Blocked Account Agreements to do any or all of the following:
(i) to have the exclusive ownership and control of the Blocked Accounts transferred to the Administrative Agent and to exercise
exclusive dominion and control over the funds deposited therein, (ii) to have the proceeds that are sent to the respective Blocked
Accounts be redirected pursuant to its instructions rather than deposited in the applicable Blocked Account, and (iii) to take any or all
other actions permitted under the applicable Blocked Account Agreement.        The Originator hereby agrees that if the Administrative
Agent, at any time, takes any action set forth in the preceding sentence, the Administrative Agent shall have exclusive control of the
proceeds (including Collections) of all Receivables and the Originator hereby further agrees to take any other action that the
Administrative Agent may reasonably request to transfer such control. Any proceeds of Receivables received by the Originator, as
Servicer or otherwise, thereafter shall be sent immediately to the Administrative Agent. The parties hereto hereby acknowledge that if
at any time the Administrative Agent takes control of any Blocked Account, the Administrative Agent shall not have any rights to the
funds therein in excess of the unpaid amounts due to SPV, the Administrative Agent and the Investors or any other Person hereunder
and the Administrative Agent shall distribute or cause to be distributed such funds in accordance with Section 7.2(b) (including the
proviso thereto) and Article II (in each case as if such funds were held by the Servicer thereunder); provided, however, that the
Administrative Agent shall not be under any obligation to remit any such funds to the Originator or any other Person unless and until
the Administrative Agent has received from the Originator or such Person evidence satisfactory to the Administrative Agent that the
Originator or such Person is entitled to such funds hereunder and under applicable Law.

(b) The SPV shall reimburse the Administrative Agent for, and hold the Administrative Agent harmless from, all costs,
expenses, claims and liabilities under each Blocked Account Agreement, including any moneys that the Administrative Agent shall
have paid to the Blocked Account Bank under the provisions of the Blocked Account Agreements. At its sole discretion, the
Administrative Agent may charge any loan account of the SPV for any such amounts.

SECTION 7.4 Enforcement Rights After Designation of New Servicer. (a) At any time following the occurrence of a Remedy
Event or the designation of a Servicer (other than the Originator or an Affiliate of the Originator) pursuant to Section 7.1:

(xxix) the Administrative Agent may direct the Obligors that payment of all amounts payable under any Receivable
be made directly to the Administrative Agent or its designee;

(xxx) the SPV shall, at the Administrative Agent’s request and at the SPV’s expense, give notice of the
Administrative Agent’s, the SPV’s, and/or the Investors’ ownership of the Receivables and (in the case of the Administrative
Agent) interest in the Asset Interest to each Obligor and direct that payments be made directly to the Administrative Agent or
its designee, except that if the SPV fails to so notify the Obligors, the Administrative Agent may so notify the Obligors; and

(xxxi) the SPV shall, at the Administrative Agent’s request, (A) assemble all of the Records and shall make the same
available to the Administrative Agent or its designee at a place selected by the Administrative Agent or its designee, and (B)
segregate all cash, checks and other



instruments received by it from time to time constituting Collections of Receivables in a manner acceptable to the
Administrative Agent and shall, promptly upon receipt, remit all such cash, checks and instruments, duly endorsed or with
duly executed instruments of transfer, to the Administrative Agent or its designee.

(b) Each of the SPV, NSC and the Originator hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent, and irrevocably appoints the
Administrative Agent as its attorney-in-fact with full power of substitution and with full authority in the place and stead of the SPV,
NSC or the Originator, as applicable, which appointment is coupled with an interest, to take any and all steps in the name of the SPV,
NSC or the Originator, as applicable, and on behalf of the SPV, NSC or the Originator, as applicable, necessary or desirable, in the
determination of the Administrative Agent, to collect any and all amounts or portions thereof due under any and all Receivables or
Related Security, including endorsing the name of the Originator or NSC on checks and other instruments representing Collections
and enforcing such Receivables, Related Security and the related Contracts. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this subsection (b), none of the powers conferred upon such attorney-in-fact pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall
subject such attorney-in-fact to any liability if any action taken by it shall prove to be inadequate or invalid, nor shall they confer any
obligations upon such attorney-in-fact in any manner whatsoever.

SECTION 7.5    Servicer Default. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a “Servicer
Default”:

(a) The Servicer (i) shall fail to make any payment or deposit required to be made by it hereunder when due or the
Servicer shall fail to observe or perform any term, covenant or agreement on the Servicer’s part to be performed under Section 6.1(b)
(conduct of business, ownership), 6.1(f) (compliance with receivables and credit and collection policy), 6.1(h) (obligor payments),
6.1(i) (handling collections), 6.2(a) (no sales or liens), 6.2(c) (no change in business or policy), 6.2(d) (no subsidiaries, mergers),
6.2(e) (no change in obligor payments), or 6.2(f) (no change in handling collections) and in the case of Section 6.1(b), Section 6.1(f)
or Section 6.2(c) such failure shall (if capable of being remedied) remain unremedied for three (3) days (any of the preceding
parenthetical phrases in this clause (i) are for purposes of reference only and shall not otherwise affect the meaning or interpretation
of any provision hereof), or (ii) shall fail to observe or perform any other term, covenant or agreement to be observed or performed
by it under Sections 2.8, 2.9, 2.12 or 2.15, or (iii) shall fail to observe or perform any other term, covenant or agreement hereunder or
under any of the other Transaction Documents to which such Person is a party or by which such Person is bound, and in the case of
this clause (iii) such failure shall remain unremedied for ten (10) days; or

(b) any representation, warranty, certification or statement made by the Servicer in this Agreement, the First Tier
Agreement or in any of the other Transaction Documents or in any certificate, information, report or document delivered by it
pursuant to any of the foregoing shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made; or

(c) failure of NSC, the Servicer or any of their Subsidiaries (other than the SPV) to pay when due any amounts due under
any agreement under which any Indebtedness greater than $50,000,000 is governed; or the default by the Servicer or any of its
Subsidiaries in the performance of any term, provision or condition contained in any agreement under which any Indebtedness greater
than
$50,000,000 was created or is governed, regardless of whether such event is an “event of default” or “default” under any such
agreement; or any Indebtedness of NSC, the Servicer or any of their Subsidiaries greater than $50,000,000 shall be declared to be due
and payable or required to be prepaid (other than by a regularly scheduled payment) prior to the scheduled date of maturity thereof;
or



(d) any Event of Bankruptcy shall occur with respect to the Servicer; or

(e) there shall have occurred a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Servicer; or

(f) the withdrawal or downgrade of the long-term credit rating of the senior unsecured debt of NSC below BBB- or Baa3
by S&P or Moody’s, respectively.

SECTION 7.6 Servicing Fee. If the Servicer is the Originator, the fees due to the Servicer for the provision of services
pursuant to Section 7.2 shall equal one-half of one-percent of the amount of the Receivables purchased from the Originator under the
First Tier Agreement. The payment of such fees is reflected in the First Tier Agreement through a reduced commission percentage
used in calculation of the discount applied to the purchase of Receivables thereunder. The commission percentage was reduced from
one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) to one percent (1.00%) to take into account one half of one percent (1/2%) of the Receivables due
to the Servicer by the SPV for the services provided under Section 7.2. If the Servicer is not the Originator or an Affiliate of the
Originator, the Servicer, by giving three (3) Business Days’ prior written notice to the Administrative Agent, shall be paid a Servicing
Fee in accordance with Section 2.12 and may with the consent of the Managing Agents revise the percentage used to calculate the
Servicing Fee so long as the revised percentage will not result in a Servicing Fee that exceeds 110% of the reasonable and appropriate
out-of-pocket costs and expenses of such Servicer incurred in connection with the performance of its obligations hereunder as
documented to the reasonable satisfaction of the Administrative Agent; provided, however, that at any time after the Net Investment,
plus Required Reserves exceeds the Net Pool Balance, any compensation to the Servicer in excess of the Servicing Fee initially
provided for herein shall be an obligation of the SPV and shall not be payable, in whole or in part, from Collections allocated to the
Investors.

SECTION 7.7 Protection of Ownership Interest of the Investors. Each of the Originator, NSC and the SPV agrees that it shall,
from time to time, at its expense, promptly execute and deliver all instruments and documents and take all actions as may be
necessary or as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request in order to perfect or protect the Asset Interest or to enable the
Administrative Agent or the Investors to exercise or enforce any of their respective rights hereunder. Without limiting the foregoing,
each of the Originator, NSC and the SPV shall, upon the request of the Administrative Agent or any of the Investors, in order to
accurately reflect this purchase and sale transaction, (i) execute and file such financing or continuation statements or amendments
thereto or assignments thereof (as otherwise permitted to be executed and filed pursuant hereto) as may be requested by the
Administrative Agent or any of the Managing Agents and (ii) mark its respective master data processing records and other documents
with a legend describing the conveyance to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Managing Agents, of the Asset Interest.
Each of the Originator, NSC and the SPV shall, upon request of the Administrative Agent or any of the Managing Agents, obtain such
additional search reports as the Administrative Agent or any of the Managing Agents shall request. The SPV has authorized and
hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent, as secured party (within the meaning of Section 9-509 of any applicable enactment of the
UCC) for the benefit of itself and the Managing Agents, to file without signature of the SPV, UCC financing and continuation
statements and amendments thereto and assignments thereof without the SPV’s, NSC’s or the Originator’s signature. Carbon,
photographic or other reproduction of this Agreement or any financing statement shall be sufficient as a financing statement.

ARTICLE VIII TERMINATION EVENTS



SECTION 8.1    Termination Events. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a
“Termination Event”:

(a) the SPV, NSC, the Originator or the Servicer shall fail to make any payment or deposit to be made by it hereunder or
under the First Tier Agreement when due hereunder or thereunder; or

(b) any representation, warranty, certification or statement made or deemed made by the SPV, NSC or the Originator in
this Agreement, any other Transaction Document to which it is a party or in any other certificate, information, report or document
delivered pursuant hereto or thereto shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made or
delivered; or

(c) the SPV, NSC, the Originator or the Servicer shall default in the performance of any payment or undertaking (other
than those covered by clause (a) above) (i) to be performed or observed under Sections 6.1(a)(vi) (notice of termination), 6.1(a)(vii)
(notice of changes to credit and collection policy), 6.1(b) (conduct of business, ownership), 6.1(f) (compliance with receivables and
credit and collection policy), 6.1(g) (notice of agent’s interest), 6.1(h) (obligor payments), 6.1(i) (handling collections), 6.1(k) (sale
treatment), 6.1(l) (nonconsolidation), 6.2(a) (no sales or liens), 6.2(c) (no change in business or policy), 6.2(d) (no subsidiaries,
mergers), 6.2(e) (no change in obligor payments), 6.2(f) (no change in handling collections), 6.2(g) (no name change), 6.2(h) (no
amendment), 6.2(i) (no debt), 6.2(j) (payment to originator), 6.2(m) (removal of independent director) and in the case of Section
6.1(b), Section 6.1(f) or Section 6.2(c) such default shall (if capable of being remedied) remain unremedied for three (3) days (any of
the preceding parenthetical phrases in this clause (i) are for purposes of reference only and shall not otherwise affect the meaning or
interpretation of any provision hereof) or (ii) to be performed or observed under any other provision of this Agreement or any
provision of any other Transaction Document to which it is a party and such default in the case of this clause (ii) shall continue for
ten (10) days; or

(d) (i) any Event of Bankruptcy shall occur with respect to the SPV; or (ii) NSC, the Originator or any Subsidiary or
Affiliate of either NSC or the Originator which is involved in the generation of Receivables (A) (1) shall generally not pay its debts as
such debts become due or (2) shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally or (3) shall make a general assignment for
the benefit of creditors; (B) any proceeding shall be instituted by or against NSC, the Originator or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of
either NSC or the Originator which is involved in the generation of Receivables which are seeking to adjudicate it as bankrupt or
insolvent, or seeking liquidation, winding up, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, protection, relief or composition of it or its
debts under any Law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors, or seeking the entry of an order for
relief or the appointment of a receiver, trustee or other similar official for it or any substantial part of its property and, in the case of
any such proceeding instituted against NSC, the Originator or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of either NSC or the Originator (but not
instituted by NSC, the Originator or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of either NSC or the Originator which is involved in the generation of
Receivables), either such proceeding shall remain undismissed or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days, or any of the actions sought
in such proceeding (including, without limitation, the entry of an order for relief against, or the appointment of a receiver, trustee,
custodian or other similar official for, it or for any substantial part of its property) shall occur; or (C) NSC, the Originator or any
Subsidiary or Affiliate of either NSC or the Originator which is involved in the generation of Receivables shall take any corporate,
partnership or other similar appropriate action to authorize any of the actions set forth in the preceding clauses (A) or (B); or



(e) the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Investors, shall for any reason fail or cease to have a valid and enforceable
perfected first priority ownership or security interest in the Affected Assets, free and clear of any Adverse Claim; or

(f) a Servicer Default shall have occurred; or

(g) on any date the sum of the Net Investment (as determined after giving effect to all distributions pursuant to this
Agreement on such date), plus the Required Reserves shall exceed the Net Pool Balance (as such Required Reserves and Net Pool
Balance are shown in the most recent Servicer Report delivered on or prior to such date), and such circumstances shall not have been
cured in two (2)
Business Days; or

(h) (i) the average for three (3) consecutive calendar months of the Delinquency Ratio shall exceed 10.00% or (ii) the
average for three (3) consecutive calendar months of the Dilution Ratio shall exceed 3.50% or (iii) the Days Sales Outstanding for
any calendar month shall exceed 45 days; or

(i) failure of the SPV, NSC, the Originator or any Subsidiary of NSC or the Originator to pay when due any amounts due
under any agreement to which any such Person is a party and under which any Indebtedness greater than $9,000 in the case of the
SPV, or $50,000,000, in the case of the Originator, NSC or any Subsidiary of the Originator or NSC (other than the SPV) is governed;
or the default by the SPV, NSC, the Originator or any Subsidiary of the SPV, NSC or the Originator in the performance of any term,
provision or condition contained in any agreement to which any such Person is a party and under which any Indebtedness owing by
the SPV, NSC, the Originator or any Subsidiary of the SPV, NSC or the Originator greater than such respective amounts was created
or is governed, regardless of whether such event is an “event of default” or “default” under any such agreement if the effect of such
default is to cause, or to permit the holder of such Indebtedness to cause, such Indebtedness to become due and payable prior to its
stated maturity; or any Indebtedness owing by the SPV, NSC, the Originator or any Subsidiary of the SPV, NSC or the Originator
greater than such respective amounts shall be declared to be due and payable or required to be prepaid (other than by a regularly
scheduled payment) prior to the date of maturity thereof; or

(j) there shall be a “change of control” with respect to the Originator or the SPV; for the purposes of this clause only
“change in control” means:

(vi) the failure of the Originator to own, free and clear of any Adverse Claim and on a fully diluted basis, 100% of
the outstanding shares of voting stock of the SPV, or

(vii) the failure of NSC to own, free and clear of any Adverse Claim and on a fully diluted basis, at least 51% of the
outstanding shares of voting stock of the Originator, or

(viii) any event, transaction or occurrence as a result of which (a) any person or group of persons (within the
meaning of section 13 or 14 of the Exchange Act) shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-
3 promulgated by the SEC under said Act) of 30% of more of the outstanding shares of common stock of NSC or (b) at any
time Continuing Directors (as defined below) shall not constitute a majority of the board of directors of NSC, with a
“Continuing Director” for the purpose hereof being at any time each (i) individual who was a director of NSC twenty-four
(24) months before such time or (ii) individuals who were nominated or elected to be a director of NSC by at least two-thirds
of the Continuing Directors at the time of such nomination or election; provided, however, that there shall be no Change in
Control hereunder in the event of a pending merger with or involving another “Class I” railroad or its parent corporation that
is of the nature that requires the approval of the STB (or any



successor or replacement Governmental Authority thereto charged with carrying out similar functions) until the time that
such merger shall have been declared effective, or final approval has otherwise been given with respect to such merger (if
such declaration or approval is required for the effectiveness of such merger), by the STB (or any successor or replacement
Governmental Authority thereto charged with carrying out similar functions); or

(k) any Person shall institute steps to terminate any Pension Plan if the assets of such Pension Plan are insufficient to
satisfy all of its benefit liabilities (as determined under Title IV of ERISA), or a contribution failure occurs with respect to any
Pension Plan which is sufficient to give rise to a lien under Section 302(f) of ERISA; or

(l) any material provision of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document to which the Originator, NSC or the SPV
is a party shall cease to be in full force and effect or the Originator, NSC or the SPV shall so state in writing; or

(m) at any time, the excess of (i) the sum of (A) the aggregate Unpaid Balance of all Receivables, minus (B) the Net
Investment, minus (C) the Intercompany Debt Reserve, over (ii) the aggregate principal amount owing by the SPV to NSC pursuant
to the Intercompany Line of Credit does not at least equal $5,000,000; or

(n) [reserved]; or

(o) any Person shall be appointed as an Independent Director of the SPV without prior notice thereof having been given to
the Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 6.1(a)(xiii) or without the written acknowledgement by the Administrative
Agent that such Person conforms, to the satisfaction of the Agent, with the criteria set forth in the definition herein of “Independent
Director,” which acknowledgement shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned.

SECTION 8.2 Termination. Upon the occurrence of any Termination Event, the Administrative Agent or any Managing
Agent may, and the Administrative Agent, at the direction of the Majority Investors, shall, by notice to the SPV and the Servicer,
declare the Termination Date to have occurred; provided, however, that in the case of any event described in Section 8.1(d), the
Termination Date shall be deemed to have occurred automatically upon the occurrence of such event. Upon any such declaration or
automatic occurrence, the Administrative Agent shall have, in addition to all other rights and remedies under this Agreement or
otherwise, all other rights and remedies provided under the UCC of the applicable jurisdiction and other applicable Laws, all of
which rights shall be cumulative.

ARTICLE IX INDEMNIFICATION; EXPENSES; RELATED

MATTERS

SECTION 9.1 Indemnities by the SPV. Without limiting any other rights which the Indemnified Parties may have hereunder
or under applicable Law, the SPV hereby agrees to indemnify the Investors, the Administrative Agent and the Managing Agents and
their respective officers, directors, employees, counsel and other agents (collectively, “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any
and all damages, losses, claims, liabilities, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees (which such attorneys may be
employees of the Administrative Agent or the Managing Agents, as applicable) and disbursements (all of the foregoing being
collectively referred to as “Indemnified Amounts”) awarded against or incurred by any of them in any action or proceeding between
the SPV or the Originator (including, in its capacity as the Servicer or any Affiliate of the Originator acting as Servicer) and any of



the Indemnified Parties or between any of the Indemnified Parties and any third party or otherwise arising out of or as a result of this
Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership or maintenance, either directly or indirectly, by the Administrative
Agent or any Investor of the Asset Interest or any of the other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, excluding, however, (i)
Indemnified Amounts to the extent resulting from gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of such Indemnified Party, (ii)
Indemnified Amounts to the extent the same includes losses in respect of Receivables that are uncollectible on account of the
insolvency, bankruptcy or lack of creditworthiness of the related Obligor or (iii) Taxes or Excluded Taxes other than Taxes or
Excluded Taxes described in Section 9.1(j). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the SPV shall indemnify each
Indemnified Party for Indemnified Amounts relating to or resulting from:

(a) any representation or warranty made or deemed made by the SPV or any officers of the SPV under or in connection
with this Agreement, the First Tier Agreement, any of the other Transaction Documents or any other certificate, information, report or
document delivered by the SPV pursuant hereto, or pursuant to any of the other Transaction Documents which shall have been
incomplete, false or incorrect in any respect when made or deemed made, or would have been incomplete, false or incorrect if it had
not been qualified by the SPV’s or any other Person’s knowledge;

(b) the failure by the SPV to comply with any applicable Law with respect to any Receivable or the related Contract, or the
nonconformity of any Receivable or the related Contract with any such applicable Law;

(c) the failure (i) to vest and maintain vested in the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Investors, a first priority,
perfected ownership interest in the Asset Interest free and clear of any Adverse Claim or (ii) to create or maintain a valid and
perfected first priority security interest in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Investors, in the Affected Assets,
free and clear of any Adverse Claim;

(d) the failure to file, or any delay in filing, financing statements, continuation statements, or other similar instruments or
documents under the UCC of any applicable jurisdiction or other applicable Laws with respect to any of the Affected Assets;

(e) any dispute, claim, offset or defense (other than discharge in bankruptcy) of the Obligor to the payment of any
Receivable (including a defense based on such Receivable or the related Contract not being the legal, valid and binding obligation of
such Obligor enforceable against it in accordance with its terms), or any other claim resulting from the sale of merchandise or
services related to such Receivable or the furnishing or failure to furnish such merchandise or services, or from any breach or alleged
breach of any provision of the Receivables or the related Contracts restricting assignment of any Receivables;

(f) any products liability claim or personal injury or property damage suit or other similar or related claim or action of
whatever sort arising out of or in connection with merchandise or services which are the subject of any Receivable;

(g) the transfer of an interest in any Receivable other than an Eligible Receivable;

(h) the failure by the SPV to comply with any term, provision or covenant contained in this Agreement or any of the other
Transaction Documents to which it is a party or to perform any of its respective duties or obligations under the Receivables or related
Contracts;



(i) the Net Investment exceeding the Net Pool Balance, minus the Required Reserves at any
time;

(j) the failure of the SPV to pay when due any sales, excise or personal property taxes payable in connection with any of
the Receivables;

(k) any repayment by any Indemnified Party of any amount previously distributed in reduction of Net Investment which
such Indemnified Party believes in good faith is required to be made;

(l) the commingling by the SPV of Collections of Receivables at any time with any other
funds;

(m) any investigation, litigation or proceeding related to this Agreement, any of the other Transaction Documents, the use
of proceeds of Investments or Reinvestment by the SPV, the ownership of the Asset Interest, or any Affected Asset;

(n) failure of any Blocked Account Bank to remit any amounts held in the Blocked Accounts or any related lock boxes
pursuant to the instructions of the SPV or the Administrative Agent (to the extent such Person is entitled to give such instructions in
accordance with the terms hereof and of any applicable Blocked Account Agreement) whether by reason of the exercise of set-off
rights or otherwise;

(o) any inability to obtain any judgment in or utilize the court or other adjudication system of, any state in which an
Obligor may be located as a result of the failure of the SPV to qualify to do business or file any notice of business activity report or
any similar report;

(p) any attempt by any Person to void, rescind or set-aside any transfer by the Originator to the SPV of any Receivable or
Related Security under statutory provisions or common Law or equitable action, including any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or
other insolvency Law;

(q) any action taken by the SPV in the enforcement or collection of any Receivable;

(r) the use of the proceeds of any Investment or Reinvestment; or

(s) any determination by a Governmental Authority that the transactions contemplated hereby are properly characterized
as other than debt for the purposes of the Code.

SECTION 9.2    Indemnity for Taxes, Reserves and Expenses.

(a) If after the Closing Date, any Regulatory Requirement:

(xxxii)shall subject any Indemnified Party (or its applicable lending office) to any Taxes, duty or other charge (other
than Excluded Taxes) with respect to this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership, maintenance or
financing of the Asset Interest, or payments of amounts due hereunder, or shall change the basis of taxation of payments to
any Indemnified Party of amounts payable in respect of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership,
maintenance or financing of the Asset Interest, or payments of amounts due hereunder or its obligation to advance funds
hereunder, under a Liquidity Agreement, or otherwise in respect of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the
ownership, maintenance or financing of the Asset Interest (except for changes in the rate of general corporate, franchise, net
income, other income tax or tax based on capital, net worth or



comparable basis of measurement imposed on such Indemnified Party by the jurisdiction in which such Indemnified Party's
principal executive office is located);

(xxxiii) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, assessment, fee, insurance charge, special
deposit or similar requirement (including any such requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System) against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Indemnified Party or shall impose on
any Indemnified Party or on the United States market for certificates of deposit or the London interbank market any other
condition affecting this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership, maintenance or financing of the Asset
Interest, or payments of amounts due hereunder or its obligation to advance funds hereunder, under a Liquidity Agreement or
otherwise in respect of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership, maintenance or financing of the
Asset Interest; or

(xxxiv) imposes upon any Indemnified Party any other condition or expense (including any loss of margin,
reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, and expenses of litigation or preparation therefor in contesting any of the foregoing)
with respect to this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership, maintenance or financing of the Asset
Interest, or payments of amounts due hereunder or its obligation to advance funds hereunder, under a Liquidity Agreement or
otherwise in respect of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership, maintenance or financing of the
Asset Interests,

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by,
or to require any payment calculated by reference to the amount of interest or loans held or interest received by, such
Indemnified Party with respect to this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership, maintenance or financing
of the Asset Interest, the Receivables, the obligations hereunder, the funding of any purchases hereunder, or under a Liquidity
Agreement, by an amount deemed by such Indemnified Party to be material, then, within ten (10) days after demand by such
Indemnified Party through the Administrative Agent, the SPV shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of such
Indemnified Party, such additional amount or amounts charged to such Indemnified Party or such amounts to otherwise
compensate such Indemnified Party for such increased cost or reduction.

(b) If any Indemnified Party shall have determined that after the Closing Date, any Regulatory Requirement, has or would
have the effect of reducing the rate of return on capital or assets of such Indemnified Party (or its parent) as a consequence of such
Indemnified Party’s obligations hereunder or with respect hereto to a level below that which such Indemnified Party (or its parent)
could have achieved but for such Regulatory Requirement (taking into consideration its policies with respect to capital adequacy) by
an amount deemed by such Indemnified Party to be material, then from time to time, within ten (10) days after demand by such
Indemnified Party through the Administrative Agent, the SPV shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of such
Indemnified Party, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Indemnified Party (or its parent) for such reduction.

(c) The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the SPV of any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the
date hereof, which will entitle an Indemnified Party to compensation pursuant to this Section 9.2; provided that failure to give or any
delay in giving such notice shall not affect the Indemnified Party's right to receive such compensation. A notice by the Administrative
Agent or the applicable Indemnified Party claiming compensation under this Section and setting forth the additional amount or
amounts to be paid to it hereunder shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest



error. In determining such amount, the Administrative Agent or any applicable Indemnified Party may use any reasonable averaging
and attributing methods.

As used herein, “Regulatory Requirement” shall mean (i) the adoption after the Closing Date of any applicable Law
(including any Law regarding capital adequacy or liquidity coverage) or any change therein after the Closing Date or (ii) any change
after the Closing Date in the interpretation or administration of any applicable Law or compliance with any request or directive
(whether or not having the force of law) of any Official Body charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance
with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Official Body; provided, that for purposes of this
definition (x) the United States bank regulatory rule titled Risk-Based Capital Guidelines; Capital Adequacy Guidelines; Capital
Maintenance; Regulatory Capital; Impact of Modification to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles; Consolidation of Asset-
Backed Commercial Paper Programs; and Other Related Issues adopted on December 15, 2009, (y) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Program Act and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder, issued in connection
therewith or in implementation thereof, and (z) all requests, rules, guidelines and directives promulgated by the Bank for International
Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign
regulatory authorities, shall in each case be deemed to be a “Regulatory Requirement”, regardless of the date enacted, adopted, issued
or implemented.

SECTION 9.3 Taxes. All payments and distributions made hereunder by the SPV or the Servicer (each, a “payor”) to any
Investor or any Agent (each, a “recipient”) shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any present or future income,
excise, stamp or franchise taxes and any other taxes, fees, duties, withholdings or other charges of any nature whatsoever imposed by
any taxing authority on any recipient (or any assignee of such parties), but excluding franchise taxes, taxes imposed on or measured
by the recipient’s net income or gross receipts, taxes based on capital, net worth or comparable basis of measurement and deductions
or withholdings of United States Federal income taxes that (i) are incurred by an assignee if the related assignment is made in
violation of Section 11.8, (ii) could have been avoided in whole or in part by the timely filing by any Agent or Investor of one or
more United States Internal Revenue Service forms, or (iii) are imposed under FATCA (such excluded items being called “Excluded
Taxes” and such remaining items being called “Taxes”). Whether or not the payor must withhold from a recipient’s payment under
FATCA, each Investor and each assignee of any Investor covenants to timely provide the payor with a valid, duly completed and
executed form (as may be issued by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service), and to update and/or replace such form as necessary to
maintain its validity, to allow payor to timely and properly comply with its information reporting obligations, as required by Section
1474 of the Code and regulations promulgated thereunder. In the event that any withholding or deduction from any payment made by
the payor hereunder is required in respect of any Taxes, then such payor shall:

(a) pay directly to the relevant authority the full amount required to be so withheld or deducted;

(b) promptly forward to the Agents an official receipt or other documentation satisfactory to the Agents evidencing such
payment to such authority; and

(c) pay to the recipient such additional amount or amounts as is necessary to ensure that the net amount actually received
by the recipient will equal the full amount such recipient would have received had no such withholding or deduction been required.

Moreover, if any Taxes are directly asserted against any recipient with respect to any payment received by such recipient
hereunder, the recipient may pay such Taxes and the payor will promptly pay



such additional amounts (including any penalties, interest or expenses) as shall be necessary in order that the net amount received by
the recipient after the payment of such Taxes (including any Taxes on such additional amount) shall equal the amount such recipient
would have received had such Taxes not been asserted.

If the payor fails to pay any Taxes when due to the appropriate taxing authority or fails to remit to the recipient the required
receipts or other required documentary evidence, the payor shall indemnify the recipient for any incremental Taxes, interest, or
penalties that may become payable by any recipient as a result of any such failure. Payor shall not be responsible for any incremental
Taxes, interest, or penalties attributable to recipient’s failure to act in a timely manner.

If any Investor or any Agent shall petition the SPV for any amounts under this Section 9.3 related to Taxes imposed under (1)
any amended or successor version of any applicable Law as in effect as of May 28, 2021, or any regulations or official interpretations
thereof or (2) any applicable Law adopted after May 28, 2021, or any regulations or official interpretations thereof, which in each case
do not constitute Excluded Taxes (which petition shall, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 9.3, be delivered by
the applicable Investor or Agent to the SPV not later than ten (10) Business Days after receipt by such Investor or Agent from SPV of
the amount subject to such Taxes), then the SPV may, at its sole expense and effort (including payment of any applicable processing
and recordation fees), upon notice to the related Managing Agent and the Administrative Agent, either (i) require each Investor in
such Managing Agent’s Investor Group to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions
contained in Section 11.8), all of its respective rights, obligations and Commitment (if any), and interest in the Net Investment and the
Asset Interest for all purposes of this Agreement and under the other Transaction Documents to an assignee that shall assume such
rights, obligations, Commitment and interest (which assignee may be another Conduit Investor or Committed Investor, as applicable,
if a Conduit Investor or Committed Investor accepts such assignment) or (ii) notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement,
so long as no event or circumstance has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Termination Event, a Potential Termination
Event or a Servicer Default, elect to terminate the rights, obligations and Commitment (if any) of such Managing Agent and each
Investor in such Managing Agent’s Investor Group; provided, that it shall be a condition precedent to the effectiveness of any such
assignment or termination that (x) in the case of an assignment, the SPV shall have received the prior written consent of the
Administrative Agent with respect to any assignee that is not already a member of an Investor Group hereunder, which consent shall
not unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed, (y) each member of the subject Investor Group shall have received payment of
an amount equal to its Net Investment, and accrued interest and fees thereon and all other Aggregate Unpaids payable to it hereunder,
from the assignee (to the extent of such Net Investment), if applicable, or the SPV (in the case of all other amounts) and (z) in the case
of an assignment, such assignment will result in a reduction in the amount which may be claimed under Section 9.3 in respect of such
Taxes. An Investor shall not be required to make any such assignment and delegation or be subject to such a termination if, prior to
the effectiveness thereof, as a result of a waiver by such Investor or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the SPV to require such
assignment and delegation or effect such termination cease to exist. Upon the effectiveness of any assignment or termination pursuant
to this paragraghparagraph, each Investor and Managing Agent subject thereto shall relinquish its respective rights and be released
from its respective obligations (including, without limitation, its Commitment (if any)) under this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents (except for those rights and obligations which by the express terms of this Agreement or such other
Transaction Documents survive the termination thereof) and shall cease to be party to this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.

SECTION 9.4 Other Costs and Expenses. The SPV agrees, upon receipt of a written invoice, to pay or cause to be paid, and
to save the Investors and the Agents harmless against liability for the payment of, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including
attorneys’, accountants’ and other third



parties’ fees and expenses, any filing fees and expenses incurred by officers or employees of any Investor and/or the Agents and rating
agency fees) or intangible, documentary or recording taxes incurred by or on behalf of any Investor or the Agents (i) in connection
with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and any documents or
instruments delivered pursuant hereto and thereto and the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including the perfection or
protection of the Asset Interest) and (ii) from time to time (A) relating to any amendments, waivers or consents under this Agreement
and the other Transaction Documents, (B) arising in connection with any Investor’s or the Agents’ enforcement or preservation of
rights (including the perfection and protection of the Asset Interest under this Agreement), or (C) arising in connection with any audit,
dispute, disagreement, litigation or preparation for litigation involving this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents (all
of such amounts, collectively, “Transaction Costs”).

SECTION 9.5    Reconveyance Under Certain Circumstances. The SPV agrees to accept the reconveyance from the
Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Investors, of the Asset Interest if the Administrative Agent notifies the SPV of a material
breach of any representation or warranty made or deemed made pursuant to Article IV which effects a material portion of
Receivables or enforceability of any Transaction Document and the SPV shall fail to cure such breach within fifteen (15) days (or, in
the case of the representations and warranties in Sections 4.1(d) and 4.1(k), five (5) days) of such notice. The reconveyance price
shall be paid by the SPV to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Investors, in immediately available funds on such 15th
day (or 5th day, if applicable) in an amount equal to the Aggregate Unpaids.

SECTION 9.6 Indemnities by the Servicer. Without limiting any other rights which the Agents or the Investors or the other
Indemnified Parties may have hereunder or under applicable Law, the Servicer hereby agrees to indemnify the Indemnified Parties
from and against any and all Indemnified Amounts arising out of or resulting from (whether directly or indirectly) (a) the failure of
any information contained in any Servicer Report (to the extent provided by the Servicer) to be true and correct, or the failure of any
other information provided to any Indemnified Party by, or on behalf of, the Servicer to be true, correct and complete, (b) the failure
of any representation, warranty or statement made or deemed made by the Servicer (or any of its officers) under or in connection with
this Agreement to have been true and correct as of the date made or deemed made, or any state of facts that would have caused such a
failure but for the qualification of any such representation warranty or statement by the Servicer’s knowledge, (c) the failure by the
Servicer to comply with any applicable Law with respect to any Receivable or the related Contract, (d) any dispute, claim, offset or
defense of the Obligor to the payment of any Receivable resulting from or related to the collection activities in respect of such
Receivable, (e) any failure of the Servicer to perform its duties or obligations in accordance with the provisions hereof, (f) the failure
(i) to vest and maintain vested in the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Investors, a first priority, perfected ownership interest in
the Asset Interest free and clear of any Adverse Claim or (ii) to create or maintain a valid and perfected first priority security interest
in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Investors, in the Affected Assets, free and clear of any Adverse Claim, (g)
the failure to file, or any delay in filing, financing statements, continuation statements, or other similar instruments or documents
under the UCC of any applicable jurisdiction or other applicable Laws with respect to any of the Affected Assets, (h) any dispute,
claim, offset or defense (other than discharge in bankruptcy) of the Obligor to the payment of any Receivable (including a defense
based on such Receivable or the related Contract not being the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Obligor enforceable against
it in accordance with its terms), or any other claim resulting from the sale of merchandise or services related to such Receivable or the
furnishing or failure to furnish such merchandise or services, or from any breach or alleged breach of any provision of the Receivables
or the related Contracts restricting assignment of any Receivables, and (i) the commingling by the Servicer of Collections of
Receivables at any time with any other funds;



SECTION 9.7 Contest Rights. In the event any claim, action, proceeding or suit is brought against any Indemnified Party
with respect to which the SPV would be required to indemnify such Indemnified Party for Taxes under Section 9.1, Section 9.2 or
Section 9.3, such Indemnified Party shall promptly give notice or any such claim, action, proceeding or suit to the SPV. The SPV
may, at the SPV’s sole cost and expense, resist and defend such action, suit or proceeding in the name of the Indemnified Party (or in
the name of the SPV if legally entitled to do so), or cause the same to be resisted or defended by counsel selected by the SPV and
reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnified Party.

SECTION 9.8 Accounting Based Consolidation Event. (a) If an Accounting Based Consolidation Event shall at any time
occur then, upon demand by the Administrative Agent, the SPV shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the relevant
Affected Entity, such amounts as such Affected Entity reasonably determines will compensate or reimburse such Affected Entity for
any resulting (i) fee, expense or increased cost charged to, incurred or otherwise suffered by such Affected Entity, (ii) reduction in the
rate of return on such Affected Entity's capital or reduction in the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Affected Entity
or (iii) internal capital charge or other imputed cost determined by such Affected Entity to be allocable to the SPV or the transactions
contemplated in this Agreement in connection therewith. Amounts under this Section 9.8 may be demanded at any time without
regard to the timing of issuance of any financial statement by a Conduit Investor or by any Affected Entity.

(b)    For purposes of this Section 9.8, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Accounting Based Consolidation Event" means the consolidation, for financial and/or regulatory accounting
purposes, of all or any portion of the assets and liabilities of a Conduit Investor that are subject to this Agreement or any
other Transaction Document with all or any portion of the assets and liabilities of an Affected Entity. An Accounting Based
Consolidation Event shall occur as of the date that such consolidation (i) shall have occurred with respect to the financial
statements of the Affected Entity or any of its Affiliates or (ii) shall have been required to have occurred, regardless of
whether such financial statements were prepared as of such date, as acknowledged by the Affected Entity in writing.

“Affected Entity” means (i) any Committed Investor, (ii) any insurance company, bank or other funding entity
providing liquidity, credit enhancement or back-up purchase support or facilities to a Conduit Investor, (iii) any agent,
administrator or manager of a Conduit Investor, or
(iv) any bank holding company in respect of any of the foregoing.

ARTICLE X THE AGENTS

SECTION 10.1 Appointment and Authorization of Agents. Each Investor hereby irrevocably appoints, designates and
authorizes the Administrative Agent and the Managing Agent of its Investor Group to take such action on its behalf under the
provisions of this Agreement and each other Transaction Document and to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are
expressly delegated to such Agent by the terms of this Agreement and any other Transaction Document, together with such other
powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained elsewhere in this Agreement or
in any other Transaction Document, no Agent shall have any duties or responsibilities, except those expressly set forth in this
Agreement, nor shall any Agent have or be deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with any Investor, and no implied covenants,
functions,



responsibilities, duties, obligations or liabilities shall be read into this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or otherwise
exist against any Agent. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, the use of the term “agent” in this Agreement with
reference to any Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency
doctrine of any applicable Law. Instead, such term is used merely as a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect
only an administrative relationship between independent contracting parties.

SECTION 10.2 Delegation of Duties. Each Agent may execute any of its duties under this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document by or through agents, employees or attorneys-in-fact and shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning all
matters pertaining to such duties. Each Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any agent or attorney-in-
fact that it selects with reasonable care.

SECTION 10.3 Liability of Agents. No Agent-Related Person shall (a) be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by
any of them under or in connection with this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or the transactions contemplated hereby
(except for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct), or (ii) be responsible in any manner to any Investor for any recital,
statement, representation or warranty made by the SPV, NSC, the Originator or the Servicer, or any officer thereof, contained in this
Agreement or in any other Transaction Document, or in any certificate, report, statement or other document referred to or provided for
in, or received by any Agent under or in connection with, this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, or the validity,
effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, or for any failure of
the SPV, NSC, the Originator, the Servicer or any other party to any Transaction Document to perform its obligations hereunder or
thereunder. No Agent-Related Person shall be under any obligation to any Investor to ascertain or to inquire as to the observance or
performance of any of the agreements contained in, or conditions of, this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, or to inspect
the properties, books or records of the SPV, NSC, the Originator or the Servicer or any of their respective Affiliates.

SECTION 10.4    Reliance by Agents.

(a) Each Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any writing, resolution, notice,
consent, certificate, affidavit, letter, telegram, facsimile, telex or telephone message, statement or other document or conversation
believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by or on behalf of the proper Person or Persons, and
upon advice and statements of legal counsel (including counsel to the SPV, NSC, the Originator and the Servicer), independent
accountants and other experts selected by such Agent. Each Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action
under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document unless it shall first receive such advice or concurrence of the Majority
Investors as it deems appropriate and, if it so requests, it shall first be indemnified to its satisfaction by the Investors against any and
all liability and expense which may be incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action. Each Agent shall in all
cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document in
accordance with a request or consent of the Majority Investors or, if required hereunder, all Investors and such request and any action
taken or failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding upon all of the Investors.

(b) For purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in Article V, each Investor that has executed
this Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied with, each document or other matter
either sent by any Agent to such Investor for consent,



approval, acceptance or satisfaction, or required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable or satisfactory to such
Investor.

SECTION 10.5 Notice of Termination Event, Potential Termination Event or Servicer Default. No Agent shall be deemed to
have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of a Potential Termination Event, a Termination Event or a Servicer Default, unless such
Agent has received written notice from an Investor or the SPV referring to this Agreement, describing such Potential Termination
Event, Termination Event or Servicer Default and stating that such notice is a “Notice of Termination Event or Potential Termination
Event” or “Notice of Servicer Default,” as applicable. Such Agent will notify the Investors of its receipt of any such notice. Such
Agent shall (subject to Section 10.4) take such action with respect to such Potential Termination Event, Termination Event or Servicer
Default as may be requested by the Majority Investors, provided, however, that, unless and until such Agent shall have received any
such request, such Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take such action, or refrain from taking such action, with respect to such
Potential Termination Event, Termination Event or Servicer Default as it shall deem advisable or in the best interest of the Investors.

SECTION 10.6    Credit Decision; Disclosure of Information by the Agents. Each Investor acknowledges that none of the
Agent-Related Persons has made any representation or warranty to it, and that no act by any Agent hereinafter taken, including any
consent to and acceptance of any assignment or review of the affairs of the SPV, the Servicer, NSC, the Originator or any of their
respective Affiliates, shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by any Agent-Related Person to any Investor as to
any matter, including whether the Agent-Related Persons have disclosed material information in their possession. Each Investor,
including any Investor by assignment, represents to each Agent that it has, independently and without reliance upon any Agent-
Related Person and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own appraisal of and
investigation into the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the SPV, the
Servicer, NSC, the Originator or their respective Affiliates, and all applicable bank regulatory Laws relating to the transactions
contemplated hereby, and made its own decision to enter into this Agreement and to extend credit to the SPV hereunder. Each
Investor also represents that it shall, independently and without reliance upon any Agent-Related Person and based on such
documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit analysis, appraisals and decisions
in taking or not taking action under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, and to make such investigations as it deems
necessary to inform itself as to the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the
SPV, NSC, the Servicer or the Originator. Except for notices, reports and other documents expressly herein required to be furnished to
the Investors by any Agent herein, no Agent shall have any duty or responsibility to provide any Investor with any credit or other
information concerning the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition or creditworthiness of the SPV, the
Servicer, NSC, the Originator or their respective Affiliates which may come into the possession of any of the Agent-Related Persons.

SECTION 10.7 Indemnification of the Agents. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, each
Investor shall severally indemnify upon demand the Administrative Agent and its related Managing Agent and each of their
respective Agent-Related Persons (to the extent not reimbursed by or on behalf of the SPV and without limiting the obligation of the
SPV to do so as otherwise provided herein), pro rata, based on the amount of the Net Investment funded by such Investor, and hold
harmless each Agent-Related Person from and against any and all Indemnified Amounts incurred by it; provided, however, that no
Investor shall be liable for the payment to any Agent-Related Person of any portion of such Indemnified Amounts resulting from such
Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided, however, that no action taken in accordance with the directions of the
Majority Investors shall be deemed to constitute gross negligence or willful misconduct for purposes of this Section. Without
limitation of the foregoing, each Investor shall severally reimburse



its Agent upon demand for its ratable share of any costs or out-of-pocket expenses (including attorney’s fees) incurred by such Agent
in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification, amendment or enforcement (whether through
negotiations, legal proceedings or otherwise) of, or legal advice in respect of rights or responsibilities under, this Agreement, any
other Transaction Document, or any document contemplated by or referred to herein, to the extent that such Agent is not reimbursed
for such expenses by or on behalf of the SPV as otherwise provided herein. The undertaking in this Section shall survive payment on
the Final Payout Date and the resignation or replacement of any Agent.

SECTION 10.8 Agent in Individual Capacity. Each Agent (and any successor acting as Agent) and its Affiliates may make
loans to, issue letters of credit for the account of, accept deposits from, acquire equity interests in and generally engage in any kind of
banking, trust, financial advisory, underwriting or other business with any of the SPV, the Originator, NSC and the Servicer or any of
their Subsidiaries or Affiliates as though such Agent was not an Agent hereunder and without notice to or consent of the Investors.
The Investors acknowledge that, pursuant to such activities, each Agent or its Affiliates may receive information regarding the SPV,
the Originator, NSC, the Servicer or their respective Affiliates (including information that may be subject to confidentiality
obligations in favor of such Person) and acknowledge that such Agent shall be under no obligation to provide such information to
them. Each Agent may, in its individual capacity, acquire an Asset Interest by assignment from an Investor or otherwise in accordance
herewith and in such event such Agent shall have the same rights and powers under this Agreement as any other Investor and may
exercise the same as though it were not an Agent, and the terms “Investor”, or “Investors” shall, unless the context otherwise
indicates, include the Agent in its individual capacity.

SECTION 10.9 Resignation of Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent may resign as Administrative Agent upon
thirty (30) days’ notice to the Investors and the SPV. If the Administrative Agent resigns under this Agreement, the Majority Investors
shall appoint from among the Managing Agents a successor agent for the Investors. If no successor agent is appointed prior to the
effective date of the resignation of the Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent may appoint, after consulting with the
Investors a successor agent from among the Managing Agents. Upon the acceptance of its appointment as successor agent hereunder,
such successor agent shall succeed to all the rights, powers and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent and the term
“Administrative Agent” shall mean such successor agent and the retiring Administrative Agent’s appointment, powers and duties as
Administrative Agent shall be terminated. After any retiring Administrative Agent’s resignation hereunder as Administrative Agent,
the provisions of this Section 10.9 and Sections 10.3 and 10.7 shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken
by it while it was the Administrative Agent under this Agreement. If no successor agent has accepted appointment as Administrative
Agent by the date which is thirty (30) days following a retiring Administrative Agent’s notice of resignation, the retiring
Administrative Agent’s resignation shall nevertheless thereupon become effective and the Managing Agents shall perform all of the
duties of the Administrative Agent hereunder until such time, if any, as the Majority Investors appoint a successor agent as provided
for above.

SECTION 10.10 Payments by the Agents. Unless specifically allocated to a Committed Investor pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement, all amounts received by any Agent on behalf of the Committed Investors shall be paid by such Agent to the Committed
Investors (at their respective accounts specified herein or in their respective Assignment and Assumption Agreements, as applicable)
pro rata in accordance with their respective outstanding funded portions of the Net Investment on the Business Day received by such
Agent, unless such amounts are received after 12:00 noon on such Business Day, in which case such Agent shall use its reasonable
efforts to pay such amounts to the Committed Investors on such Business Day, but, in any event, shall pay such amounts to the
Committed Investors not later than the following Business Day.



ARTICLE XI MISCELLANEOUS
SECTION 11.1 Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall terminate on the Final Payout Date; provided, however, that (i) the

rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent, the Investors and the Managing Agents with respect to any representation and
warranty made or deemed to be made by the SPV pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) the indemnification and payment provisions of
Article IX, (iii) the provisions of Section 10.7 and (iv) the agreements set forth in Sections 11.11 and 11.12, shall be continuing and
shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

SECTION 11.2    Waivers; Amendments.

(a) No failure or delay on the part of the Administrative Agent, the Investors, the Managing Agents or any Committed
Investor in exercising any power, right or remedy under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of any such power, right or remedy preclude any other further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other power,
right or remedy. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and nonexclusive of any rights or remedies provided by
Law.

(b) Any provision of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document may be amended or waived if, but only if, such
amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the SPV, the Originator, the Servicer, and the Majority Investors (and, if Article X
or the rights or duties of the Agents are affected thereby, by the Agents); provided that no such amendment or waiver shall, unless
signed by each Committed Investor directly affected thereby, (i) increase the Commitment of a Committed Investor (it being
understood that a waiver of a Termination Event shall not constitute an increase in the Commitment of any Committed Investor), (ii)
reduce the Net Investment or rate of Yield to accrue thereon or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder, (iii) postpone any date
fixed for the payment of any scheduled distribution in respect of the Net Investment or Yield with respect thereto or any fees or other
amounts payable hereunder or for termination of any Commitment, (iv) change the percentage of the Commitments of the Committed
Investors which shall be required for the Committed Investors or any of them to take any action under this Section or any other
provision of this Agreement, (v) release all or substantially all of the property with respect to which a security or ownership interest
therein has been granted hereunder to the Administrative Agent or the Committed Investors, (vi) extend or permit the extension of the
Commitment Termination Date (it being understood that a waiver of a Termination Event shall not constitute an extension or increase
in the Commitment of any Committed Investor), (vii) change the definition of “Concentration Limit”, “Default Ratio”, “Defaulted
Receivable”, “Dilution Horizon Ratio”, “Dilution Ratio”, “Dilution Reserve Ratio”, “Dilution Reserve Floor”, “Dilution Volatility
Ratio”, “Eligible Receivable,” “Loss Horizon Ratio”, “Loss Reserve Ratio,” “Loss Reserve Floor”, “Net Pool Balance”, or “Peak
Default Ratio” or (viii) amend or modify any definition (or any definition used directly or indirectly in such definition) used in clause
(vii) above in a manner that would circumvent the intention of the restrictions set forth in such clause; and provided, further, that the
signature of the SPV, NSC, and the Originator shall not be required for the effectiveness of any amendment which modifies the
representations, warranties, covenants or responsibilities of the Servicer at any time when the Servicer is not the Originator or any
Affiliate of the Originator or a successor Servicer is designated by the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 7.1. In the event the
Administrative Agent requests an Investor’s consent pursuant to the foregoing provisions and the Administrative Agent does not
receive a consent (either positive or negative) from such Investor within ten (10) Business Days of such Investor’s receipt of such
request, then such Investor (and its percentage



interest hereunder) shall be disregarded in determining whether the Administrative Agent shall have obtained sufficient consent
hereunder.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) without the consent of the Committed Investors, but with the consent of the SPV,
the Administrative Agent may amend this Agreement solely to add additional Persons as Committed Investors hereunder and (ii) the
Administrative Agent, the Majority Investors and Conduit Investors may enter into amendments to modify any of the terms or
provisions of Article XI, Article XII, Section 13.13 or any other provision of this Agreement without the consent of the SPV, provided
that such amendment has no negative impact upon the SPV or its rights and/or obligations under the Transaction Documents. Any
modification or waiver made in accordance with this Section
11.2 shall apply to each of the Investors equally and shall be binding upon the SPV, the Investors and the Agents.

(d) Each Conduit Investor (or its Managing Agent on its behalf) shall, to the extent required, under a Liquidity Agreement
or otherwise, provide written notice of any amendment, modification or waiver in respect of this Agreement to Moody’s, S&P or any
other rating agency engaged to rate the commercial paper of such Conduit Investor.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, and provided that no Termination Event or Potential Termination
Event has occurred or is continuing, the SPV may from time to time advise the Administrative Agent in writing in substantially the
form attached hereto as Exhibit G of its desire to extend the Commitment Termination Date for an additional 364-day period (a
“Commitment Termination Date Extension Request”), provided that such request is made not more than one hundred twenty (120)
days and not less than sixty (60) days prior to the then current Commitment Termination Date. The Administrative Agent shall
promptly notify each Committed Investor of the SPV’s request to extend the Commitment Termination Date. Each Committed
Investor shall notify the SPV and the Administrative Agent in writing whether or not such Committed Investor is agreeable to such
extension (it being understood that the Committed Investors may accept or decline such a request in their sole discretion and a failure
by any Committed Investors to respond by the thirtieth day prior to the then current Commitment Termination Date shall be deemed
to be a rejection of the requested extension) not less than thirty (30) days (or such lesser amount agreed to by the SPV and the
Administrative Agent) prior to the then current Commitment Termination Date. In the event that all of the Committed Investors have
so notified the SPV and the Administrative Agent in writing that they are agreeable to such extension, the SPV, the Originator, the
Servicer, the Administrative Agent and the Committed Investors shall enter into such additional documents as the Administrative
Agent may deem necessary or appropriate to effect such extension, and all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and
expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent and the Committed Investors in connection with a Commitment Termination Date
Extension Request and such additional documents shall be paid by the SPV.

SECTION 11.3 Notices; Payment Information. Except as provided below, all communications and notices provided for
hereunder shall be in writing (including facsimile or electronic transmission or similar writing) and shall be given to the other party at
its address or facsimile number set forth in Schedule 11.3 or at such other address or facsimile number as such party may hereafter
specify for the purposes of notice to such party. Each such notice or other communication shall be effective (i) if given by facsimile,
when such facsimile is transmitted to the facsimile number specified in this Section 11.3 and confirmation is received, (ii) if given by
mail, three (3) Business Days following such posting, if postage prepaid, and if sent via U.S. certified or registered mail, (iii) if given
by overnight courier, one (1) Business Day after deposit thereof with a national overnight courier service, or
(iv) if given by any other means, when received at the address specified in this Section 11.3, provided that an Investment Request
shall only be effective upon receipt by the applicable Agent. However, anything in this Section 11.3 to the contrary notwithstanding,
the SPV hereby authorizes the



Administrative Agent, the Managing Agents and the Investors to make Investments based on telephonic notices made by any Person
which it in good faith believes to be acting on behalf of the SPV. The SPV agrees to deliver promptly to the Administrative Agent, the
Managing Agents and the Investors a written confirmation of each telephonic notice signed by an authorized officer of the SPV.
However, the absence of such confirmation shall not affect the validity of such notice. If the written confirmation differs in any
material respect from the action taken by any Investor or any Agent, the records of such Investor or such Agent, as applicable, shall
govern.

SECTION 11.4    Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Appointment of Service Agent.

(a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES
THEREOF OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW). EACH OF THE
SPV, NSC, THE ORIGINATOR AND THE SERVICER HEREBY SUBMITS TO THE NONEXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION
OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK AND OF ANY NEW
YORK STATE COURT SITTING IN THE CITY OF NEW YORK FOR PURPOSES OF ALL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. EACH OF THE SPV, THE SERVICER, NSC AND THE
ORIGINATOR HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT IT MAY EFFECTIVELY DO SO, ANY
OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH
PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN SUCH A COURT AND ANY CLAIM THAT ANY SUCH PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN
SUCH A COURT HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM. NOTHING IN THIS SECTION 11.4 SHALL
AFFECT THE RIGHT OF THE INVESTORS OR AGENTS TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING AGAINST
ANY OF THE SPV, NSC, THE ORIGINATOR OR THE SERVICER OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE PROPERTY IN
THE COURTS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

(b) EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN
RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE, WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE, AMONG ANY OF
THEM ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH, RELATING TO OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP
BETWEEN THEM IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS.

(c) The SPV, the Servicer, NSC and the Originator each hereby appoint CT Corporation System located at 28 Liberty
Street, New York, New York 10005 as the authorized agent upon whom process may be served in any action arising out of or based
upon this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents to which such Person is a party or the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby that may be instituted in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and of any New York State
court sitting in The City of New York by any Investor, the Administrative Agent, any Managing Agent or any successor or assignee
of any of them.

SECTION 11.5 Integration. This Agreement contains the final and complete integration of all prior expressions by the parties
hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and shall constitute the entire Agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the
subject matter hereof superseding all prior oral or written understandings.



SECTION 11.6 Severability of Provisions. If any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason
whatsoever be held invalid, then such provisions shall be deemed severable from the remaining provisions of this Agreement and
shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability of such other provisions.

SECTION 11.7 Counterparts; Facsimile Delivery. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by
different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which
when taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement. Delivery by facsimile of an executed signature page of this
Agreement shall be effective as delivery of an executed counterpart hereof.

SECTION 11.8    Successors and Assigns; Binding Effect.

(a) This Agreement shall be binding on the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; provided, however,
that none of the SPV, the Servicer, NSC or the Originator may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its duties hereunder or under
the First Tier Agreement or under any of the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party without the prior written consent of
the Agents. Except as provided in clauses (b), (e), or (h) below, no provision of this Agreement shall in any manner restrict the ability
of any Investor to assign, participate, grant security interests in, or otherwise transfer any portion of the Asset Interest.

(b) With the prior written consent of the SPV and the Servicer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed
or conditioned; provided, however, that it shall not be unreasonable for the SPV or the Servicer to withhold its consent in connection
with any assignment to any assignee which would subject the SPV to any Taxes) any Committed Investor may assign all or any
portion of its Commitment and its interest in the Net Investment, the Asset Interest and its other rights and obligations hereunder to
any Person with the written approval of the related Managing Agent and the Administrative Agent. In connection with any such
assignment, the assignor shall deliver to the assignee(s) an Assignment and Assumption Agreement, duly executed, assigning to such
assignee a pro rata interest in such assignor’s Commitment and other obligations hereunder and in the Net Investment, the Asset
Interest and other rights hereunder, and such assignor shall promptly execute and deliver all further instruments and documents, and
take all further action, that the assignee may reasonably request, in order to protect, or more fully evidence the assignee’s right, title
and interest in and to such interest and to enable the Administrative Agent, on behalf of such assignee, to exercise or enforce any
rights hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents to which such assignor is or, immediately prior to such assignment, was
a party. Upon any such assignment, (i) the assignee shall have all of the rights and obligations of the assignor hereunder and under the
other Transaction Documents to which such assignor is or, immediately prior to such assignment, was a party with respect to such
assignor’s Commitment and interest in the Net Investment and the Asset Interest for all purposes of this Agreement and under the
other Transaction Documents to which such assignor is or, immediately prior to such assignment, was a party and (ii) the assignor
shall have no further obligations with respect to the portion of its Commitment which has been assigned and shall relinquish its rights
with respect to the portion of its interest in the Net Investment and the Asset Interest which has been assigned for all purposes of this
Agreement and under the other Transaction Documents to which such assignor is or, immediately prior to such assignment, was a
party. No such assignment shall be effective unless a fully executed copy of the related Assignment and Assumption Agreement shall
be delivered to the Administrative Agent and the SPV. All costs and expenses of the Administrative Agent incurred in connection
with any assignment hereunder shall be borne by the SPV.

(c) If any assignee shall petition the SPV for any amounts under Section 9.2 or Section 9.3, then the SPV may designate a
replacement financial institution, with the requisite Managing Agent’s



consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), to which such assignee shall, subject to its receipt of an amount equal to
its Net Investment, and accrued interest and fees thereon, promptly assign all of its rights, obligations and such assignee’s
Commitment and interest in the Net Investment and the Asset Interest for all purposes of this Agreement and under the other
Transaction Documents to which such assignee is or, immediately prior to such assignment, was a party.

(d) By executing and delivering an Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the assignor and assignee thereunder confirm
to and agree with each other and the other parties hereto as follows: (i) other than as provided in such Assignment and Assumption
Agreement, the assignor makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to any statements, warranties
or representations made in or in connection with this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or any other instrument or
document furnished pursuant hereto or thereto or the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value or
this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or any such other instrument or document; (ii) the assignor makes no representation
or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the financial condition of the SPV, the Originator, NSC, or the Servicer or
the performance or observance by the SPV, the Originator, NSC, or the Servicer of any of their respective obligations under this
Agreement, the First Tier Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant
hereto; (iii) such assignee confirms that it has received a copy of this Agreement, the First Tier Agreement, each other Transaction
Document and such other instruments, documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and
decision to enter into such Assignment and Assumption Agreement and to purchase such interest; (iv) such assignee will,
independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, any of its Affiliates or the assignor and based on such agreements,
documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking
action under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents; (v) such assignee appoints and authorizes the Administrative
Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers under this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents
and any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto or thereto as are delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms
hereof or thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto and to enforce its respective rights and interests in
and under this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and the Affected Assets; (vi) such assignee agrees that it will perform in
accordance with their terms all of the obligations which by the terms of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents are
required to be performed by it as the assignee of the assignor; and (vii) such assignee agrees that it will not institute against the
assignor Conduit Investor any proceeding of the type referred to in Section 11.11 prior to the date which is one year and one day after
the payment in full of all Commercial Paper issued by such assignor Conduit Investor.

(e) Without limiting the foregoing, any Conduit Investor may, from time to time, with prior or concurrent consent of the
SPV and the Servicer, in one transaction or a series of transactions, assign all or a portion of the Net Investment and its rights and
obligations under this Agreement and any other Transaction Documents to which it is a party to a Conduit Assignee. Upon and to the
extent of such assignment by such Conduit Investor to a Conduit Assignee, (i) such Conduit Assignee shall be the owner of the
assigned portion of the Net Investment, (ii) the related managing agent for such Conduit Assignee will act as the Managing Agent for
such Conduit Assignee, with all corresponding rights and powers, express or implied, granted to the applicable Managing Agent
hereunder or under the other Transaction Documents, (iii) such Conduit Assignee and its liquidity support provider(s) and credit
support provider(s) and other related parties shall have the benefit of all the rights and protections provided to such Conduit Investor
herein and in the other Transaction Documents (including any limitation on recourse against such Conduit Assignee or related parties,
any agreement not to file or join in the filing of a petition to commence an insolvency proceeding against such Conduit Assignee, and
the right to assign to another Conduit Assignee as provided in this paragraph), (iv) such Conduit Assignee shall assume all (or the
assigned or assumed portion) of such Conduit Investor’s obligations, if any,



hereunder or under any other Transaction Document, and such Conduit Investor shall be released from such obligations, in each case
to the extent of such assignment, and the obligations of such Conduit Investor and such Conduit Assignee shall be several and not
joint, (v) all distributions in respect of the Net Investment shall be made to the applicable agent or applicable Managing Agent, as
applicable, on behalf of such Conduit Investor and such Conduit Assignee on a pro rata basis according to their respective interests,
(vi) the definition of the term “CP Rate” with respect to the portion of the Net Investment funded with commercial paper issued by
such Conduit Investor from time to time shall be determined in the manner set forth in the definition of “CP Rate” applicable to such
Conduit Investor on the basis of the interest rate or discount applicable to commercial paper issued by such Conduit Assignee (rather
than such Conduit Investor), (vii) the defined terms and other terms and provisions of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents shall be interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, and (viii) if requested by the Administrative Agent or the applicable
Managing Agent with respect to the Conduit Assignee, the parties will execute and deliver such further agreements and documents
and take such other actions as the Administrative Agent or such applicable Managing Agent may reasonably request to evidence and
give effect to the foregoing.

(f) Each of the SPV, the Servicer and the Originator hereby agrees and consents to the assignment by any Conduit
Investor from time to time of all or any part of its rights under, interest in and title to this Agreement and the Asset Interest to any
Liquidity Provider.

(g) Upon any assignment pursuant to this Agreement, each assignee warrants, as of the date of such assignment (or, in the
case of the an assignment to an Liquidity Provider, as of the date such assignee became an Liquidity Provider), that it is not subject to
any taxes, charges, levies or withholdings with respect to payments under this Agreement that are imposed by means of withholding
by any applicable taxing authority (“Withholding Tax”). Each assignee agrees to provide the Administrative Agent, from time to time
upon the Administrative Agent’s request, completed and signed copies of any documents that may be required by an applicable taxing
authority to certify such assignee’s exemption from Withholding Tax with respect to payments to be made to such assignee under this
Agreement. The SPV’s obligations under Section 9.3 do not apply to any Taxes that arise as a result of a breach of any representation
or covenant above.

(h) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, (i) any Investor may at any time pledge or
grant a security interest in all or any portion of its rights (including, without limitation, rights to payment of the principal balance of
its Portion of Investment and Yield with respect thereto) hereunder to secure obligations of such Investor to a Federal Reserve Bank,
and (ii) any Conduit Investor may at any time pledge or grant a security interest in all or any portion of its rights (including, without
limitation, rights to payment of the principal balance of its Portion of Investment and Yield with respect thereto) hereunder to a
collateral trustee in order to comply with Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (as amended), in each case without
notice to or consent of the SPV or the Administrative Agent; provided, that no such pledge or grant of a security interest shall release
an Investor from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or grantee for such Investor as a party hereto.

SECTION 11.9 Waiver of Confidentiality. Each of the SPV, the Servicer, NSC and the Originator hereby consents to the
disclosure of any non-public information with respect to it received by the Administrative Agent, any Investor or any Managing
Agent to any other Investor or potential Investor, any Agent, any nationally recognized statistical rating organization rating each
Conduit Investor’s Commercial Paper, any dealer or placement agent of or depositary for such Conduit Investor’s Commercial Paper,
the applicable Managing Agent, or any of such Person’s counsel or accountants in relation to this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document.



SECTION 11.10    Confidentiality Agreement.

(a) Each party hereto agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information
may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates’ directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other
advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such
Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority, (c) to the
extent required by applicable Laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party to this
Agreement, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement
or the enforcement of rights hereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this
Section 11.10, to any assignee of or participant in, or any prospective assignee of or participant in, any of its rights or obligations
under this Agreement, (g) by any Agent or any Investor to any rating agency, Commercial Paper dealer, provider of credit
enhancement or liquidity to a Conduit Investor or any Person providing financing to, or holding equity interests in, a Conduit
Investor, and to any officers, directors, employees, outside accountants and attorneys of any of the foregoing, (h) by any Conduit
Investor (or any administrative agent on its behalf) and its officers and employees to any collateral trustee appointed by such Conduit
Investor to comply with Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (as amended), provided such collateral trustee is
informed of the confidential nature of such Information and such collateral trustee shall have entered into a written agreement with
such Conduit Investor containing customary provisions obligating such collateral trustee to maintain the confidentiality of the
Information disclosed to it by such Conduit Investor, (i) with the consent of the disclosing party, or
(j) to the extent such Information (A) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this
Section 11.10 or (B) becomes available to any party on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the disclosing party. For the
purposes of this Section 11.10, “Information” means all information received from a disclosing party relating to it or its business,
other than (i) any such information that is available to any party on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the disclosing party
and (ii) any information identified by a disclosing party to any other party at the time of delivery as nonconfidential. Any Person
required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section 11.10 shall be considered to have complied with its
obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such
Person would accord to its own confidential information, but in no case less than a reasonable degree of care.

(b) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any party hereto and/or its successors or assigns (and each employee,
representative or other agent of any of the foregoing) (i) may disclose to any and all Persons, without limitation of any kind, the “tax
treatment” and “tax structure” (in each case, within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4) of the transactions
contemplated herein and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are or have been provided to any of
the foregoing relating to such tax treatment or tax structure, and it is hereby confirmed that each of the foregoing have been so
authorized since the commencement of discussions regarding the transactions, and (ii) may provide this Agreement and subsequent
amendments to the Internal Revenue Service, external auditors, and other governmental tax authorities.

SECTION 11.11 No Bankruptcy Petition Against Conduit Investors. Each of the SPV, the Servicer, NSC and the Originator
hereby covenants and agrees that, prior to the date which is one year and one day after the payment in full of all outstanding
Commercial Paper or other rated indebtedness of any Conduit Investor, it will not institute against, or join any other Person in
instituting against, such Conduit Investor any proceeding of a type referred to in the definition of Event of Bankruptcy.

SECTION 11.12    Limitation of Liability.



(a) No claim may be made by any party hereto against any other party hereto, or any of their respective Affiliates,
directors, officers, employees, attorneys or agents, for any special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages in respect of any claim
for breach of contract or any other theory of liability arising out of or related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or
any other Transaction Document, or any act, omission or event occurring in connection herewith or therewith; and each party hereto
hereby waives, releases, and agrees not to sue upon any claim for any such damages, whether or not accrued and whether or not
known or suspected to exist in its favor; provided, that nothing contained in this Section 11.12(a) is intended to, or shall, constitute a
waiver of, or limit, preclude or otherwise impair, the right of any Investor, any Managing Agent or the Administrative Agent to assert
a claim for indemnity pursuant to Article IX of this Agreement.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the obligations of the Conduit Investors under this
Agreement are solely the corporate obligations of each such Conduit Investor and shall be payable only at such time as funds are
actually received by, or are available to, such Conduit Investor in excess of funds necessary to pay in full all outstanding Commercial
Paper issued by such Conduit Investor and, to the extent funds are not available to pay such obligations, the claims relating thereto
shall not constitute a claim against such Conduit Investor. Each party hereto agrees that the payment of any claim (as defined in
Section 101 of Title 11 of the Bankruptcy Code) of any such party shall be subordinated to the payment in full of all Commercial
Paper.

(c) No recourse under any obligation, covenant or agreement of any Conduit Investor contained in this Agreement shall be
had against any incorporator, stockholder, officer, director, member, manager, employee or agent of such Conduit Investor or any of
its Affiliates (solely by virtue of such capacity) by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable proceeding, by
virtue of any statute or otherwise; it being expressly agreed and understood that this Agreement is solely a corporate obligation of
such Conduit Investor, and that no personal liability whatever shall attach to or be incurred by any incorporator, stockholder, officer,
director, member, manager, employee or agent of any Conduit Investor or any of its Affiliates (solely by virtue of such capacity) or
any of them under or by reason of any of the obligations, covenants or agreements of such Conduit Investor contained in this
Agreement, or implied therefrom, and that any and all personal liability for breaches by any Conduit Investor of any of such
obligations, covenants or agreements, either at common law or at equity, or by statute, rule or regulation, of every such incorporator,
stockholder, officer, director, member, manager, employee or agent is hereby expressly waived as a condition of and in consideration
for the execution of this Agreement; provided that the foregoing shall not relieve any such Person from any liability it might
otherwise have as a result of fraudulent actions taken or fraudulent omissions made by them.

SECTION 11.13 USA PATRIOT Act. Each Investor and Agent that is subject to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act
(Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the “Act”) hereby notifies the SPV and the Servicer that, pursuant to
the requirements of the Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each of the SPV and the Servicer,
which information includes the name and address of each of the SPV and the Servicer and other information that will allow such
Investor or Agent to identify the SPV and the Servicer in accordance with the Act.

SECTION 11.14 SMBC Roles. Each of the Committed Investors acknowledges that SMBC acts, or may in the future act, (i)
as administrative agent or managing agent for one or more Conduit Investors or Committed Investors, (ii) as issuing and paying agent
for the Commercial Paper issued by one or more Conduit Investors, (iii) to provide credit or liquidity enhancement for the timely
payment for the Commercial Paper issued by one or more Conduit Investors and (iv) to provide other services from time to time for
one or more Conduit Investors or any Committed Investors (collectively, the “SMBC Roles”). Without limiting the generality of this
Section 11.14, each Committed Investor hereby acknowledges and consents to any and all SMBC Roles and agrees that in connection
with any SMBC



Role, SMBC may take, or refrain from taking, any action that it, in its discretion, deems appropriate, including, without limitation, in
its role as administrative agent or managing agent for one or more Conduit Investors.

SECTION 11.15    Benchmark Replacement Setting.






(a) SECTION 11.15 Benchmark Replacement Setting.Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other
Transaction Document:

(a) , upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, the Administrative Agent and the SPV may amend this
Agreement to replace the then-current Benchmark with a Benchmark Replacement. Any such amendment with respect to a On March
5, 2021, the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), the regulatory supervisor of LMIR’s and the LIBO Rate’s administrator (“IBA”),
announced in a public statement the future cessation or loss of representativeness of overnight/Spot Next, 1-month, 3-month, 6-month
and 12-month LIBO Rate and LMIR tenor settings. On the earlier of (i) the date that all Available Tenors of the LIBO Rate and
LMIR have either permanently or indefinitely ceased to be provided by IBA or have been announced by the FCA pursuant to public
statement or publication of information to be no longer representative and (ii) the Early Opt-in Effective Date, if the then-current
Benchmark is the LIBO Rate or LMIR, the Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark on such day and all subsequent
settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document. On and after the date of such replacement of the LIBO Rate with a Benchmark Replacement, the component of Base Rate
based upon the LIBO Rate will not be used in any determination of the Base Rate. If the Benchmark Replacement is Daily Simple
SOFR, all yield payments will be payable on a monthly basis.

(b) Upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current
Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Transaction Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after will
become effective at 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark
Replacement is provided to allAdministrative Agent has posted such proposed amendment to all affected Managing Agents, the SPV
and the Originator, without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such
Benchmark Replacementamendment from the Benchmark Replacement Required Investors. At any time that the administrator of the
then-current Benchmark has permanently or indefinitely ceased to provide such Benchmark or such Benchmark has been announced
by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark pursuant to public statement or publication of information to be
no longer representative of the underlying market and economic reality that such Benchmark is intended to measure and that
representativeness will not be restored, the SPV may revoke any Investment Request for a Portion of Investment with a Yield
calculated on the basis of the Alternate Rate, and any request to convert or continue any Portion of Investment with a Yield calculated
on the basis of the Alternate Rate, in each case until the SPV’s receipt of notice from the Administrative Agent that a Benchmark
Replacement has replaced such Benchmark, and, failing that, the SPV will be deemed to have converted any such request into a
request for an Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis of the Base Rate. No replacement of a Benchmark with a Benchmark
Replacement pursuant to this Section 11.15(a) will occur prior to the applicable Benchmark Transition Start Date.

(b) (c) In connection with the implementation anduse, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark
Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time
and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Transaction Document, any amendments implementing such
Benchmark



Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement
or any other Transaction Document.

(c) (d) The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the SPV, the Originator and the Managing Agents of the
implementation of any Benchmark Replacement and (ii) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes in
connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement. The Administrative Agent will
promptly notify the SPV of
(x) the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (d) of this Section 11.15 and (y) the
commencement of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the
Administrative Agent or Managing Agents pursuant to this Section 11.15, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or
adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking
any action, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent
from any other party to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to
this Section 11.15.

(d) (e) AtNotwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Transaction Document, at any time (including in
connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement),
(i) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including Term SOFR, LMIR or the LIBO Rate)and either (A) any tenor for such
Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the
Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion or (B) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has
provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is not or will not be
representative, then the Administrative Agent may remove any tenor of such Benchmark that ismodify the definition of “Rate Period”
(or any similar or analogous definition) for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-
representative for Benchmark (including Benchmark Replacement) settings and (ii) tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed
pursuant to clause (i) above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a
Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is not or will not be representative for a
Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Rate Period” (or
any similar or analogous definition) for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate any such previously removed tenor
for Benchmark (including Benchmark Replacement) settings.

(e) Upon the SPV’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, (i) the SPV may revoke
any Investment Request for a Portion of Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis of the Alternate Rate, and any request to
convert or continue any Portion of Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis of the Alternate Rate, in each case until the SPV’s
receipt of notice from the Administrative Agent that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced such Benchmark, and, failing that, the
SPV will be deemed to have converted any such request into a request for an Investment with a Yield calculated on the basis of the
Base Rate and (ii) Yield with respect to any outstanding affected Portion of Investment that had been calculated on the basis of the
Alternate Rate will be calculated on the basis of the Base Rate. During a Benchmark Unavailability Period or at any time that a tenor
for the then-current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of the Alternate Rate based upon the then-current
Benchmark will not be used in any determination of the Alternate Rate.

(f) As used in this Section 11.15, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current Benchmark, as applicable, (x) if the
then-currentsuch Benchmark is a term rate, any tenor for such



Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining the length of a Rate Period or
(y) otherwise, any payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark, as applicable, (or component thereof)
that is or may be used for determining any frequency of making payments of interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark
pursuant to this Agreement , in each case, as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such
Benchmark that is then-removed from the definition of “Rate Period” pursuant to clause (d) of this Section 11.15.

“Benchmark” means, initially, (i) with respect to an Investor Group for which Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,
SMBC, U.S. Bank National Association or Capital One, National Association is the Managing Agent, LMIR, and (ii) with respect to
any other Investor Group, the LIBO Rate; provided that if a replacement of the Benchmark has occurred pursuant to this Section
11.15, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has
replaced such prior benchmark rate. Any reference to “Benchmark” shall include, as applicable, the published component used in the
calculation thereof.

“Benchmark Replacement” means, for any Available Tenor:

(1) For the purposes of clause (a) of this Section, the first alternative set forth below that can be determined by the
Administrative Agent:

(a) the sum of: (i) Term SOFR and (ii) 0.11448% (11.448 basis points) for an Available Tenor of one-
month’s duration, 0.26161% (26.161 basis points) for an Available Tenor of three-months’ duration, and 0.42826%
(42.826 basis points) for an Available Tenor of six-months’ duration, or

(b) the sum of: (i) Daily Simple SOFR and (ii) the spread adjustment selected or recommended by the
Relevant Governmental Body for the replacement of the tenor of LMIR or the LIBO Rate with a SOFR-based rate
having approximately the same length as the yield payment period specified in clause (a) of this Section; and

(2) For the purposes of clause (b) of this Section“Benchmark Replacement” means, with respect to any
Benchmark Transition Event, the sum of: (ai) the alternate benchmark rate and (b) an adjustment (which may be a positive or
negative value or zero), in each case, that has been selected by the Administrative Agent, the Originator and the SPV as the
replacement for such Available Tenor of such Benchmark giving due consideration to (A) any selection or recommendation
of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (B)
any evolving or then-prevailing market convention, including any applicable recommendations made by the Relevant
Governmental Body, for U.S. dollar-denominated for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement to the then-current
Benchmark for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time and (ii) the related Benchmark Replacement
Adjustment;

provided that, if thesuch Benchmark Replacement as so determined pursuant to clause (1) or (2) above would be less than the
Floor, thesuch Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents.

“Benchmark Replacement Conforming ChangesAdjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the then-current
Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to
the definition of “Base Rate,” the definition of “Business Day,” the definition of “Rate Period,” timing and frequency of determining
rates and making payments of interest, timing of investment requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation



notices, the applicability and length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions, and other technical, administrative
or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such
Benchmark Replacement and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent
with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not
administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of such Benchmark
Replacement exists, in such other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in
connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents).the spread adjustment, or method for
calculating or determining such spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the
Administrative Agent and the SPV giving due consideration to (a) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or
method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable
Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body or (b) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention
for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such
Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time.

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current
Benchmark:

(c) in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event”, the later of (i) the date of the
public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the date on which the administrator of such
Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all
Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(d) in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event”, the first date on which such
Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) has been determined and announced by the
regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) to be non-representative;
provided, that such non-representativeness will be determined by reference to the most recent statement or publication
referenced in such clause (c) and even if any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) continues to
be provided on such date.

For the avoidance of doubt, the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (a) or (b) with
respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current
Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Replacement Required Investors” means, at any time, Managing Agents for those Committed Investors which
hold Commitments aggregating in excess of 50% of the Maximum Net Investment as of such date (or, if the Commitments shall have
been terminated, Managing Agents for one or more Investors whose aggregate pro rata shares of the Net Investment exceed 66.67%
of the Net Investment).

“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current
Benchmark:

(a)    a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the
published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that



such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component
thereof), permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);

“Benchmark Transition Event” means with respect to any then-current Benchmark other than LMIR or the LIBO Rate, the
occurrence of (b) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the then-current
Benchmark, thethe regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark, the Board of Governors of the (or the
published component used in the calculation thereof), the Federal Reserve SystemBoard, the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a
resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an
entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark, announcing or stating
that (a) such (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has
ceased or will cease on a specified date to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark, (or such component thereof)
permanently or indefinitely,; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark or (b) all Available Tenors of such
Benchmark are or will no longer be representative of the underlying market and economic reality that such Benchmark is
intended to measure and that representativeness will not be restored. (or such component thereof); or

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being
established by the Administrative Agent in accordance with the conventions for this rate recommended by the Relevant
Governmental Body for determining “Daily Simple SOFR” for syndicated business loans; provided, that if the Administrative Agent
decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative Agent may
establish another convention in its reasonable discretion.

(c) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or
the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or
such component thereof) are not, or as of a specified future date will not be, representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark
if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of
such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Early Opt-in EffectiveBenchmark Transition Start Date” means, with respect to any Early Opt-in Election, the sixth (6th)
Business Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Managing Agents, the SPV and the Originator, so
long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the date
notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Managing Agents, the SPV and the Originator, written notice of objection to
such Early Opt-in Election from the Benchmark Replacement Required Investors.in the case of a Benchmark Transition Event, the
earlier of (i) the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date and (ii) if such Benchmark Transition Event is a public statement or
publication of information of a prospective event, the 90th day prior to the expected date of such event as of such public statement or



publication of information (or if the expected date of such prospective event is fewer than 90 days after such statement or publication,
the date of such statement or publication).

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means, the period (if any) (a) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date
has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and
under any Transaction Document in accordance with this Section 11.15 and (b) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has
replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Transaction Document in accordance with this Section
11.15.

“Early Opt-in Election” means the occurrence of:

(1) a notification by the Administrative Agent to (or the request by the SPV to the Administrative Agent to notify)
each of the Managing Agents that at least five currently outstanding U.S. dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at
such time contain (as a result of amendment or as originally executed) a SOFR-based rate (including SOFR, a term SOFR or
any other rate based upon SOFR) as a benchmark rate (and such syndicated credit facilities are identified in such notice and
are publicly available for review), and

(2) the joint election by the Administrative Agent and the SPV to trigger a fallback from LMIR and the LIBO
Rate and the provision by the Administrative Agent of written notice of such election to the Originator and the Managing
Agents.

“Floor” means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement initially (as of the execution of this Agreement,
the modification, amendment or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to the LIBO Rate or LMIR.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto.

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark
Replacement Adjustment.

“SOFR” means a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate for such Business Day published by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate) on the website of the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org (or any successor source for the secured overnight
financing rate identified as such by the administrator of the secured overnight financing rate from time to time).

“Term SOFR” means, for the applicable corresponding tenor, the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR that has been
selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body.

SECTION 11.16 Amendment and Restatement. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 5.1,
this Agreement amends and restates the Existing Transfer and Administration Agreement in its entirety. This Agreement is not
intended to constitute a novation of any obligations under the Existing Transfer and Administration Agreement. Upon the
effectiveness of this Agreement, each reference to the Existing Transfer and Administration Agreement in any Transaction



Document or any other document, instrument or agreement executed and/or delivered in connection therewith shall mean and be a reference
to this Agreement.

SECTION 11.17    Erroneous Payments.






(a) If the Administrative Agent (x) notifies a Managing Agent or Investor, or any Person who has received funds on behalf
of a Managing Agent or Investor (any such Managing Agent or Investor or other recipient (and each of their respective successors and
assigns), a “Payment Recipient”) that the Administrative Agent has determined in its sole discretion (whether or not after receipt of
any notice under immediately succeeding clause (b)) that any funds (as set forth in such notice from the Administrative Agent)
received by such Payment Recipient from the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates were erroneously or mistakenly transmitted
to, or otherwise erroneously or mistakenly received by, such Payment Recipient (whether or not known to such Managing Agent or
Investor or other Payment Recipient on its behalf) (any such funds, whether transmitted or received as a payment, prepayment or
repayment of principal, interest, fees, distribution or otherwise, individually and collectively, an “Erroneous Payment”) and (y)
demands in writing the return of such Erroneous Payment (or a portion thereof) (provided, that, without limiting any other rights or
remedies (whether at law or in equity), the Administrative Agent may not make any such demand under this clause (a) with respect to
an Erroneous Payment unless such demand is made within 5 Business Days of the date of receipt of such Erroneous Payment by the
applicable Payment Recipient), such Erroneous Payment shall at all times remain the property of the Administrative Agent pending its
return or repayment as contemplated below in this Section 11.17 and held in trust for the benefit of the Administrative Agent, and
such Managing Agent or Investor shall (or, with respect to any Payment Recipient who received such funds on its behalf, shall cause
such Payment Recipient to) promptly, but in no event later than two Business Days thereafter (or such later date as the Administrative
Agent may, in its sole discretion, specify in writing), return to the Administrative Agent the amount of any such Erroneous Payment
(or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made, in same day funds (in the currency so received), together with interest
thereon (except to the extent waived in writing by the Administrative Agent) in respect of each day from and including the date such
Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Payment Recipient to the date such amount is repaid to the
Administrative Agent in same day funds at the greater of the Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in
accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation from time to time in effect. A notice of the Administrative Agent
to any Payment Recipient under this clause (a) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

(b) Without limiting the immediately preceding clause (a), each Managing Agent or Investor or any Person who has
received funds on behalf of a Managing Agent or Investor (and each of their respective successors and assigns), agrees that if it
receives a payment, prepayment or repayment (whether received as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees,
distribution or otherwise) from the Administrative Agent (or any of its Affiliates) (x) that is in a different amount than, or on a
different date from, that specified in this Agreement or in a notice of payment, prepayment or repayment sent by the Administrative
Agent (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such payment, prepayment or repayment, (y) that was not preceded or accompanied by
a notice of payment, prepayment or repayment sent by the Administrative Agent (or any of its Affiliates), or (z) that such Managing
Agent or Investor, or other such recipient, otherwise becomes aware was transmitted, or received, in error or by mistake (in whole or
in part), then in each such case:

(xxxv) it acknowledges and agrees that (A) in the case of immediately preceding clauses
(x) or (y), an error and mistake shall be presumed to have been made (absent written confirmation from the Administrative Agent to
the contrary) or (B) an error and mistake has been



made (in the case of immediately preceding clause (z)), in each case, with respect to such payment, prepayment or repayment; and

(xxxvi) such Managing Agent or Investor shall (and shall cause any other recipient that receives funds on its
respective behalf to) promptly (and, in all events, within two Business Days of its knowledge of the occurrence of any of the
circumstances described in immediately preceding clauses (x), (y) and (z)) notify the Administrative Agent of its receipt of
such payment, prepayment or repayment, the details thereof (in reasonable detail) and that it is so notifying the
Administrative Agent pursuant to this (b).

For the avoidance of doubt, the failure to deliver a notice to the Administrative Agent pursuant to this (b) shall not have any effect on
a Payment Recipient’s obligations pursuant to (a) or on whether or not an Erroneous Payment has been made.

(c) Each Managing Agent or Investor hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off, net and apply any and all
amounts at any time owing to such Managing Agent or Investor under any Transaction Document, or otherwise payable or
distributable by the Administrative Agent to such Managing Agent or Investor under any Transaction Document with respect to any
payment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts, against any amount that the Administrative Agent has demanded to be returned
under immediately preceding clause (a).

(d) The parties hereto agree that (x) irrespective of whether the Administrative Agent may be equitably subrogated, in the
event that an Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) is not recovered from any Payment Recipient that has received such Erroneous
Payment (or portion thereof) for any reason, the Administrative Agent shall be subrogated to all the rights and interests of such
Payment Recipient (and, in the case of any Payment Recipient who has received funds on behalf of a Managing Agent or Investor, to
the rights and interests of such Managing Agent or Investor, as the case may be) under the Transaction Documents with respect to
such amount (the “Erroneous Payment Subrogation Rights”) and (y) an Erroneous Payment shall not pay, prepay, repay, discharge or
otherwise satisfy any obligations owed by the SPV; provided that this Section 11.17 shall not be interpreted to increase (or accelerate
the due date for), or have the effect of increasing (or accelerating the due date for), the obligations of the SPV relative to the amount
(and/or timing for payment) of the Investments that would have been payable had such Erroneous Payment not been made by the
Administrative Agent; provided, further, that for the avoidance of doubt, immediately preceding clauses (x) and (y) shall not apply to
the extent any such Erroneous Payment is, and solely with respect to the amount of such Erroneous Payment that is, comprised of
funds received by the Administrative Agent from, or on behalf of (including through the exercise of remedies under any Transaction
Document), the SPV for the purpose of making a payment on the Investments.

(e) To the extent permitted by applicable law, no Payment Recipient shall assert any right or claim to an Erroneous
Payment, and hereby waives, and is deemed to waive, any claim, counterclaim, defense or right of set-off or recoupment with respect
to any demand, claim or counterclaim by the Administrative Agent for the return of any Erroneous Payment received, including,
without limitation, any defense based on “discharge for value” or any similar doctrine.

Each party’s obligations, agreements and waivers under this Section 11.17 shall survive the resignation or replacement of the
Administrative Agent, any transfer of rights or obligations by, or the replacement of, a Managing Agent or Investor, the termination of
the Commitments and/or the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all Investments (or any portion thereof) under any Transaction
Document.



[Signatures Follow]



In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date first written above.

THOROUGHBRED FUNDING, INC.,

as SPV

By:



Name:

Title:

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY,

as Originator and as Servicer

By:



Name:

Title:

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION

By:

Name:

Title:



SMBC NIKKO SECURITIES AMERICA, INC.,
as Administrative Agent and a Managing Agent By: Name:
Title:
SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION,
as a Committed Investor
By: Name:
Title:



WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Managing Agent and a Committed Investor By: Name:
Title:



CAPITAL ONE, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Managing Agent and a Committed Investor By: Name:
Title:



U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Managing Agent and a Committed Investor By: Name:
Title:



SCHEDULE I
Accounts

Schedule I-1



SCHEDULE II
Investor Groups

SMBC Investor Group

Schedule II-1



Conduit Investor: Committed Investor:



N/A
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

Commitment:    $100,000,000133,333,333.34
Managing Agent:    SMBC Nikko Securities America, Inc.

Wells Fargo Investor Group
Conduit Investor: N/A
Committed Investor: Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association Commitment: $100,000,000
Managing Agent: Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

Capital One Investor Group

Conduit Investor:    N/A
Committed Investor:     Capital One, National Association
Commitment:    $100,000,000133,333,333.33
Managing Agent:    Capital One, National Association

U.S. Bank Investor Group

Conduit Investor: Committed Investor:



N/A
U.S. Bank National Association

Commitment:    $100,000,000133,333,333.33
Managing Agent:    U.S. Bank National Association

Schedule II-1



SCHEDULE III
List of Restatement Documents

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Schedule II-1



SCHEDULE IV [RESERVED]

Schedule II-1



SCHEDULE 4.1(g)
List of Actions and Suits

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Schedule 4.1(g)-1



SCHEDULE 4.1(i)
Location of Certain Offices and Records

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Schedule 4.1(i)-1



Schedule 4.1(i)-1



SCHEDULE 4.1(j) FEIN

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Schedule 4.1(j)-1



SCHEDULE 4.1(s)
List of Blocked Account Banks and Blocked Accounts

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Schedule 4.1(s)-1



SCHEDULE 11.3
Address and Payment Information

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Schedule 11.3-10



Exhibit A

Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Exhibit A-1



Exhibit A-2



Exhibit B

Form of Contract[s]

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Exhibit B-1



Exhibit C

Credit and Collection Policies and Practices

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Exhibit C-1



Exhibit D

Form of Investment Request

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Exhibit D-1



Exhibit E

Form of Blocked Account Agreement

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Exhibit E-1



Exhibit F

Form of Servicer Report

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Exhibit F-1



Exhibit G

Form of Commitment Termination Date Extension Request

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]

Exhibit G-8



Exhibit 10.2
EXECUTION VERSION

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED TRANSFER AND ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED TRANSFER AND ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT (this
“Amendment”), dated as of June 30, 2022, is by and among THOROUGHBRED FUNDING, INC., a Virginia corporation (the “SPV”),
NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY, a Virginia corporation, as originator (in such capacity, the “Originator”) and as servicer
(in such capacity, the “Servicer”), NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION, a Virginia corporation (“NSC”), the “Committed
Investors” party hereto, the “Managing Agents” party hereto, and SMBC NIKKO SECURITIES AMERICA, INC. (“SMBC”), as the
Administrative Agent for the Investors. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning given to such
terms in the Transfer and Administration Agreement (defined below).

WHEREAS, the SPV, the Servicer, NSC, the Conduit Investors, the Committed Investors, the Managing Agents and the
Administrative Agent are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of May 28, 2021 (as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified as of the date hereof, the “Transfer and Administration Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the parties to the Transfer and Administration Agreement have agreed to amend the Transfer and Administration
Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Section 1. Amendment to the Transfer and Administration Agreement. Effective as of the date first written above and subject to
the execution of this Amendment by the parties hereto, the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

1.1. Clause (d) of the definition of “Affected Assets” appearing in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration
Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(d) each lock box and Blocked Account and the Alternative Currency Account,”

1.2. The definition of “Blocked Account” appearing in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is
hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“’Blocked Account’ means an account maintained by the Servicer or the SPV at a Blocked Account Bank for the purpose of
receiving Collections, set forth in Schedule 4.1(s) or any account added as a Blocked Account pursuant to and in accordance with
Section 4.1(s) or Section 6.1(h)(ii) and which, if not maintained at and in the name of the Administrative Agent, is subject to a
Blocked Account Agreement.”

1.3. The definition of “Blocked Account Bank” appearing in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement
is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“’Blocked Account Bank’ means each of the banks set forth in Schedule 4.1(s), as such Schedule 4.1(s) may be modified
pursuant to Section 4.1(s) or Section 6.1(h)(ii).”

1.4. Clause (g) of the definition of “Eligible Receivables” appearing in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration
Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:
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“(g)     the Obligor of which has been directed to make all payments in respect of such Receivable to a Blocked Account or,
in the case of a Variable Currency Receivable, to a Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account;”

1.5. Clause (j) of the definition of “Eligible Receivables” appearing in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration
Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(j)    which, unless such Receivable is a Variable Currency Receivable, is denominated and payable only in Dollars in the
United States and if such Receivable is a Variable Currency Receivable, is denominated and payable only in Dollars in the United
States or in Canadian Dollars in Canada, at the option of the related Obligor;”

1.6. Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended to add the following new definitions in
appropriate alphabetical order therein:

“‘Alternative Currency Account’ means an account set forth on Schedule 4.1(s) hereto maintained by the Servicer or the
SPV at the bank specified on Schedule 4.1(s) for the purpose of receiving Collections in respect of Variable Currency Receivables.”

“‘Variable Currency Receivable’ means a Receivable which is payable, at the option of the Obligor, in Dollars in the United
States or in Canadian Dollars in Canada.”

“‘Variable Currency Receivable Ratio’ means, for any calendar month, the ratio (expressed as a percentage) computed as of
the last day of such calendar month by dividing (a) the aggregate Unpaid Balances of all Variable Currency Receivables as of such day, by
(b) the aggregate Unpaid Balances of all Receivables as of such day.’”

1.7. Clause (s) of Section 4.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety to read as follows:

“(s)         Blocked Accounts; Alternative Currency Account. The names and addresses of all the Blocked Account Banks,
together with the account numbers of the Blocked Accounts at such Blocked Account Banks, are specified in Schedule 4.1(s) (or at
such other Blocked Account Banks and/or with such other Blocked Accounts as have been notified to the Administrative Agent and
for which Blocked Account Agreements have been executed in accordance with Section 7.3 and delivered to the Servicer). All
Blocked Accounts are subject to Blocked Account Agreements. The names and addresses of the bank at which the Alternative
Currency Account is maintained, together with the account number of the Alternative Currency Account, are specified in Schedule
4.1(s). All Obligors have been instructed to make payment to a Blocked Account or, in the case of a Variable Currency Receivable, to
a Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account, and only Collections are deposited into the Blocked Accounts and the
Alternative Currency Account.”

1.8. Clause (h) of Section 6.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety to read as follows:

“(h)    Collections.

(i)    Except as expressly provided in clause (ii) below, each of the SPV and the Servicer shall instruct all Obligors to
cause all Collections to be deposited directly to a Blocked Account or to post office boxes to which only Blocked Account
Banks have access and shall cause all items and amounts relating to such Collections received in such post office boxes to be
removed and deposited into a Blocked Account on a daily basis.

(ii)       Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall instruct all Obligors in respect of Variable Currency Receivables to
cause all Collections thereon to be deposited directly to
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a Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account. If as of any date the average for three (3) consecutive calendar
months of the Variable Currency Receivable Ratio exceeds 3.50%, then each of the SPV and the Servicer shall within sixty
(60) days execute a Blocked Account Agreement in accordance with Section 7.3 in respect of the Alternative Currency
Account (and such account shall thereafter constitute a Blocked Account for all purposes of this Agreement and Schedule
4.1(s) shall be modified to reflect such Blocked Account), or take such other action with respect to the Alternative Currency
Account as each of the Managing Agents consent to in writing.”

1.9. Clause (i) of Section 6.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety
to read as follows:

    “(i)    Collections Received. Each of the SPV and the Servicer shall hold in trust, and deposit, immediately, but in any event not
later than forty-eight (48) hours after its receipt thereof, to a Blocked Account or, in the case of Collections in respect of a Variable
Currency Receivable, to the Alternative Currency Account, all Collections received by it from time to time.”

1.10. Clause (j) of Section 6.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety
to read as follows:

“(j)         Blocked Accounts. Each Blocked Account and, if required under clause (ii) of Section 6.1(h), the Alternative
Currency Account shall at all times be subject to a Blocked Account Agreement.”

1.11. Clause (e) of Section 6.2 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended to add the following new
sentence at the end thereof:

“Neither the SPV nor the Servicer shall add or terminate any account as the Alternative Currency Account to or from the
account listed in Schedule 4.1(s) or make any change in its instructions to Obligors in respect of Variable Currency Receivables
regarding payments to be made to the Alternative Currency Account, unless such instructions are to deposit such payments to another
existing Alternative Currency Account or a Blocked Account.”

1.12. Clause (f) of Section 6.2 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety to read as follows:

“(f)    Deposits to Blocked Accounts. Neither the SPV nor the Servicer shall deposit or otherwise credit, or cause or permit to
be so deposited or credited, to any Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account cash or cash proceeds other than
Collections and any amounts relating to Excluded Receivables and such other de minimis amounts as may from time to time be
erroneously deposited therein.”

1.13. Clause (l) of the second sentence of Section 9.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended
and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(l)    the commingling by the SPV of Collections of Receivables at any time with any other funds or any Collections being
deposited in any account (including the Alternative Currency Account that is not subject to a valid, binding and enforceable Blocked
Account Agreement);”

1.14. Schedule 4.1(s) of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as set
forth on Annex I hereto and the list of Schedules appearing after the Table of Contents to the Transfer and Administration Agreement is
amended to refer to Schedule 4.1(s) as:

“List of Blocked Account Banks and Blocked Accounts; Alternative Currency Account”
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Section 2. Amendment to the Sale Agreement. Effective as of the date first written above and subject to the execution of this
Amendment by the parties hereto, each of the Administrative Agent and the Managing Agents consent to the SPV and the Originator
executing that certain Amendment No. 2 to the Sale Agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Annex II and to the amendment
of the Sale Agreement, pursuant to such Amendment No. 2.

Section 3. Representations and Warranties.

1.15. (a)    Each of the SPV and the Originator hereby represents and warrants that:

(i) This Amendment and the Transfer and Administration Agreement, as amended hereby constitute legal, valid and binding
obligations of such parties and are enforceable against such parties in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent that
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement
of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles.

(ii) Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment and after giving effect hereto, the covenants, representations and warranties of each
such party, respectively, set forth in Articles IV and VI of the Transfer and Administration Agreement, as applicable, and as amended
hereby, are true, complete and correct, in the case of such representations and warranties qualified by materiality, in all respects, and
otherwise in all material respects on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent that
such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date in which case such representations and warranties that expressly relate to
an earlier date are true, correct and complete, in the case of such representations and warranties qualified by materiality, in all
respects, and otherwise in all material respects, as of such earlier date).

(a) The SPV hereby represents and warrants that, upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, no event or
circumstance has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Termination Event or a Potential Termination Event.

Section 4. Reference to and Effect on the Transfer and Administration Agreement.

1.1. Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, on and after the date hereof, each reference in the Transfer and
Administration Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein” or words of like import shall mean and be a reference to the
Transfer and Administration Agreement and its amendments, as amended hereby.

1.2. The Transfer and Administration Agreement, as amended hereby, and all other amendments, documents, instruments
and agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith, shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby ratified and
confirmed.

1.3. Except as expressly provided herein, the execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate
as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Conduit Investors, the Committed Investors, the Managing Agents or the Administrative
Agent, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Transfer and Administration Agreement, any other Transaction Document or any other
documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith.

Section 5. CHOICE OF LAW.         THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAW
PRINCIPLES THEREOF OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).

Section 6. Execution of Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties
hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same
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agreement. Delivery by facsimile or electronic mail (in .pdf or .tif format) of an executed signature page of this Amendment shall be effective
as delivery of an executed counterpart hereof.

Section 7. Headings. Section headings in this Amendment are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not
constitute a part of this Amendment for any other purpose.

[Signature pages follow.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Amendment as of the date first written above.

THOROUGHBRED FUNDING, INC.,
as SPV

By: /s/ Christopher R. Neikirk             
Name:    Christopher R. Neikirk
Title: Chairman and President    

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY,
as Originator and as Servicer

By: /s/ Christopher R. Neikirk             
Name:    Christopher R. Neikirk
Title: Vice President and Treasurer    

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION

By: /s/ Christopher R. Neikirk            
Name:    Christopher R. Neikirk
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

Signature Page to Amendment No. 2 to
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SMBC NIKKO SECURITIES AMERICA, INC.,
as Administrative Agent and a Managing Agent

By: /s/ Yukimi Konno                
Name: Yukimi Konno
Title: Managing Director

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION,
as a Committed Investor

By: /s/ Minxiao Tian                 
Name: Minxiao Tian
Title: Director

Signature Page to Amendment No. 2 to
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CAPITAL ONE, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Managing Agent and a Committed Investor

By: /s/ Julianne Low                
Name: Julianne Low
Title: Senior Director
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U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as a Managing Agent and a Committed Investor

By: /s/ Jeffrey K. Fricano            
Name: Jeffrey K. Fricano
Title: SVP

Signature Page to Amendment No. 2 to
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ANNEX I

SCHEDULE 4.1(s) 

List of Blocked Account Banks and Blocked Accounts; Alternative Currency Account

[To be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.]
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ANNEX II

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO SALE AGREEMENT
(ATTACHED)
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AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO
SALE AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO SALE AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), dated as of June 30, 2022, is by and between
THOROUGHBRED FUNDING, INC., a Virginia corporation (the “SPV”) and Norfolk Southern Railway Company, a Virginia
corporation, as originator (in such capacity, the “Originator”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meaning given to such terms in the Sale Agreement (defined below).

WHEREAS, the SPV and the Originator are parties to that certain Sale Agreement dated as of November 8, 2007 (as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified as of the date hereof, the “Sale Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the parties to the Sale Agreement have agreed to amend the Sale Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth
herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the terms and conditions contained herein, and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Section 1. Amendment to the Sale Agreement. Effective as of the date first written above and subject to the execution of this
Amendment by the parties hereto, the Sale Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

1.1. Clause (m) of Section 5.2 of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(m)        Blocked Accounts; Alternative Currency Account. The names and addresses of all the Blocked Account Banks,
together with the account numbers of the Blocked Accounts at such Blocked Account Banks, are specified in Schedule II (or at such
other Blocked Account Banks and/or with such other Blocked Accounts as have been notified to the SPV and the Administrative
Agent and for which Blocked Account Agreements have been executed in accordance with Section 6.3(g) and delivered to the
Originator). All Blocked Accounts are subject to Blocked Account Agreements. The names and addresses of the bank at which the
Alternative Currency Account is maintained, together with the account number of the Alternative Currency Account, are specified in
Schedule II. All Obligors have been instructed to make payment to a Blocked Account or, in the case of a Variable Currency
Receivable, to a Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account, and only Collections are deposited into the Blocked
Accounts and the Alternative Currency Account. The Originator has not granted any Person, other than the SPV as contemplated by
this Agreement, dominion and control of any Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account, or the right to take dominion
and control of any such Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account at a future time or upon the occurrence of a future
event.”

1.2. Clause (h) of Section 6.2 of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(h)    Collections.

(i)        Except as expressly provided in clause (ii) below, the Originator shall instruct all Obligors to cause all
Collections to be deposited directly to a Blocked Account or to post office boxes to which only Blocked Account Banks have
access and shall cause all items and amounts relating to such Collections received in such post office boxes to be removed
and deposited into a Blocked Account on a daily basis. In the event any payments relating to Receivables are remitted
directly to the Originator or any Affiliate of the Originator, the Originator will remit (or will cause all such payments to be
remitted) directly to a Blocked Account Bank for deposit into a Blocked Account within
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one (1) Business Day following receipt thereof and, at all times prior to such remittance, the Originator will itself hold or, if
applicable, will cause such payments to be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the SPV and its assigns. The Originator
will transfer exclusive ownership, dominion and control of each Blocked Account to the SPV. The Originator will not grant
the right to take dominion and control of any Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account at a future time or upon
the occurrence of a future event to any Person, except to the SPV (or its assigns) as contemplated by this Agreement and the
Second Tier Agreement.

(ii)    The Originator shall instruct all Obligors in respect of Variable Currency Receivables to cause all Collections
thereon to be deposited directly to a Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account. If as of any date the average for
three (3) consecutive calendar months of the Variable Currency Receivable Ratio exceeds 3.50%, then upon the execution of
a Blocked Account Agreement in accordance with Section 7.3 of the Purchase Agreement in respect of the Alternative
Currency Account, such account shall thereafter constitute a Blocked Account for all purposes of this Agreement and
Schedule II shall be modified to reflect such Blocked Account, and the Originator shall take such other action with respect to
the Alternative Currency Account as each of the Managing Agents consent to in writing.”

1.3. Clause (i) of Section 6.2 of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(i)         Blocked Accounts. Each Blocked Account and, if required under clause (ii) of Section 6.2(h), the Alternative
Currency Account shall at all times be subject to a Blocked Account Agreement.”

1.4. Clause (e) of Section 6.3 of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended to add the following new sentence at the end
thereof:

“The Originator shall not add or terminate any account as the Alternative Currency Account to or from the account listed in
Schedule II or make any change in its instructions to Obligors in respect of Variable Currency Receivables regarding payments to be
made to the Alternative Currency Account, unless such instructions are to deposit such payments to another existing Alternative
Currency Account or a Blocked Account.”

1.5. Clause (f) of Section 6.3 of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(f)        Deposits to Blocked Accounts. The Originator shall not deposit or otherwise credit, or cause or permit to be so
deposited or credited, to any Blocked Account or the Alternative Currency Account cash or cash proceeds other than Collections and
any amounts relating to Excluded Receivables and such other de minimis amounts as may from time to time be erroneously
deposited therein.”

1.6. Clause (m) of the second sentence of Section 8.1 of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety to read as follows:

“(i)    the commingling by the Originator of Collections of Receivables at any time with any other funds or any Collections
being deposited in any account (including the Alternative Currency Account that is not subject to a valid, binding and enforceable
Blocked Account Agreement);”

1.7. Schedule II of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on Annex I hereto and
the list of Schedules appearing after the Table of Contents to the Sale Agreement is amended to refer to Schedule II as:

“List of Blocked Account Banks and Blocked Accounts; Alternative Currency Account”
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Section 2. Representations and Warranties.

1.8. (a)    Each of the SPV and the Originator hereby represents and warrants that:

(i) This Amendment and the Sale Agreement, as amended hereby constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such parties and
are enforceable against such parties in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be limited
by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally
and by general equitable principles.

(ii) Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment and after giving effect hereto, the covenants, representations and warranties of each
such party, respectively, set forth in Articles V and VI of the Sale Agreement, as applicable, and as amended hereby, are true,
complete and correct, in the case of such representations and warranties qualified by materiality, in all respects, and otherwise in all
material respects on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent that such
representations and warranties relate to an earlier date in which case such representations and warranties that expressly relate to an
earlier date are true, correct and complete, in the case of such representations and warranties qualified by materiality, in all respects,
and otherwise in all material respects, as of such earlier date).

(1) The SPV hereby represents and warrants that, upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, no event or
circumstance has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Termination Event or a Potential Termination Event.

Section 3. Reference to and Effect on the Sale Agreement.

1.1. Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, on and after the date hereof, each reference in the Sale Agreement to
“this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein” or words of like import shall mean and be a reference to the Sale Agreement and its
amendments, as amended hereby.

1.2. The Sale Agreement, as amended hereby, and all other amendments, documents, instruments and agreements
executed and/or delivered in connection therewith, shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

1.3. Except as expressly provided herein, the execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate
as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Conduit Investors, the Committed Investors, the Managing Agents or the Administrative
Agent, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Sale Agreement, any other Transaction Document or any other documents, instruments
and agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith.

Section 4. CHOICE OF LAW.         THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAW
PRINCIPLES THEREOF OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).

Section 5. Execution of Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties
hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery by facsimile or electronic mail (in .pdf or .tif format) of an executed signature page of this
Amendment shall be effective as delivery of an executed counterpart hereof.

Section 6. Headings. Section headings in this Amendment are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not
constitute a part of this Amendment for any other purpose.

[Signature pages follow.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Amendment as of the date first written above.

THOROUGHBRED FUNDING, INC.,
as SPV

By: /s/ Christopher R. Neikirk             
Name:    Christopher R. Neikirk
Title: Chairman and President    

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY,
as Originator

By: /s/ Christopher R. Neikirk             
Name:    Christopher R. Neikirk
Title: Vice President and Treasurer    

Signature Page to Amendment No. 2 to
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Exhibit 31-A

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Alan H. Shaw, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Norfolk Southern Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: October 26, 2022 
/s/ Alan H. Shaw

Alan H. Shaw
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31-B

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Mark R. George, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Norfolk Southern Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: October 26, 2022 
/s/ Mark R. George

Mark R. George
Executive Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS OF CEO AND CFO REQUIRED BY RULE 13a-14(b) OR RULE
15d-14(b) AND SECTION 1350 OF CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18 OF THE U.S. CODE

I certify, to the best of my knowledge, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2022, of Norfolk Southern
Corporation fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information
contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Norfolk Southern
Corporation.

Signed: /s/ Alan H. Shaw
Alan H. Shaw
President and Chief Executive Officer
Norfolk Southern Corporation

Dated: October 26, 2022

I certify, to the best of my knowledge, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2022, of Norfolk Southern
Corporation fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information
contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Norfolk Southern
Corporation.

Signed: /s/ Mark R. George
Mark R. George
Executive Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Norfolk Southern Corporation

Dated: October 26, 2022


